PREFACE

The Senate Committee on Labor, Education, and Public Welfare was a catchal committee which
handled legidation on hedth, education, |abor, veterans affairs, juvenile deinquency, problems of the
aging, and sundry other subjects. For many years the Senate's conservative "Inner Club” looked upon
the committee as a convenient place to assign and isolate their more libera colleagues. The committee
labored long each session only to seeits handiwork stalled on the Senate floor or blocked in the House
of Representatives. Y et, under the effective chairmanship of Lister Hill, and his successors Ralph

Y arborough and Harrison Williams, the Labor Committee produced a series of landmark socia
legidation, much of which was enacted during the heyday of Lyndon Johnson's Greet Society.

Sewart E. McClure served as the committeg's chief clerk during this turning point era, from 1955 to
1969, and from 1971 to 1973. In these ord history interviews he recounts the committeg's frustrations
and its triumphs, and recdls its most sgnificant members, such as Wayne Morse, John Kennedy,
Joseph Clark, Jacob Javits, Barry Goldwater, and Everett Dirksen. As chief clerk he attended and took
minutes for al executive sessions, scheduled hearings, oversaw the staff, asssted the chairman, drafted
gpeeches, and served as an "idea man." One of hisideas was to link education to defense in the wake
of the Soviet Sputnik scare, a proposal which resulted in the National Defense Education Act. McClure
discusses both legidation

and the legidative process, and the senators and staff who shaped American lawvmaking from the 1950s
to the 1970s. He dso gives candid assessments of the internd politics and stresses of committee life
during those years.

Born in Omaha, Nebraska on March 11, 1913, Stewart McClure atended Amherst and graduated
from Columbia College and the Columbia School of Journdism. During World War |1 he served in the
Army Air Corpsin Britain, France, Belgium, and Germany. After the war he worked for the American
League for a Free Pdesting, the International Rescue Committee, and the Nationa Committee for an
Effective Congress. In 1949 he joined the staff of Senator Guy Gillette as adminidirative ass stant.
When Senator Gillette was defeated for redection in 1954, McClure became chief clerk of the Labor
Committee, at the time Ligter Hill assumed the chairmanship. McClure remained with the Labor
Committee until Senator Hill retired in 1968. After two years as a professona staff member of the
Public Works Committee, McClure returned once more to the Labor Committee as chief clerk from
1971 until his retirement from the Senate in 1973.

"l regret to see Stewart McClure retire,” former Senator Lister Hill wrote on that occasion. "He has
been such afine and able public servant. In fact, in dl my forty-six yearsin the House and Senate |
never knew afiner one. Heis so able and could aways write a splendid report on legidation, and he
was a beautiful speech writer. He was not only a man of greet ability but one of dedication and
integrity."
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ON THE STAFF OF GUY GILLETTE
Interview #
Wednesday, December 8, 1982

RITCHIE: | know you were born in Omaha, Nebraska. | was wondering if you could tell me alittle
about your background and some of your early education.

McCLURE: Yes, briefly--that isn't what you're redly interested in.

RITCHIE: Wdl, wed like to know about your development, up to the days when you started
working for the Senate.

McCLURE: All right. | was born on March 11, 1913 in Omaha, Nebraska. My father was the cashier
of the United States National Bank, and later rose to be a vice president. My mother was a graduate of
Wedledey, thefirgt girl admitted to that great college from west of the Missssppi, in 1904. In fact, she
was quite well prepared, but not well enough. She had to take ayear's prep school to be admitted. But
then she flew through with flying colors, and married my father in 1912. | wasthe first issue. My sdter,
Jane, was born four years later. So, | grew up in Omaha and went to public schools and to the public
high school, Omaha Central High Schoal, which was an extremely good school and il israted among
the top fifty in the country. Good faculty, an intdligently run school, and

page 1

very good for college preparatory work. | had four years of Latin, and four years of math, three or four
years of higtory, some French and Spanish, and biology, chemistry, and physics--it was a powerful
dose, but it admitted me to Amherst College without any College Board or any other form of tests.

RITCHIE: | noticed that you went to Amherst and | was going to ask you what it was that drew you
there.

McCLURE: Well, my mother had developed a great respect for it when she was going to Welledey,
and we knew afew graduates of Amhergt living in Omaha. We were thinking of asmdl college, and a
good one. God knows that it was good, and hard. Most of the guys were trained in prep schools,
Groton, Exeter, Deerfidd, and others. | came up against some pretty stiff competition. | mean, they
could speak French, | could just read it. There was that differencein type of training. So | spent two
and a hdf years there and ran out of money in early 1934. My father's hedth gave out and he was
retired from the bank with no pension or anything. In those days bankers were a ruthless band of
cutthroats. They spent their time foreclosing mortgages of farmers, mainly in lowa and Nebraska. Well,
our income dropped to nothing, practicaly, so | couldn't go on. It wasn't as expensive as today, but it

Senate Historical Ofice Oral History Project
www. senat e. gov/ hi story



was more than we could afford.
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| worked ayear in New York, in Macy's and as arunner for the Bankers Trust on Wall Street. Thenin
January 1934, | received atelegram from lawyersin Milwaukee saying that my last great aunt on my
father's side had died, that | was the residuary legatee, and would | please acknowledge the wire and
they would send me a check for four thousand dollars. This was 1934! That was alot of money. Even
today it's not to be sneezed a. So | marched into my bossin the bank and showed him the telegram. |
sad, "I'm going to catch the next subway to Columbia Universty, if youll give me the afternoon off.” He
sad, "Oh, go right ahead.” | went up and enrolled in Kings College, now called Columbia College, from
which | graduated in due coursein 1936. Wdll, on the campus was the School of Journalism. A friend
of mine from Amherst, who was by then ayear ahead of me, had gone there and | had met the people
and the professors and said, "Why not?' So | applied to the School of Journdism and managed to get a
scholarship that paid the tuition. With my “millions’ in the bank | wasn't under too greet a stress  the
time. In 1937 | graduated with the magnificent degree of aMaster of Science in Journalism. How
preposterous!

RITCHIE: Did they ever explain what the science of journdism was?

McCLURE: It'sthe most unscientific activity known to man. Then, after that, of course it wasthe
middle of the 1937
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recesson. | wrote dl of the newspapers in the country and most of the magazines and never even got
answers. There were no jobs. In fact, | never worked on a newspaper. | worked around the edgesin
public relations and press-release writing and dl that stuff, but | never worked on a paper.

RITCHIE: Did you have any particular aspirations for journaism?

McCLURE: Wel, yes, | was early on convinced that | would be awriter of some sort. My high
school English teacher thought | had some talent. My mother was sure | had. | did well with words, and
| thought this was a possibility. Sure, | had a desire to be ajournaist, a newspaperman, but | never
satidfied it. Then in the '30sin New Y ork--which was a fun place to live, God knows--there were
thousands of us poor kids from the West and Middle West. It was sort of afrontier for young peoplein
those days. Y ou couldn't find ajob in Omaha of any kind, but there were jobsin New York, if not in
the newspaper business.
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| thrashed around in various jobs. One of the early ones was as a cruise director on aship, the Oriente
that sailed from New Y ork to Havana and back every week. Well, that was a cushy job, of course, lots
of fun. | had everything paid for, plusasmdl sdary. | did that off and on, and with other companies, for
about two years, until | redized that staying at sea was aform of
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addiction and one would never amount to anything--having alot of fun on board and on shore--but it
wasn't redly any career, certainly not as a cruise director. So | went to work for Prentice-Hall, which
was a that time a smdl publishing house mainly in tax publications, but they had atrade book section,
too. | did proof-reading and editing and saes.

Then | fel in love and decided | needed more money than $17.00 aweek. | went to work for an
insurance company, adreadful job, the Home Insurance Company down on Johns Street. But | got
$25.00 aweek there. | was being trained to be a specid agent. | didn't know exactly what that was,
but | spent nine months learning the insurance business. Hated it al. Learned it unwillingly. Then | was
shipped after graduation to Philadelphia, and learned that the specid agent, & least in that company,
was the guy who kept the brokers happy so they'd throw the business to the company, which meant
three martini lunches and golf. Well, | didn't mind the martinis, but | hated golf--I couldn't play it
anyway. A month of that, and | decided "thisisworse than being on a ship! I'm a adead end forever
herel”

Another break, a smdl inheritance, just enough to release me from there. | fled south and spent about
sgx months in Cuba on a bicycle with the hope of writing atravel book about the interior, which nobody
ever sees, and it's beautiful. | came back from that with tons of notes, and | was immediately diverted.
A friend of mine
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was the daughter of one of the mistresses of Bernard Baruch. She used to see Barauch from timeto
time. Shewas avery good looking girl, an actress, and he had her serving more or less as his hogtess.
So she would meet al these great people at dinner, senators and theater people, and so-forth. He was
looking around for a secretary, a male amanuens's, assstant, and somebody who could write. She
proposed me, and | had awonderful summer with Bernard Baruch. But we didnt hit it off.

RITCHIE: Thiswasthe summer of 1939?

McCLURE: The summer of '40. Thefdl of France had just occurred, and | remember Baruch saying:
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"They'll not leave those Frenchmen the eyes with which to weep!" He had some English nobility
refugees staying with him in his Fifth Avenue house. | did work with him on a paper which appeared in
the Y ae Review on mobilization. Y ou may recdl he was the head of the War Industries Board in
World War | and he very much wanted to be named by [Franklin] Roosevet to do the job in World
War |1, when it came. He never did, of course. Roosevelt was very leery of Bernard Baruch who was,
after dl, the principa agent of American finance capitalism. That'srealy what he was. Well, | learned a
lot from him. Then abright young man from Harvard, who was smarter than |, had written histhesison
"Bernard Baruch and the War Industries Board.” Well, | hadn't
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written that, so | was et out, and the smart young guy got the job. | didn't regret it.
RITCHIE: Have you read the new biography that's out now?
McCLURE: No, | havent.

RITCHIE: The Speculator.

McCLURE: Wdl, he was an extremdy interesting man, adle financier. He had alot of qudities.
Arrogant, of course, and self-centered, and so-forth. But anyway, | had this three month stint, which
was fun. Then he thought, Since he was getting rid of me, that he might find me ajob. He caled up
Henry Luce. Wdll, Luce had just started a committee called something for Democracy, which seemed
to me an unlikely committee for Mr. Luce to be running, but anyway, | checked in with them. | couldn't
see mysdf functioning with that crowd. They were being put in there by business people to run a
propaganda thing to cook usinto the war. | wasn't opposed to that, but | didn't want to work for those

people.

By good fortune, one evening | was going to the Tavern-on-the-Green with the young lady who had
introduced me to Baruch. We stopped at Columbus Circle, which in those days was the Hyde Park
Corner of New York. You had to have aladder, aflag, and a permit, and they you got up and said
whatever you wanted, anything: Fascists, Communists, Trogikyites, Socidists, anything, snake-oll
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sdesmen. There were congtant fights among the cliques that gathered around these ladders. Well, we
were getting pretty fed up with dl of this, when we heard a guy talking about the Bill of Rights of the
Condtitution. He was the only man in the whole place who was defending anything about the United
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States. So we listened to him, and he was lucid, and made a good speech.

When he climbed on down | said: "Who are you? Where do you come from?' He sad: "I'm a speaker
for the New Y ork City Coordinating Committee for Democratic Action.” | had never heard of that.
Then Jane said, "Wdl, why don't you find out more about it, Mac? Maybe there's something you can
do there. Democratic action, that sounds good,” So | said, "Where's your office?' He said, "It's on 43rd
and Fifth Avenue. Go seethe director of it, his nameis Maurice Rosenblatt.” | said, "All right, | will."
That was a Saturday. So the next Monday | drifted in there. | don't think Maurice was too confident of
me, at first. Here was this rather well-dressed guy who had this funny background, cruise director, and
Baruch, and Amherst, and al sorts of things. But he checked me out and took me on for very little
money as aresearch man.

This outfit had been created by about twenty-five neighborhood groups, which in turn had been

gimulated into action by the Christian Front. This was a proto-fascist organization directed by Father
Coughlin. They were anti-Semitic and pro-Nazi, and were
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brutal and vicious. Their job wasto try to bring about akind of pogrom in New Y ork City, to take the
streets away from the Jews, to control the streets, in fact. So these loca groups had sprung up and
were trying to combat this, at least to the extent of having a counter-speaker across the street or nearby
or the next night. We proceeded to work there until the war.

We put out a newdetter covering this peculiar street activity that the newspapers redly weren't paying
any attention to. And the police had been pretty badly infiltrated. These mostly were Irish-Cathalics.
Hated Britain basicdly. They were redly more anti-British than pro-Hitler, but the two came together
as the war proceeded. The police wouldn't do anything, and [Mayor Fiordllo] LaGuardia couldn't seem
to control his own policein this repect. It was avicious business. Each month the rdlies got bigger.
Finaly they took over Madison Square Garden one night. They blended into the America First
movement. They were the shock troops, redlly. | don't think the people running America First knew
who their troops were. They were abunch of filthy thugs.

Wéll, in due course | was drafted, and Maurice was, too, and that broke up the committee. We met
agan after the war. | returned from France with a French wife and two adopted children, looking for a
job, of course. Ran into Maurice; he had ajob with an outfit called the American League for a Free
Pdestine. Now thiswas an
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American organization answering to the Hebrew Committee for Nationd Liberation, which, without
getting into the interna complexities of Zionism, was an off-shoot of the Revisonist Zionist group. They
had a different view of what ahome in Isradl, or Palestine, should be from that of the officid Zionidts.
They were much more activigts, and they in effect were connected with the Irgun Zva Leumi, the
socdled terrorist group of which the current prime minister of 1srael [Menachem Begin] was the heed. |
never met him. We were raising money, which would be shipped off to Europe, probably to buy arms,
presumably to buy bandages and so-forth. It was a very exciting job.

| was the sort of public relations person, did pamphlets and speeches, including speeches for the
honorary president, whose name was Guy M. Gillette, former senator from lowa who'd been defeated
in 1944 by Bourke Hickenlooper. Well, | didn't meet Gillette at the time, but | did alot of speech work
for him. So Israel became a country and the American League disbanded. | took ajob with the
International Rescue Committee for Sx months or so. Same kind of thing, fund-raising and letter writing
and publicity.

But before that, after the closing of the American League, Maurice and | and a man named Harry Louis
Selden, who had put alot of money in the American League, decided that there were a number of men
who were running for office who were good people and had helped the cause during the struggle for
|sradl's establishment.
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[Harry] Truman was going to lose, we knew that, [ Thomas E.] Dewey was going to be president, and
we had to have some strength in the Senate at least to hold back the tides of evil and reaction. So we
cooked up acommittee called the National Committee for an Effective Congress, which till exists. We
didn't have much time; we got it set up in August; the dection was in November. We managed to get
James Roosevdt as chairman. Elliot Roosavelt helped pull some other people together.

We decided--there was an organizing committee--to support Guy Gillette, raise money for him, Paul
Douglas, who was a professor at Chicago and was running for the Senate, Hubert Humphrey, who was
then mayor of Minnegpalis, Estes Kefauver, who was in the House and running for the Senate, Jm
Murray in Montana, who was running again for the Senate, and lastly Matthew Nedy in West Virginia
All of these people if they were in the Congress had been hel pful to the cause of afree Paedtine or
Israel, and those who weren't members of Congress had been supportive in other ways, such as
Humphrey and Douglas. Well, they dl won, and so did Truman, of course. The grestest night of the
politica higtory of this century, | think, the eection night of '48. We stayed up dl night. Every one of our
candidates came in. Wed been able to raise about $50 or $60 thousand in two months; in those days
that was ahell of alot of money. Wed spent alot raising it, too. We had to, we didn't have time for
careful malings. We sent telegramd
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RITCHIE: Did you ever get any money from Baruch?

McCLURE: Didn't even ask him, I'm sure. No. No, you see, we used the American League listsand
liberd ligts of various sorts that we got a hold of. The National Committee for an Effective Congress
was not dishanded, it just went into mothballs 'til the next eection. But we'd seen what it could do, and
with greater planning and more organization and stability and so-forth we could maybe become a
permanent force or eement in the politica picture.

WEél, | never had a chance to see that happen, because come May 14, 1949, Maurice called from
Washington and said, "I'm down here and I've just been talking with Guy Gillette. It seems that when he
was out of office between 1944 and 1948 Congress had passed a new Legidative Reorganization Act
and created ajob caled an adminigrative assstant. Each senator is entitled to one. Well, Gillette
doesn't know what to do with one, he's never needed one; he has a good executive secretary and a
smal gaff. "But,” Maurice said, "I've persuaded him he needs an idea man, and held like to talk to you
about it." | thought, Jesus, | mean, redly Don, it was unbelievable.

| had been in Washington once before and had been in a Senate office once before, in fact it was the

office of Senator [Warren] Magnuson, | now recal, and had met his adminigtrative assstant, a chap
named Bill Golden, who preceded Mr. [Featherstone] Reid by some
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years| think. | had come out of there thinking "God, that guy must have the best job in the world.”
Beautiful big office. Nationd issues, internationd issues, legidation, public matters. None of this
commercid profit-making business. This, | thought, must be the grestest place to work in the world.

Here | was, May 15, 1949, in the office of Guy Gillette, which was just above the office that Magnuson
had, 229 in the Russll Building, the Old Senate Office Building. Crystd chandelier, marble fireplace, a
desk that seemed eight feet long, aview down the Hill to the Nationd Gallery and Washington
Monument. | had come down with my suitcase loaded with everything | had ever written, al kinds of
stuff showing what | could do. This big, beautiful man stepped around the desk. He had white hair,
huge hands. He was probably one of the best looking men who ever served in this body. He had abig
head, broad mouth, carried himself like an admird. He grabbed my hand. In the summer he dways
wore awhite suit. In winter he wore blue. He had two suits, that's right, he had two suits. And he was
often on the ten-best-dressed Americans list, because he looked so damn good in his clothes. | just
thought, "My God, thisisthe most beautiful human being I've ever met.”

He sad, "Wdl, Mac, Maurice has been teling me about you, and | guess he's told you about this
position as adminigrative assstant. What do you think?" | said, "Oh, | think it sounds absolutely
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fabulous, Senator, I'd loveto try it." He said, "Wéll, how soon can you come down?" | thought quickly
and sad, "Will two weeks be enough?' So back to New Y ork to uproot the family and come down
here, and | started.

| swear to you, no adminidirative assstant, and probably few other types of employees of this place,
knew less than | about the Senate, how it worked, what committees did, what a senator's office did,
about the mail and congtituent problems. None of this had ever filtered through to me, oh, except in the
civics books sense, of course. | knew about the two houses of Congress and that, but the actua
functioning of it | redly didn't know anything about, certainly nothing about parliamentary procedure or
committee procedure, or anything. | was wet behind the ears. | used to say it took me six monthsto
find the men's room, which wasn't quite true, but | realy was usdessto him. | didn't earn my pay. But
he didn't know what he wanted me to do either, so | was sort of in a hgppy position of finding my way
and learning as | went.

He had asmall office, as everybody did in those days. The staff of a senator from lowain 1949
conssted of an executive secretary, four or five girls, and then me. Well, where to put me? The first
place he put me (he was on the Senate Agriculture Committeg) was in an anteroom of the Agriculture
Committee, which was on the third floor just above us, on the courtsde. The room angles around
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the court and the far door opens into the Caucus Room; if you could open it (but you couldn't), you
could hear what was going on through the door when there was a big hearing. The other door led into
the committee room.

So | sat there reading the Congressional Record, and then I'd go over and st on the floor. In those
daysthey permitted staff to do that even if you had no business. | just absorbed it, sat there and listened
to the debates and caught on more or less to what was happening and who was who and how it was
done, and so-on. A marvelous learning experience. Part of my learning was in another direction. Sitting
in thislittle anteroom were a couple of clerks and then there was a man who seemed to be on the
phone al the time. During executive sessions heldd go in and then hed come out and grab the phone. In
due course, | found out that he was playing the commodity markets for the chairman, who was then
Elmer Thomas from Oklahoma. The committee would decide to do something about whest, held call
the whest pit. | think that al caught up with Elmer, | think [Mike] Monroney knocked him off in part
because of these financid goingsonthat had nothing to do with being a senator. Well, | learned about
that kind of Senate business, too, very quickly. There wasn't as much of it, | must say, as people think,
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but that was certainly a clear one.
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Then | was moved downgtairsto alittle cubicle just off the main entrance on the second floor, and was
beginning to work up speeches. This was beautiful. | had a phone but no visitors, no interruptions. |
could sit there and spin my speeches without being hampered by digtractions. And Gillette began to
develop some confidence in me and | began to fed | knew what it was dl about, and would attend
committee hearings and would begin to follow things.

He was on Rules and Agriculture. In due course in 1951 he moved from Agriculture to Foreign
Rdations, which was histrue love. He had been a member of the Foreign Relaions Committeein his
firg term. In fact, he had been rather an isolationist before the war, at least 0 categorized. | don't think
that wasit, | think he was more of an anti-imperidist than a pacifist. Hed been in the military, heldd been
acaptain of infantry in World War 1, and held been in the Spanish-American War, though he never got
to Cuba, and he once volunteered during the Boer War to go fight on the side of the Boers, but they
wouldnt let himin. So he wasn't redly a pacifist; he didnt like the British empire, or any empire. Plus
the fact lowa was very isolationist and felt the Europeans should stew in their own juice. Those things
concurred with his own fedings, so he was rather isolationist--but he was never an America Firder,
never got involved in any of that dubious footsy with the Germans and so-on, as happened here with
[Burton] Wheder, and [Gerad] Nye, and that crowd.
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By the time we were in the war he had adjusted to it and decided that the thing to be doing was to set
up a successor to the League of Nations, which had failed, to try and preserve peace once it had been
regained. He was one of the early men working on what became the United Nations. | think the
committee ultimately reported out something caled the Conndly Resolution, which wasthe basis on
which Roosevelt proceeded to negotiate with the assurance the Senate would back him up. But in the
process Gillette had resolutions of his own, I'm pretty sure, | wasn't here for it. But | do know he was
very deeply involved there, and not just in the internationa organization part. Of course the war was on,
he was involved in whatever the diplomatic and other types of relationships we had with our dlies and
neutrds, tregties, and so-forth. Anyway, he loved it and got great satisfaction from it, so he worked his
way back onto it, though he was way down the bottom again.

RITCHIE: Do you know how he got onto the Paestine issue, by the way?

McCLURE: Yes, | do. We have to go back to wartime. | believe while he was still amember of the
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Senate he was approached by the American representative for the Hebrew Committee for Nationa
Liberation, a man named Peter Bergson, Paestine born. His father was Hilld Kook, the Rabbi of
Jerusalem. Gillette had married a Jewish lady whose name was Rose; she was a school teacher. They
had had no
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children, they adopted one. Probably through the fact that she was Jewish these people were able to
arrange to meet him. I'm not sure that's true, but it seems likely. They were looking for a spokesman in
Congress. They had severd, of course. Well, Gillette was defeated in 1944. Truman made him head of
the Surplus Property Board, which he stood for six months and then he saw it was going to be such a
corrupt operation which he couldn't control. Divestment of surplus was a gigantic racket. So he quit
after sx months, before he was spattered with mud.

At that point, Bergson and his associates had formed the American League for a Free Palestine and
asked him to be the head of it. He became its honorary president. Hed been involved with them and
talking with them, and | think held even introduced resolutions while he was gill a senator to do
something about the refugees from Hitler; some of them had been able to get out of Europe and they
were trying to get into the United States. While nobody knew too much about the murder camps,
something was known, and he was busy trying to do something about that. Smuggling them out through
Rumania, there were dl kinds of stories about that period. But that's the way he got involved. When he
went on the Foreign Relations Committee, every member had a subcommittee and he ended up with
the Near East Subcommittee, which included everything from the east end of the Mediterranean to
India Near East and South Asig, | think it was called. So that was again alinkage with Isragl and other
countries.

page 18

But in the process of shifting he did lose out on ever becoming chairman of Rules, which was amuch
smaler committee. There were only four Democrats | think. Carl Hayden was chairman and he went on
to be chairman of Appropriaions, anyway Gillette would have probably inherited it early on, or within a
couple of years. But while he was on the Rules Committee-1'd like to put in here, if you ever have
anything to do with the printing of the biographies of senators | urge that their committee assgnments be
indicated. What do senators do? They don't just get elected and then retire. Ther€ snot athing in those
paragraphs [in the Biographical Directory] thet tel what committees the man was on, and
subcommittees, nothing about his performance, or even his duties, whether he performed them or not. |
do urge that; it annoyed me for years.
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But in his service on the Rules Committee he was named chairman of the worst subcommittee you can
be on in this place, Privileges and Elections. Well, there are no privileges, plenty of headaches. Thiswas
in the early days of the rise of Joseph McCarthy. There was an dection in Maryland in 1950. John
Marshd| Butler was seeking to unseat Millard Tydings, which he did, in one of the dirtier campaigns of
recent memory. You may recdl it involved a composite photograph of Earl Browder, head of the
Communigt party, presumably shaking hands with Tydings, who had never seen him. But this
photograph was splattered into the rurd digtricts and was very damaging to Tydings. He raised hell

after his defeat. The Privileges and
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Elections Subcommittee was cdled into investigate the eection. Butler finally was seeted; he was a drip.
Tydings, whatever you think of his palitics, was a man of great parts-old line, old Senate bull, a man of
enormous breadth of knowledge and experience, and here was this twerp. It happens so often. Joe
McCarthy replaced Robert La Follette! And that undertaker from Nebraska, [Kenneth] Wherry
replaced George Norris. Redlly, you can't do worse. They not only knock off agreat man but put in a
zero.

Anyway, there were other campaigns that the subcommittee looked into, and it occurred to members
that there isn't any set of rules of what is good, fair campaigning, what should be outlawed or frowned
upon. They set about to try and develop a statutory code of ethics for campaigning. There was a draft
or two sent around, but when the older boysin the Senate heard about this, they said, no way, you
cant legidate thiskind of thing, and further more the implication could be that those of us who were
elected before the code had used unfair tactics to get here. On the basis of that, Gillette said, "Well,
let's do it the American way, have a private committee do it.” | was assigned to draft a code of
practices, and | consulted with alot of people on this, and we worked up a code.

Meanwhile, Harry Louis Selden, who had been so effective in setting up both the American League for
aFree Pdegtine and the Nationd Committee for an Effective Congress, went to work and pulled
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together an eminent list of sponsors for this committee, which was called the Fair Campaign Practices
Committee. They adopted the code as theirs and went into business and | think did a magnificent job. |
think redly other than the type of television ads that we're worrying about now, nationd campaigns are
s0 much cleaner than they were in the '50s and even early ‘60s. Thiswas a self-palicing thing. The
committee had no power, it couldn't charge anybody with anything or investigate them. It just was
there, and if a candidate thought he was being treated unfairly he could complain. The committee would
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then refer his complaint to his opponent, and say "work it out." And frequently the candidate didn't even
know what was happening and apologized and stopped it. In the few cases where there was a dispute,
the American Arbitration Association would send in arbitrators, preferably before eection day, and
they'd make ajudgment. So it did, | think, materiadly improve the climate of campaigns for the House
and Senate. Every ex-president became a member of the committee, [Dwight] Eisenhower, Truman,
[Lyndon] Johnson. So that was an offshoot of Gillette's enterprise, and it dill exists in amoribund state.
I'm the executive director, and it's not now financidly able to do anything.

At the height of McCarthy's shennanigans, in 1952 and '53 and ‘54, Senator William Benton of

Connecticut introduced a resolution to expel McCarthy from the Senate. It was a poorly done
operation, because instead of getting the Senate to approve the resolution right
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away, a least to gart the investigation, it was automatically referred to Rules and then to Gillette's
subcommittee. So here was Gillette done, with a couple of subcommittee members, appearing to be
persecuting this great anti-Communist leader, and boy, McCarthy took every advantage he could. Hed
shoot off telegramsto Gillette, which he would send to the papers long before, accusing him of working
for the Democratic National Committee and al sorts of suff like that. We findly couldn't get the
investigation off the ground, nobody wanted to touch it. Gillette was paralyzed. The subcommittee
didn't know how to proceed. They didn't have any money, they didn't have any saff. They didn't have
anything except this damn resolution on which a hearing was held. It was done bass ackward, | would
say, the whole thing.

To get out of this, Hayden, then gtill Rules chairman, moved in the Senate to discharge the resolution
from the committee. Well, of course he got an amost unanimous vote to not do that, which wasin effect
abass ackward way of authorizing the committee to proceed. Y ou can seeit could have al been done
much more smply, as they did in the case of [Thomas] Dodd and other cases since. The Senate gave
prior gpprova to proceed and the investigation went ahead. Well, once that was done we did hire
investigators and they did dig up atremendous lot of stuff, which was later turned over to the Watkins
committee, and in due course Mr. McCarthy was censured, and then drank himself to death. But he
was finished once the Senate decided
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to take steps they should have taken two years before and dapped him down. He was through, and he
knew it, and the whole thing just disappeared. His minions, most of them, were defested--his pals
[Herman] Welker and [James] Kem and the goons who had come inin *46.
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But I'm afraid that the hangover of this McCarthy affair had a very serious effect on Gillette's attempted
redection in ‘54. It'sdways hard to determine what is the main factor--he was old, in his*70s. His
opponent was a nobody named Thomas Martin, a House member who spent two yearsin lowa
campaigning, and never wasin his House seet. And lowais basicaly Republican, used to be and il is.
Pus the fact that the Democratic party's strength mainly liesin the river cities, Burlington and Davenport
and Dubuque, Sioux City and Council Bluffs. They're mostly Irish-Catholic, the bulk of them, and
McCarthy's impact on those voters was quite substantial. Some of the good fathers were supporting
him, too, so the flock would go dong. We had terrific defections, which was enough to defeat us, by
about 35,000 votes. It was aterrible time. | had never been through a campaign before, actudly. | had
alot to dowithit, so | felt responsible, and we logt.

I'll never forget the morning after. When we knew we were besten we had al gotten drunk, the whole

deff. | daggered in a nine in the morning with ahdl of a hangover. We had an office in alittle building
in Cherokee, his home town, high cellings, on the
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third floor. | had to climb up, panting. | was Sitting a my desk and in came Gillette. He walked right by
me into his office and dammed the door, with alook of utter despondency and despair on hisf ace. It
was awful! Well, he got over it, and so did |, but it was abad morning. So | jumped in my car and
drove dl the way back to Washington without a stop.

Later, snce held not been in the Senate long enough to develop any decent retirement, he came back.
Olin Johnston of South Carolina, who was chairman of Civil Service and Pogt Office, hired him asa
counsd for one of the subcommittees. Then Olin aso moved him to a subcommittee on Judiciary,
where he stayed about eight years after his defeat and built up his retirement. Then he went back to
Cherokee, where he had afarm. Then not too many years later he had a stroke. He was about 87, so it
was some years later. Anyway, he went into a nursing home, paralyzed on hisleft Sde. Hewas a
lefty--he wrote with his left hand. And a 87 he trained himsdlf to write with hisright hand. It's
interesting that the script was identica, exactly the same. | don't know what that says, but he had
trained his | eft lobe to run hisright hand so he could write afew notes.

The last letter | had from him was an absolutely extraordinary document. He must have had his left paw
on the page, he was writing in bed. It starts out "Dear Mac,” and then therés afull line, and
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then it begins to get shorter and shorter as it goes down and around, and it ends up down at the bottom
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with two words. This curious shape. | showed it to a professor of psychology who was interested in
brain damage and he was fascinated with it, hedd never seen anything likeit. It hadn't either. He lived
about five years more, but he was bed-ridden.

RITCHIE: Hedied a 94.

McCLURE: Yes. Lovdy, lovdy man. | just adored him.

RITCHIE: Hes dways been apuzzle to me, in looking over political history. In the New Ded
accounts Gillette is portrayed as an anti-Roosevelt conservative Democrat from lowa who was dways
voting againg things like the NRA, and the AAA, and the Supreme Court packing fight. HE's thrown in
with the isolationists and dl that. And then the Gillette who you read about in the 1940s and '50sis
fighting McCarthy and he's on the internationdists Sde. Itsamogt asif there are two different senators.
McCLURE: Two different epochs, too; two different periods.

RITCHIE: Wdll, what type of person was he really? What motivated Gillette, the farmer turned
politician?

McCLURE: Hedidnt just turn politician. While he was afarmer he was county attorney in Cherokee
County, too. County meant
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prosecuting atorney--minor infractions of the law. | don't think he handled murder cases or anything
exciting. Then he wasin the Sate senate for along time, and came to the House with Roosevdt in * 32.
He wasin the House for four years. He retained his farm and hired a man to run it for him. Well, he
didn't go to college. He got alaw degree from Drake and practiced law in Cherokee, while farming. He
was a greet Snger, he loved to sing, and he ran the church choir, and he taught Sunday schooal. | don't
know what denomination, | never bothered to find out. He didn't wear it around on his deeve; he was
no prayer breskfast politician.

Hewas agreat lover of literature and poetry and history, a great reader of everything, and remembered
it. He was something like Truman in that respect, he had a great knowledge of American history, the
Condtitution, and important Supreme Court decisions affecting the congtitution, and so-on. | know
nothing about his parents. His brother, Claude, became an admird, and ended up running the Navy
yard up in Bath, Maine, building war ships. They were very closg, in fact, Gillette was on the Naval
Affars Committee in the House, a some point.
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RITCHIE: | don't know whether you've seen this cartoon, but | came acrossit in thefiles. It was
done, | think, for his 1944 redection campaign. The Democrats had a cartoonist on staff who used to
make things up for weekly newspapers.
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McCLURE: Yes. It says Nava Affairs Committee, that's right. Councils on post-war legidation,
peace organization. Well, they've got dl that. That ought to in your record somehow. Well, he was an
extremely generous man, warm hearted and he loved dl kinds of people. He never said anything against
anybody, even people he couldn't stand. He just didn't do it, because in the first place he knew that
being a senator anything he said would get back to the man he said it about anyway. Even to me, |
could tdl what he thought, but he never said anything, except once. We were riding over onthetrain to
the Capitol, and John Foster Dulles--who had been appointed by Dewey to replace [Robert]
Wagner--came aboard the train and sat ahead of us. Gillette turned to me and said: "That man will
never make a senator.” Which was true, in fact he was defeated by [Herbert] Lehman.

Bringing up Dulles reminds me of a story when Gillette was on Foreign Rdlaions. Dulles came before
them as the Secretary of State designated by Dwight Eisenhower for his confirmation hearing in the
Caucus Room. | asked Gillette if he wanted any documents or anything to use, and he said, "No, I've
got dl that." So | went up to watch this, and the senators were as usua humble and polite and asked
the leading questions that he could answer beautifully. All of the, Democrats and Republicans, it was
sckening! Till they came to Gillette. The senator had collected statements Dulles had made during the
'52 campaign, accusing the Democrats of being soft on Communism, and alowing the Russansto run
away with theworld, the
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usud duff. He collected dl these, redlly vicious Stuff, it wasn't quite McCarthyism but was a gentlemanly
form of it. So he read these to Dulles and said, "Did you make this statement? Do you ascribe to this
position?' What could Dulles say? Obvioudy he had. Well, this went on for quite along time.

Then Gillette referred to Dulles opening statement, which was dl about international peace and order,
his usud church speech, and read some of that, and said, "Now, you are going to be Secretary of
State; of course you will be confirmed by the Senate. How do you reconcile this type of vicious
campaign statement with these hightoned principled remarks of your opening statement? How as
Secretary of State are you going to live with both these positions?* And Dulles said: "Senator, I'm a
lawyer, and as alawyer | represent my client. During the campaign the Republican party was my client.
Today, Dwight D. Eisenhower ismy dlient.” Oh, Gillette never forgave him for that. And it redlly made
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abig hit with the senators who had not dared open their traps, and the papers played it up, too. He was
the only senator who could challenge him! Oh, well, so it goes.

He was very courageous. He was aman of very high principle. I've heard him say, "Oh, I'm going to

resgnif they do that. | just will not serve hereif thisiswhat's going to happen.”" Frequently--he scared
me to death! He probably even meant it, too. Hewas a
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very senstive man, too, | don't mean in the sense of being prickly or being fearsome of people saying
nasty things about him, but he was very sengtive to other peopl€'s fedings and needs. A very gentle
man. If he ever wanted to fire me he never let me know, and so | managed to stay on. He never fired
anybody. Oh, what eseto say? | think it will come out morein our talking. I've tried to give you a
thumbnail sketch of avery complex man.

RITCHIE: Hewas defeated in 1944 by Bourke Hickenlooper.

McCLURE: That's correct.

RITCHIE: Then they wound up serving together on the Foreign Relations Committee.

McCLURE: Yes. Traveled a onetimeto Indiatogether.

RITCHIE: Oh, they did?

McCLURE: Yes Wédll, not together but in separate airplanes. But they were there together.

RITCHIE: Wasthere any friction between them as aresult of that ‘44 dection?

McCLURE: If there was, they didn't show it. Senators didn't used to show things like that. Whatever
they fet about "my able and distinguished friend," it was dways "my able and distinguished
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friend."Whether Hickenlooper felt bad about it, there he was, a United States senator again, after a
brief interlude. | don't think so.

RITCHIE: How did Gillettefit into the Senate structure? Those were the days of the "Inner Club" and

Senate Historical Ofice Oral History Project
www. senat e. gov/ hi story



the Southern senators who redlly ran the show for along time.
McCLURE: Indeed they did.
RITCHIE: He had sort of an independent reputation. Did hefit in or was he an outsder?

McCLURE: Wdl, I'll tdl you the story he told me of his early days in the Senate. At that time in 1937
there was what was called the " Cherokee Strip” in the Senate. There were so many Democrats that
some of them had to St on the Republican sSde of the aide in the back row. He was Sitting behind
Hiram Johnson of Cdifornia, Republican, and they got to be deskmates, you know, as those things
happen. Gillette came one day with some notes; he was obvioudy preparing to make a statement on
something. Johnson saw this and turned around and said: "Senator, I'll tell you when to speek. Thisis
not thetime.” All right said Senator Gillette. He was then 54-yearsold, he was no child. But Hiram was
an old bull and Gillette knew who he was. So, amonth or so later afarm bill, an appropriations bill
dedling with farmers, was coming up, and Johnson turned around
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and said, "Now, thisis the one you speak on. Prepare yoursdf to spesk on this amendment. This will
be your maiden speech.” Which, of course, was exactly right and appropriate for a senator from lowa,
and that's the way he Sarted.

But he had dready been taken in, in a sense, under the wing of the Old Boys. Harry Byrd and he were
very close friends-persondly, | don't mean paliticaly. He didn't get dong with [Pat] McCarran or
[Kenneth] McKdler particularly well, but [Richard] Russdll, [Ligter] Hill, the Old Boys, [Pat] Harrison,
of course that's before the war, [Alben] Barkley. (Barkley asked him to be his campaign manager in
'52.) They dl were very close friends with him and he was amember of the "Club," he certainly was,
without having redlly the seniority that most of them had. He had atotd in both terms of only fourteen
years, ‘36 to ‘44, ‘49 to ‘4.

Wi, of course his voting record is not that of a New Deal Democrat, no doubt about that. Nor was
the state of lowa a strong Democratic, libera cormnunity. He represented his people, and | think his
thinking reflected them and he agreed with them, by and large. If he felt they were off-base, he went
ahead anyway. He wasn't stopped by unpopularity, either here or in his state. But by and large he was
a senator from lowa and there was no point in pretending he was from lllinois or New Y ork or Indiana
or Michigan or somplace dse.
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He supported the New Ded in the Housg, | think. I'm not sure about voting against the NRA or AAA,

| don't know that; you say he did, he may have. But hisred break with Roosevelt came over the Court.
Thisiswhere his condtitutiond religion, so to spesk, was involved. He just thought it was an unhaoly act.
While he recognized that [Burton] Wheder was using thisissue as a presidential gambit, and that many
of those who were fighting it were not completely in favor of the Court or the Congtitution or anything, it
was a paliticad war--the firg time they had a chance to best this "fiend” Roosevelt. But he didn't go
aong with that. He went along for his own reasons and didn't join that caba at dl. But he was strong on
the subject. Then, theregfter, | think he flt that Roosevelt could abuse his powersif he wasn't checked
by the Senate. In many cases | think his votes reflected that. He was fearful of the Imperia White
House before anybody felt there was anything like thet.

On the other hand, he got dong well with Roosevelt. Senator [Jennings] Randolph told me a story,
which | asked him to put in his statement to the Senate after Gillette died. It'sin the Record, | won't
bother going into it. But he went down to the White House a Randolph's suggestion to head up awhole
delegation of people who were worried about their little airports which were being wiped out in the war
effort just as they were getting started. Roosevdt listened to them and turned it around. So, | mean he
didn't have any war with Roosevet. | don't think he voted for him every time,
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RITCHIE: | know he refused to go to the Democratic convention in 1944 because he didn't believe
any one should have four terms.

McCLURE: Wdl, that's another one of his condtitutiona stands, traditiond, and again his worrying
about Roosevelt becoming aking. | didn't remember that he didn't go to that. Y ou know more about it
than |.

RITCHIE: You aso mentioned before when the Committee for Effective Congress had their first date
of candidates, dl of them were pretty liberal Democrats, with the exception of Gillette, who was much
more conservative than the rest of them.

McCLURE: That'sright.

RITCHIE: How did he get aong with those liberal Democrats from the "Class of '48," people like
Estes Kefauver, Paul Douglas, Hubert Humphrey and others?

McCLURE: Wel, he didn't have a chance much to get dong, because he came right back into the
"Club," in his old shoes. His friends were Hayden and Russdll and Barkley. | don't think he developed
any close relaionships with any of those, except for Murray, who had been here along time, and

Senate Historical Ofice Oral History Project
www. senat e. gov/ hi story



Nedy, who had been around for God knows how long. They knew each other from the time back. |
think he liked Humphrey, | think he thought he was afool when he garted out, but he did learn fast. He
and Kefauver worked together on effortsto
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get aresolution through on the effort to get an Atlantic Union, but | don't know that that made them
very close. They were just close on that issue. About Douglas, | don't think | ever heard him say

anything.

But when Eisenhower had been in awhile, the Tidelands Oil business was cooking. Y ou may recdl that
issue, it was abig thing in the early part of the Eisenhower administration. It looked like a pay-off to the
oil companies, aproposa to hand over to the states most of the off-shore land under water, which
meant that the oil companies would more easily control the state legidature, the Texas Railroad
Commission and s0 on. They would then have control over these vast subsurface oil deposits off the
coad. Gillette was a strong conservationist and he didn't like the big oil companies. They were not nice
to farmers either, as you recall. For many reasons he was hostile to monopoly, he would have been--if
they had been around--to multinational corporations and oligopolies and whatnot.

When the liberals sarted an effort to stop this tidelands giveaway, as they cdled it, oddly enough the
principa leader of it was Lister Hill. But he stayed in the background and arranged to have Herbert
Lehman as the front spokesman for the group. Ultimately there were about twenty-five senators, all
Demoacrats, who would meet once aweek over here in ahotel on the Plaza, where the SEC is now.
They'd meet one night aweek and discuss strategy and lay out
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action they wanted taken. Lehman's adminidirative assstant, [Julius] Edelstein, was the secretary to the
senators and the chairman of the adminigtrative assstant group, which met the next night, when we got
our assgnments. It worked well.

We had redly the first libera caucus ever formed. It was easy because it was on asingle issue. It broke
up later when they tried to keep it on with other issues, but it worked and we aso ran the first libera
filibuster. Ligter Hill taught them how to do that, you know, watch the floor, have somebody present,
this, that, and the other thing, until the proponents had to give in and draw back to the three mile limit,
except in the case of Louisiana and Texas, which under certain historical arrangements had dways hed
atweve milelimit. Control of the outer continental shelf went to the federd government. The roydties
and rents paid by ail drilling companies go to the treasury, and they're way over a billion or more now,
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I'm sure, | don't know how many hillion. A big piece of change, and growing surely.

The way it was done was that Lister Hill introduced what was cdled the "Oil for Educeation”
amendment. The idea was that these revenues would be alocated to federa aid to education, because
we couldn't get a bill for federd aid to education. The Chamber of Commerce was the main oppaosition
to it, and they would raise either the Communist issue, the rdligious issue, or the raceissue. The
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"three RS": reds, rdigion, and race. They just played it like an organ, and some group would bresk
away on each of those. But the thought was that this"Oil for Education” amendment wouldn't be atax
on people, it would come out of segregated funds. Anyway, that provided away to recruit the lobbying
efforts of dl sorts of groups who didn't give a damn about oil one way or the other: unions, educationd
groups, dl kinds of public interest groups. They were helpful to usin drumming up other support from
other senators other than this group of twenty-five which wasn't enough to win. So we won a hdf beattle
and the other guys logt ahdf bettle.

It was agreat fight, and Gillette was very active in that, and encouraged me to be active. In fact, |
handled much of the newspaper publicity and public releases and tuff like that. The press was elther
bought or blind, because when the bill got to the floor even the New York Times didn't have aword
about it, and the big debate had begun. So we cooked up atelegram for Gillette and Douglas and
[Clinton] Anderson, | think, and sent it to Arthur Krock, inquiring if thiswasn't part of dl of the news
that'sfit to print. From then on the Times covered it. But in alot of the states the papers didn't cover it.
The wire services paid no attention to it. It was as if there was a plot to suppress any mention of it.
Maybe it was just regarded as too technica and difficult a subject. In any event, people weren't avare
of what was going on. So we cooked up af | ank attack. We found a recording shop down here that
made discs
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for very little money, and we got some union to pay the cost. (Radio stations were obliged to offer a
certain amount of public interest time in those days--1'm not sure they will any more.) Weld record
gpeeches of our senators, and then mail them to the radio stations. These were punchy, short speeches
that told the people what was going on. And people began to write their paper asking "why don't you
print something about this?* And in due course we forced the whole thing open. Well, of course, it got
more interesting, too, as time went on. A filibuster guarantees page one anywhere, but we had done a
good job of bypassing this silence blanket. Gillette was very hot on that one.
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In fact, even before then he was hot on the naturd gas bill that Bob Kerr had come forth with, to
deregulate gas, in effect, and make millions for companies like Kerr-McGee and others. Just a blatant
grab. Gillette was horrified. This was another EImer Thomeas kind of thing to him, using your public
office to line your pocket, which was utterly obnoxious and sickening to him. Wéll, he took on-one of
the first who ever dared--this oil senator from Oklahoma. Bob Kerr was a powerful man, big guy with
a huge voice, and utterly unprincipled in debate. He used to just destroy senators. Kerr used to bait
poor Homer Capehart of Indianatill he collapsed in incoherence. Anything could go. Misrepresentation
and lies and phoney facts and bullying. He broke in when Gillette first opened his mouth. Gillette had
been there longer than Kerr and sad, "I'll be
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happy to yidd when | finish my remarks, senator,” politely. Kerr kept coming in every ten minutes,
trying to make the Record dl mixed up, you know. "Will the senator yied? Will the senator yidd?' Of
course, Gillette had to stop and get rid of him. Well, he finished his speech, he was absolutdly furious,
because you just don't do that kind of thing, unless you are being ajackal. So on things like that he was
asliberd as you could find. On anything to do with conservation--he would have been a tremendous
environmentalig, if there had been an environmental movement he would have been in the thick of it, no
question about it. He was a0 the first consumerist up here.

RITCHIE: Inwhat way?

McCLURE: Heintroduced aresolution as early as ‘53 or S0 to create a committee on consumer
interests, which died in the Rules Committee. It was much too early on to try that. Then we tried to get
other committees to set up subcommittees on consumer interests. Charlie Tobey of . . .

RITCHIE: New Hampshire.

McCLURE: ... New Hampshire, who was chairman of Commerce, did set up one. Actudly it wasa

good place for it. In fact, Magnuson made a great thing out of it later. But Tobey, a Republican, set up
the only one back in the 83rd Congress. Anyway, then while he was
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dill on the Agriculture Committee, Gillette was made chairman of a subcommittee on the utilization of
farm crops, which was, | believe, arecreetion of something that had existed under his chairmanship
during the war. At that time he went to work to see, Snce there was a shortage of petroleum and
rubber, especialy rubber, if this could be made from acohol, chemicaly made from acohol made from
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corn; now weve got gasahol. Thiswas an atempt way, way back in the early ‘40sto use large supplies
of wheat and corn, and maybe soybeans, | don't know if they work or not, to produce industria acohol
fud.

S0 he had this subcommittee reestablished when he came back to the Senate. He changed its purpose,
its purpose then became to study the famous gap between what the farmer receives and what the
consumer pays. Where does dl that money go? We dlill are trying to find out. Packaging, shipment, and
advertising, and processing, and so-forth. He ran ahdll of a series of hearings on that, front page dl
over the place. Witnesses coming in with atag taken off the A & P shelf a the moment the clerk was
putting a higher price on the same goods, which was very dramatic stuff. We belabored the mesat
packing industry, which was a very popular thing to do with our beef producers, who were dways
getting screwed by the packing plants. And tried to find out how much it cost to make aleg of lamb, or
apork chop. Their bookkeeping was so muddied, and purposdly so, and ill
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is-you can't find out anything, where the costs of production and processing redlly are.

That's what led him into this further concern with the generd consumer problem, which he was very
naive about, as we al were a the time. He didn't really know what he was getting into. There was, for
example, alarge cartel headed by Brazil which ran the coffee prices up very high. The subcommittee
went into that quite deeply with lots of headlines and publicity, and made certain Brazilians very angry.
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End of Interview #1

Senate Historical Ofice Oral History Project
www. senat e. gov/ hi story



THE SENATE IN THE 1950s
Interview #2
Thursday, December 16, 1982

RITCHIE: I'd like to start today by asked if you could describe what a senator's office was like in the
early 1950s. How did Senator Gillette's office function? | know it had ardatively smal steff.

MCCLURE: Reatively smal isright. When | came aboard there was an executive secretary, Cy Farr;
there was a case worker, an older lady, Betsy Lou Ross, and some secretaries, Dorothy Dalton, Eva
Charlton, Chickie Chaikin, and Rose Ann Cosgrove. Some were temporaries. And Mark Gillette, the
son, came in and out when he wasn't in school. But basicdly it was avery smdl group.

Hewasin 229 in the now Russdl| Building, on the west end, with alovely view of the monument and
the mal and al that. He had aglorious old fashioned office, as| have said, with agrand chanddier,
marble fire place, big dek, easy chairs. It was amost comfortable kind of aroom, high ceiling, big
windows. The next room was a reception room, which speaks for itself. The back end of that they had
partitioned off with a bookcase. Near the window Cy Farr had his desk. | guess there were a couple of
girls out there in the front room. The other room was for the other typists and the case worker, and
ultimately me, though & firgt | didn't St there.

page 41

The mail was congstent, except when there was a push by some lobbying group that would pile up
thousands of duplicate |etters that you didn't pay any attention to, except the volume of them. A great
ded of case work, of course, dl the veterans and socia security people, the same thing that goes on
today. | was amazed at that. | didn't realize how important senators were in handling personal cases for
al kinds of people. Of course, businessmen, farmers, anybody who had business with the government
had learned to go through a senator or a congressman's office for help. It expedites responses, for
example, and clarifies mix-ups and errors and so on. Cy Farr ran the office. He had been with the
senator before, and he was the expert on lowa palitics. Held been the campaign director three times,
and knew every county leader and dl the Democratic machinery in the Sate, plus afew peoplein dl the
organizations and so forth.

There was no legidative assstant. No office had one by that name in those days. Snce the legidative
load was no where near what it istoday, a senator could pretty much handle it himsdlf, a least the parts
that he was greetly interested in, such as his committee work and mgor bills that he was going to have
to take a stand on. He drafted the responses to inquiries about what his position would be on
such-and-such an issue. There were no position papers produced by anybody. And he was able--the
state wasn't terribly populous of course--to keep a persona correspondence going himsalf with severa

Senate Historical Ofice Oral History Project
www. senat e. gov/ hi story



thousands of people over the year. He dictated the
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the letters and he signed them. And if there were multiple responses required we of course used the
mimeograph machine.

Astime went on and | found my feet | became in effect the adminidirative assstant. | didn't administer
anything, dthough that wasthetitle. It being anew kind of job, many senators didn't know what to do
with adminigtrative ass stants exactly. Some of them made their palitical guys from the state the top
man, who came in with him with the election. That till occurs, I'm sure. Some of them were research
and speech-writing guys, modtly like | was. Some actudly administered the officesin the larger States.
When they had larger numbers of staff they had to have somebody redly actively operating as an
adminigtrator. Well, Cy Farr did the same for that little group we had.

Of course, committee work came first, and he was on Agriculture, and Rules, and Foreign Rdlations,
and dso he was on Smdl Business. The latter was a specid committee formed about 1950, which had
no legidative power but did alot of investigating, held numerous hearings. He had a subcommittee there
| believe. Anyway, that was his committee structure. On the Foreign Relations Committee he was
chairman of the subcommittee on the Middle East, Near East, and South Asa. On Agriculture he had
his subcommittee on the utilization of farm crops, which | have taked about. Naturdly he served
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on other subcommittees in the various committees, of which he was not chairman.

Foreign Relations a that time, and | supposeit's ill the same, used its subcommittees redly as
consultative bodies; they had no legidative power or even jurisdiction, they had regiond jurisdiction.
They were used for consulting with the State Department generadly, sometimes with other agencies,
sometimes even with public organizations and private citizens. But | think Gillette found the system quiite
frudrating; in particular the case of the Near East subcommittee. During the time the CIA managed to
get rid of Mossadegh in Iran, there was a great ded of shennanigans and mysterious business that the
public couldn't find out about. We could read the papers but we never were getting anything publicly
honest from the Department of State or the CIA or the oil companies. Gentlemen from the State
Department would come up and ask for an executive session, which in those days meant a closed
session. They'd tell the senators a grest deal, no doubt, but after that the members were parayzed; they
couldn’t spesk without violating or reveding classified materid. It was maddening, because senators
knew what was going on or thought they did but couldn't talk about it, except to each other. Gillette
never would tell me ether. Hed just say, "No, I'm under an embargo, and we just have to go dong this
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way." The senators staff was never permitted in those meetings. Pat Holt
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wasin, of course, because he was on the committee staff, but senators staff, never.

Nowadays, of course, with everything open, presumably, and every senator having a staff member
through the Grave resolution, there's not so much secrecy, redlly. | don't think they can control it in the
way they used to. Of course, the Rules Committee had no secrets. They had executive sessons, but
members staff were permitted. Some of the matters were quite politicaly senstive, but they didn't
involve foreign policy or the safety of the Nation, Heaven knows. So | went to al the hearings, any
meseting a which Gillette was ether chairing or serving, and | went to al executive sessonsthat | was
permitted to. It was awonderful learning process. The ultimate being a conference with the House,
which was the next-to-last stage in the greet legidative process. Certainly no matter what the subject is,
it's great theater. In fact, | regard the whole Senate as a theater and dl the sub-plots, and side-play, and
incidenta music that goes on in the committees and hearings and press conferences and so on, isdl
very dramatic, | found. Wonderful theater and awonderful cast of characters that changed in part every
day. The steedies being the dected officias, Saff, and press, with the public, the lobbyigts, the vistors,
the witnesses, and the tourigts running in and out. Y ou know what it's like, it's agreat Grand Centrd
Station milling through here, in the summer especidly.
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Wi, back to Gillette's office. We at some point decided we should put out a newdetter, aweekly four
or five page newdetter to the papers and to the radio stations. Gillette, like dl good politicians, was
highly sengtive to changesin public opinion, and he wanted to stir up comment; through the use of a
newdetter he could get people to respond to something he wrote--or | wrote for him. Well, that was
quite a chore, because what | did was track everything he did and rdate it to everything that seemed to
be of importance to the people of the state and sometimes to the Nation as awhole. It was used. Wed
gopear especidly in the little weekly papers who have no money for syndicated columnids; thiswas
free and they would print hislittle picture, which he sent dong. We had a masthead that they could use,
which got to be akind of logo dl around the state. Dozens of them would print this. Then the radio
gtations would use parts of it when they wanted to. It was quite successful, | think. Didn't guarantee his
reelection, but it certainly kept the people aware of what he was doing, and to some degree what was
happening that was not to be found necessarily in the public press or the other media

Also we developed, after the Senate had created this studio over in the Capitol for radio and then TV,
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aweekly radio program, fifteen minutes | think, and then later televison. That was morerare. Thiswas
just the beginning of TV, redlly; it was not as developed anywhere near asit is now. But if he had an
important statement
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that he wanted immediate attention given to, and didn't want screened through editors and so forth, he
would use the TV. Not too often, but once or twice a year. When he announced he was going to run
again, that was obvioudy an occasion, but there were others involving treeties and things of public
concern.

Of course there were a congtant stream of |owans coming through, whom he always wanted to gre<t,
naturaly. They often just wanted to drop in and say hello. Sometimes they had a problem they wanted
solved, or an issue they wanted to discuss. Plus the usua stream of lobbyists and the press. We had
some pretty good papersin lowa at the time, the Des Moines Register especidly. Not al of them had
staff people here; they used stringers. And the A.P., U.P., |.N.S,, a that time there were three press
services. You never saw the TV commentators in those days. Radio types, sure, lots of radio reporters
would come by.

We a0 had a press release system which was handed out here, and mailed sometimes to papersin the
gate--usudly too late by the time it got there to be newsworthy. We had an old mimeograph machine
down in the basement, which we dl used. We would line up and run a hundred off, collate them, and
gaple them, and take them over to the gdlery.

That reminds me, once | was assigned a mgor speech by the senator. HEd been talking in generd, this
was probably in ‘51, ‘52,
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about the inability redly to describe to the American people what we were doing in the world. We had
NATO, we had SEATO, we had the OAS, we were involved in numerous tregties and security
arrangements with al kinds of countries, so he assigned me to find out from the State Department, as
well as my own reading, three things: what are deemed to be Americas vitd interestsin the world,
where are they? Two, what measures have we taken, or will we take, should trouble arise, to defend
these vitd interedts, as digtinct from just interests that we have with every country; not military measures
in the sense of preparedness, but what strategic arrangements are we involved in; that's the treaties and
the executive agreements of dl sorts. And of course, third, what resources do we have to fulfill our
commitments, not just military but manpower, and economic resources, and available raw materids,
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and everything that would go into amassive military, or defense build-up.

So | worked months on the damn thing. It was a very good thing for me; it was discipline, and | learned
about what we were involved in. | redly didn't know, or know enough about it. Anyway, after aperiod
we had a huge, big speech, a good hour-and-a-half Senate speech, with maps and charts and
everything. Wdll, he liked it, and we chose a quiet afternoon, had it al prepared in advance, of course.
Wi, | was s0 busy pulling together the last minute ravelings that any magor undertaking required, |
forgot to have the girl carry the text of the peech over to the press gdlery. Well, you
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know while the guys in the gdlery listen with some attention to a peech, they'd much prefer to have a
written, printed text from which they can draw their own quotations. It wasn' till he was about haf way
through it that aword came from the gdlery: "Where the hell isthe text?' Hah! Well, we got afew over
intime. They were dtting down a the mimeograph machine. Nobody had gone to get them! God, what
asensation that was. Course, it was such alearned and long piece it had no real news vaue anyway,
athough anew guy from the New York Times came around and said, "I'm keeping this as areference
work. I've got to cover dl this stuff.” And | guessit had some academic impact and so forth. But that
dreadful last minute gaffe--1 never let that happen again.

RITCHIE: There was no officia press secretary in the office, didyou. . . .
McCLURE: No, | wasthat, too. Anything with words | did. That was my strong point, | guess.

RITCHIE: Was the senator more oriented, would you say, toward the lowa press than say trying to
get nationa press, in the Washington Post or the New York Times or the wire services?

McCLURE: It depended on the subject. On foreign policy he wanted as much nationa coverage as

he could get, in the New Y ork and Washington papers, because he was trying to make an impact on
the
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whole of public opinion. But for farm matters and various state concerns, he actively sought lowa press
atention.

RITCHIE: Did asenator in those days do more of his own press work than they do now? Was he
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more the person who would actualy dea with reporters?

MCCLURE: Oh, yes. Oh, absolutely. Well, | would take care of aroutine vigt of course, but if they
wanted a stlatement from him, heldd have them in his office. And held have a press conference oncein a
while, when some subject came up that was worth having it about. Usudly things growing out of
disputes in the Subcommittee on Privileges and Elections over Joseph McCarthy and other sundry
cases we handled. He was very good on his feet and spoke beautifully of course, and fielded questions
with gplomb, | would say. | saw him get hisfoot in the pail one or two or three times, and | helped him
out of it, but that happens to everybody. Misquoted, or used the wrong number, or something.

RITCHIE: What was the pace of life like in a Senate office in those days? Wasiit abusy, hectic
schedule?

McCLURE: No. It would be at times, of course, especidly if your man was doing something big or

important or time-consuming. In the years before | came to the Senate and for severa years afterward
the day the Senate went out of sesson they might aswell have closed
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the office, except asamail drop and a phone answering service. Nothing! For months you didn't have a
damn thing to do. Of course, | did do alot of reading and preparing of materia for the next sesson, and
| think that went on in dl offices, too, I'm sure it did. But generdly speaking lobbying stopped,
newspaper men didn't bother, there wasn't any newsto get, and the senator wasn't in town. He headed
for Cherokee. He did atour of the state, or he maybe went abroad on atrip someplace. He loved his
home town and his farm. He would just go back and become a farmer for three or four months.

But the Senate was totaly dead. The sessons ended in August or early September. Once in awhile as
when the Korean War began they ran on later, very rardly. There just wasn't the volume of business
there is now--the pressure of extending laws dl the time, the reauthorizing programs dl the time. There
was new legidation, of course, but it seems to me that the volume just multiplied geometricaly astime
went on.

RITCHIE: The Senate daff as awhole was much smdler. Did you get to ded with the staff members
of other senators and committees?

McCLURE: | tried to know every adminidtrative assstant persondly. | made it apoint. There were 96
when | garted, and then Alaska and Hawaii joined the Union and there were 100. | think | knew them
al, and sometimes more; | mean their executive
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secretaries, or agirl inthe office. | tried to have an access to every office and every committee to the
degree | needed it. | hadn't much to do with several committees because we weren't involved in any
way by them. We didn't have big military ingdlations, so | didn't pay much attention to Armed
Services. But Commerce, Labor, Public Works, Agriculture, of course, not Interior much, we don't
have nationd parks or anything like thet that would involve Interior. Then, of course, the Finance
Committee, everyone had to keep his eye on that. | got to know the key people | think in dl
committees.

RITCHIE: | dso noticed in the Secretary's Report that every once in awhile Mark Gillette's name
would appear, and Rose Gillette was a so on the taff for awhile.

McCLURE: Yes.

RITCHIE: What did they do on the staff? And was it common for senators wives and children to
work in their offices?

McCLURE: It wasn't common, but it occurred. John Sparkman’s wife used to be around the office a
great ded. And there may have been others | didn't know about. Well, they pitched in and did jobs that
needed to be done that might not have been done so quickly if we'd depended on this smal staff. Mark
could be arunner, and he could type a bit, and be generdly useful. Mrs. Gillette knew large
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numbers of people in lowa herself, so she was a good person to have when a delegation was coming
in. She knew the wives.

Will, they may have needed to supplement their income, too. The pay wasn't very good, you know, for
along, long time. Senators pay was miserable, and therefore, everybody eseswas. Of course, he had
alittleincome from hisfarm; | didn't know how much. But he was not wedthy by any means. | told you
the story about him being on the best-dressed list in America for two suits. What afarce! They lived in
an apartment here, usudly, and drove a big, big car, because traveling across the wide open spaces of
lowayou've got to have abig Chryder or big Buick or something. | drove dl those roads during the
campaign, and | was glad to have anice, big bus to move. He never went less than 80 when he could
get on the open road. "Come on, Mac, step on it! We've got to get going!”
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RITCHIE: Was he more likely to drive back and forth to lowa?

McCLURE: Yes, oh, yes. They drove dl thetime. Well, | guessif he went out for a speech or
something he flew, but if it was between sessons, sure, and even for along vacation time. They
sometimes had recesses around Easter and so on.

RITCHIE: You mentioned about the campaign. What did you do during the ‘54 campaign? And was
it usud for the Washington staff to get involved in the home sate campaign?
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McCLURE: Oh, it certainly was usud.

RITCHIE: The executive secretary had been his campaign director.
MCCLURE: Yes.

RITCHIE: Was everybody dseinvolved?

MCCLURE: Thewhole gang went out. Well, no, not the whole gang. Two girls, Chickie and Rose
Ann, and Cy and I. What did | do? It was amad scramble, because held told me when | was hired that
he didn't intend to run again and | should not fed any congraints. If | thought he should do something
that was worth doing, thet fitted in with histhinking, | should propose it, even though it might have
ramifications in lowatha were not particularly conducive to support in the coming election. So he was
involved in the Atlantic Union committee, and in this consumer thing, which few in lowa could
undergtand very well, I'm afraid, and involving himself in various investigations and studies, and actions
on the floor, amendments and bills and so forth, which, had he been scrupuloudy examining the horizon
for Sx years or five or four hence, he might not have done.

Wi, come January of '54, he said, "Mac, I'm going to run again.”" Jeez! "Fix up a TV appearance over
in the studio for tomorrow afternoon. I've prepared alittle statement here. Y ou want
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to look at it?" So that was it. Off we went, with redly only nine monthsto do it in. No campaign
organization, no red firm aliances except through the party, that were pro formain many cases. He
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didn't know alot of the county chairmen because he hadn't been around the state alot as much as he
had in the past. No campaign literature, nothing, not even enough photographs. | whipped together a
brochure with a beautiful picture of him and had a nice printing job done, saverd thousand printed.
Then the campaign pictures. Then we began dowly lining up campaign tripsto hit al the mgor towns,
and the mgor organizations that might be meeting when he could get out there, and press conferences,
radio and TV gppearances, and the whole business of traveling.

Fortunately, a young man showed up, after we got to lowa, after the session, | guess thiswould
probably be September, who had a private plane. He said, "I want to help you senator, but | haven't
got any money. What I'll do isfly you to dl your spesking engagements.” Gillette said, "That will be
marvelous, but | will pay for the gas." OK, s0 that's the way we did it. It was a great boon, because
driving 150 or so milesin time to get someplace for lunch and back again in the late afternoon was a
grind. And then he lost dl that time on the road, he couldn't be doing anything except Sitting. So we
used that plane alot. We hit dl the places, and the party performed. | mean they got crowds out and
luncheons together at the Kiwanis Club and church meetings and dl the usud
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places where candidates meet voters. | handled al the press releases, and we had one a day--had
to--either asserting something or chalenging something that had been said by somebody else, rebutting.
It wasn't unlike any other campaign.

We raised agood ded of money for lowa. I've forgotten now how much. One contribution that kicked
back very hard came from the United Automobile Workers. They had a palicy in those days, | think
the amount was athousand dollars. They sent usalist of one thousand members of the U.A.W. who
each had given adollar. But they unfortunately sent it through what was caled Solidarity House, which
was union headquartersin Detroit. Well, Solidarity, youll recall, sounds sort of left wing; " Solidarity
Forever," was arevolutionary song of the "20s, | guess. Well, the Republican press hit on that: "Gillette
Gets Thousand Dallars From Solidarity House." No mention of the U.A.W.; it sounded like some
socidigt plot. They hit us hard with that. Of course, rebuttals and explanations never catch up. And they
did it just over the weekend as the campaign was coming to aclose.

Severd unions gave about a thousand dollars each, the Railroad Brotherhoods here in Washington, but
it took them almogt to the end of the campaign to get the check to us. We'd committed ourselves on
severd TV shows and desperately needed the money. It finally came through. The Sted Workers, at
that time the Packing House workers
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had been infiltrated by the Communists and they were a hot potato to handle. The members weren't
Communist, but the union leaders were. We had to be very careful not to be endorsed in any way by
them because the McCarthy spirit was very widespread in the Middle West, as we found to our
unhappiness on dection day.

One of the last days of the campaign we were driving back from someplace, Omaha | guess (wed
been down to do a TV program beamed into Council Bluffs and southwest 1owa from the Omaha
dation), when Rose Gillette said, "Guy, how's it going to go?' He said, "Well, I'm going to win by
35,000 or lose by 35,000.” Helost by 35,000. Anyway, we got back in the office, and he said, "Mac,
weve got alot of this money left here, | want to send it back, proportionately.” | never heard of such a
thing. We spent, it must have been two or three days, we spent alot of time divvying it up. | don't
remember what it was, severd thousand dollars, and we returned it in proportion with the contribution,
and off it went. He ended up with no campaign contributions to be worrying about afterward. A man of
greet probity. Gestures like that were never publicized. Nobody knew it except those who got their
checks back. But he knew it.

RITCHIE: Youve dtributed alot of his defeat to McCarthy.

McCLURE: Not alot. But it was akey point.
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RITCHIE: Thefact that he was the chairman of the subcommittee that was deding with McCarthy's
involvement in the Tydings-Butler race. What were Gillette's own fedings about McCarthy and the
whole anti-Communist movement?

MCCLURE: Oh, well, Gillette despised him, because not only didn't he like McCarthy's palitical
methods but because he was an absolute stinker as a senator. Everybody sayswhat a nice guy he was
and a big back dapper and so forth, but his treatment of other senators was just vicious. He would send
off atelegram to the press and then release it to Gillette ten hours after it had been ditributed, blasting
him for working in cahoots with the Democratic Nationd Committee and that sort of thing, and then
come burgting up on the floor, dl hall-fdlow-wel-met. Gillette would never shake his hand.

After that instance | think | mentioned, when Carl Hayden had to move to discharge the Rules
Committee of the Benton Resolution on McCarthy, and the Senate promptly refused to do it, therefore
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giving the investigation a backward way of proceeding legdly, McCarthy came over and tried to throw
his arm around Gillette's shoulders, saying "No hard fedings, Guy.” Well, Guy had them, he had plenty
of hard fedings. He loathed him. Gillette refused even to turn his head. Furthermore, held never had to

ded with such abrute around here, you know, such acrude, loud, and unscrupulous dimy character.
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Senators weren't like that when he started out here; they were gentlemen. And this was no gentleman.
RITCHIE: Do you think that the whole gentleman's club approach to other senators, not attacking

each other persondly dl the rest of it, actually alowed someone like McCarthy to get away with a
much as he did?

MCCLURE: | hadn't thought of it in exactly those terms.

RITCHIE: Peoplelike Gillette seemed to refrain from atacking him.

MCCLURE: Oh, they just turned their back on him. The only time | ever heard aredly persond
crack a McCarthy was by Senator William Fulbright. It was just a the time when the senator from
Vermont . . .

RITCHIE: Raph Flanders.

MCCLURE: Handers and Fulbright had resolutions of condemnation before the Senate, and
McCarthy rose and made some dashing attack on Herbert Lehman, I've forgotten just what it was, it's

in the Congressional Record | know, and then left the floor. Fulbright got up and said, "I'm sorry the
senator has left the floor, because we have just
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had a demondtration of what these resolutions are dl about!" He drew the lesson for everybody there;
we didn't need it, but he did it.

RITCHIE: Wdl, the Senate certainly took itstime in acting.

MCCLURE: Oh, it took forever and ever. They were scared of him. He let word out that he was
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having dl senators staffs investigated for secret Communist leanings, that sort of stuff. The place was
awful; suspicion and amost terror was reigning around here. Here had a gang of goons doing his
gumshoeing al over the place, Sopping a nothing, stedling documents and bresking in doors and
anything they could think of. It was just awful.

RITCHIE: You mentioned earlier that there was a story about a woman who suspected a break-in.
What was the story behind that?

MCCLURE: Wéll, it was during the Butler investigation, the Maryland eection. Grace Johnson was
the clerk of the Rules Committee and an old pro, had been here many years, knew her job. One night
she was working late, seven o'clock | think; she locked the door and was typing or whatever, when she
heard arattling a the door. Someone was trying to break in. So she caled the Capitol Police, who
took their time coming. They came and there wasn't anybody there of course. So she asked the
policeman to get her some supper, which he did, and she spent the night. And a couple of times
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there were atempts to get in. She would turn on the light and begin typing and pick up the phone, and it
would stop. But whoever it was was trying to get hold of the documents involving this casein
Maryland. No other thing would have been worth trying to sted. Plus minutes of the executive meetings
and anything dse, | suppose, that he could lay his hands on. But he didn't get in; she was a brave girl.

RITCHIE: So Gillettes last act as a senator was to vote for McCarthy's censure.

MCCLURE: Tha'sright, and that may be the time to more or less wrap up my time with Senator
Gillette. The very fact that the Senate had to return for a specid session to deal with the Watkins
Committee resolution on McCarthy provided something that 1'd otherwise not have had: accessto dl
senators offices, because | too had been unseated and would not have a job after January 3 of the
coming yesr.

It was during that time that | made many effortsin trying to see various senators, but the successful one
was Ligter Hill, who was inheriting the chairmanship of the Senate Labor Committee. The ranking
Democrat in the 83rd Congress was James Murray of Montana, who was a so the ranking Democrat
on Interior. He had been running in that same ‘54 eection, and had promised his people in Montana
that he would take chairmanship of the Interior Committee, which would
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handle more matters of importance to Montana than does the Labor Committee. So that meant Senator
Hill, who stood second behind Murray, inherited the chairmanship. Held been on the committee from
the beginning, | think from the beginning, | think since he came to the Senate in '38, but had not yet
reached the top.

Wi, he had no staff member on the committee. Senators didn't in those days. The chairman had his
own man, of course, or two, and the minority member had his one or two staff, and then there were a
few professionaswho stayed around al the time. So it was obvious that he needed a staff director, or
chief clerk asthetechnicd titleis, and cast about. | know for sure that most of the weight that
determined him to select me came from his adminigtrative assstant, Charles Brewton. Charlieand |
worked together during that Tidelands battle. He had more or less been the back-behind-the-scenes
organizer of the caucus and the inventory of the oil-for-education amendment, which | think | told you
was used as a device to forestal complete loss of the Continenta Shelf. | had done much of the public
relations and speech work and radio connections and so on for that group. Charlie had been impressed
with the job, and we'd won, in asense. While | had not met Senator Hill in any forma way, I'd been
around him a bit during dl that struggle, and he had enormous respect for Guy Gillette, too, who of
course was very strong in my corner. So on Christmas Eve Charlie got a phone cal from Montgomery,
Alabama "Tel Stewart to show up on
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January 1<, or whatever day he's free." Wow, it was a great day, agreat Christmas!

So then | became Senator Hill's chief clerk. | wasfirgt given thetitle of saff director. Well, the taff of
the committee at the time was as smd| as the staff of an office at the time, thiswas 1955. We had
fourteen people on the g&ff, four of them on the minority sde and ten on the mgority Sde. There were
three mgority professionals. | considered mysdlf one, because somebody had to handle alot of
legidation if the other two gentlemen couldn't. Jack Forsythe was the general counsdl, and William
Reidy was the hedth man, and dl the other legidation we divvied up among us. Jack was good on |abor
matters and had had experience with the House Committee on education matters. Those were the three
big fields, but we had veterans legidation, juvenile ddinquency, arts and humanities, mine safety, an
unbelievable list of stuff under the rubric of public welfare. God, if they couldn't think of where dseto
send it they sent it to the Labor Committee! The Committee was | think then thirteen, we had a
one-vote mgority, seven to six. One of the minority was aliberal Republican, [Irving] Ives.

Ives |eft, retired | guess. He was very ill and died shortly thereafter; very nice man. So on liberd
-conservative splits we would lose [Strom] Thurmond, who was then technically a Democrat, and pick
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up lves, and sometimes a moderate like H. Alexander Smith,
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though he was a professiona Republican, God knows, an Eisenhower supporter and finance chairman
in New Jersey, | think, but a decent old man. We had some incredible people on that committee at
varioustimes. And it was greet theeter. Paul Douglas was aboard. [Hubert] Humphrey had gotten off,
unfortunately, just before | came on. | would have loved to have worked with Humphrey. [Wayne]
Morse was on the committee; later on [Joseph] Clark, [Jennings] Randolph, [Water] Mondae, well
the ligt is quite consderable.

RITCHIE: John Kennedy was on the committee, too.

MCCLURE: Jack Kennedy was there. He was the last Democrat, well, Thurmond was a so-called
Democrat. Yes, Jack was the chairman of the Railroad Retirement Subcommittee--and hated it. What
is there to do there? Well, he probably wished he till had it when he took on the Labor Subcommittee
with Landrum-Griffin afew years later, which was ared buzz-saw. Out of which he made some
capital, | think, but it was atough one. Y es, we had quite a committee. Oh, we had Matt Nedly of
West Virginia

RITCHIE: You had Barry Goldwater.
MCCLURE: No, not quite that early, | think. I'll haveto look at theligt. It changed every two yearsto

some degree. Douglas |eft and went to Finance, which was very sad. He was an extremely able senator
and we needed him because of his broad economic
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background. A lot of the materid we were dedling with affected economics and nobody redly was as
qudified to ded with it as he was. And then Thurmond left us, unfortunately, in due course, and became
aRepublican.

But to go back to the gaff, when Thurmond was assgned he was given the Veterans Affars
Subcommittee. And he stormed right in to Senator Hill and said, "I gotta have gaff!" Thiswas the first
break-through. Other senators had mumbled and muttered, but nobody had gotten anything yet. Well,
Senator Hill knew he had to keep Thurmond more or less happy, if he could, because he was going to
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be akey figure a times. So he gavein and we hired a chap from South Carolina, named Fred
Blackwdl. | don't think Thurmond knew what he was getting, because he caled up alaw firmin
Columbia and they'd recommended Blackwell. We were wondering who held be, because held be
gtting with us and working on the staff. So Jack Forsythe and | took him to lunch over a Mike PAm's
thefirgt day, and hisfirg question was, "How's the minimum wage law doing?' Hah! It was up that year
for extenson or an increase, from adollar to adollar and a quarter, | think. That was hisfirdt interest!
Wi, he did hisjob for Thurmond, and damn well, he was a good lawyer. But his politics were asfar
removed from those of Thurmond as mine.

He was a fine addition to the gtaff. It was he who cooked up the "Peacetime G.I. Bill" asit was called.
He got Thurmond to
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introduce it, which was pretty strange. It never went anywhere while Thurmond was there, but [Raph]

Y arborough then came in and made it his mgor palitical action up here, and ultimately succeeded. He
hammered and hammered and hammered, and findly it went through, especidly as the Vietnam casudty
lists began coming in. Wdll, that's another long story.

But we did expand, and then once or twice we took on consultants, either lent to us by the Labor
Department or paid for by the committee, on technica things. One guy came | think from the Labor
Department, his question was the economic impact of increasing the wage and how much
unemployment would increase, and how many smdl businesses would be driven to the wal, and dl that
Republican questioning that was going on. Held been down in the Department for years and knew all
the figures and could get more if we needed them. So it stayed pretty tight for many years. We had the
offices where the present parliamentarian Sts.

RITCHIE: Inthe Capitol Building?
MCCLURE: In the Capitol, which was very nice. Five seconds and you were on the floor, if you had
to be. | had an office with no window, it was the second one in. But that was dl right, | had a separate

door | could escape through. The committee room was a handsome room, with the usua chandelier
and fireplace. And then athird room, which is where the Executive clerk now dts, was in the back
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where there was one window near the celling looking out on a court, or an inset from the West Front, a
pretty gloomy place, too. But so centra and easy to operate from. The Secretary of the Senate and the
Library of the Senate and everything was right near by. Well, you work over there, you know how
convenient it is

RITCHIE: Wasthere a hearing room nearby?

MCCLURE: We had the Old Supreme Court Chamber.

RITCHIE: Wasthat permanently assgned to you?

MCCLURE: Yes. What aroom! Not the way it looks now. Thiswas before they restored it. It had
been the Senatetill they build the new Senate wing.

RITCHIE: In 1859.

MCCLURE: Right, and then it was the Supreme Court, until they built the new Court building.
RITCHIE: In 1935.

MCCLURE: The Court wasfirst below, in that beautiful room just beneath the old Senate chamber.
They then used the upstairs room, on the second floor until *35. It was a Lister Hill's instance that an
effort to turn it into what it had originally been was made by John Stennis, who was then chairman of
the Legidative Appropriations
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Subcommittee. He was proposing to restore it into what it had been when the Supreme Court sat there.
| went to Lister Hill and said something to the effect that "I think that's a bad mistake. The Supreme
Court isn't in very good order at this moment in the South, and furthermore that's where the Senate met,
and where Henry Clay and Daniel Webster and John C. Calhoun, and John Randol ph, and Stephen
Douglas and dl the great senators of the early nineteenth century made their great speeches.” Well, he
thought | was right and went to Stennis and they revised the scheme to go back and make the chamber
into what it had been and what it istoday. Boy, it is beautiful! | stopped in there just aday or two ago.

It wasn't as beautiful as that when we had it, but it was great. Except it was drafty. Lister Hill didn't like
cold drafts and there was something coming out of the celling, | think it was the air conditioning.
"Stewart will you get this place warmed up!™ What could | do? Wed have an engineer up and held
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tinker, but it never worked. But it was a good hearing room because it had along dais, where the nine
judtices had sat, and it had a back room behind where we findly set up a couple of staff people,
because we had no more office space. That's where we put Fred Blackwell and his secretary. But in
that old room we had al our hearings and al our executive sessons. Once in awhile it would be taken
away from usfor an officia banquet given by the president of the Senate or the Foreign Relations
Committee or something.

page 68

RITCHIE: So the staff members in those days worked for everyone? They didn't divide it up so that
one gaff member worked for each subcommittee? Or how did they divide it up?

MCCLURE: Wdl, in effect, both. We had a subcommittee on hedth which Bill Reidy handled asthe
gaff man. We had a subcommittee on labor but we didn't have a staff man for it, except from timeto
time a consultant. Forsythe handled that. We had a subcommittee on education, which he aso handled.
We had a subcommittee on veteran's affairs, which prior to Fred | had handled. Railroad retirement,
and one or two little specid ones, juvenile ddinquency, and arts, which | would handle. For along time
there wasn't much to it redlly; there were afew hearings and then the bills would die. Well, we got a
juvenile ddinquency hill findly, and many, many years later the arts and humanities legidation.

RITCHIE: How would the members of the committee, particularly the subcommittee chairmen, make
use of the permanent saff?

MCCLURE: Wél, the chairman of the education subcommittee was Senator Murray, and hewas, I'm
afrad, in his dotage about the time | met him. Lovely gentleman, but he was quite senile. He had perfect
memory of everything that took place under Franklin D. Roosevdt, but not as much more recent. His
son, Charlie Murray, who was on his persona staff as adminigtrative assstant, redly was the senator, in
effect, for the last severd years. Bill Reidy had
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worked for Senator Murray, so Murray had both his son and Bill aswell as Forsythe to ded with if he
had to put his mind to doing something in the Education Subcommittee. And the other chairmen would
just--I'd show up if it was my domain, and say, "Here | am senator, anything you want done, let me
know." And that's the way it would work. Nobody ingsted on having his own staff man. Later on they
did, God knows, as the ballooning began. When | |eft there were a hundred and fourteen!
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RITCHIE: | dso noticed in the directories they did list the minority counsd for that committee,
whereas alot of other committees didn't list any minority staff people. And the minority in some
committees didn't get Saff assistance until the 1970s.

MCCLURE: | know. We dways had them.

RITCHIE: Wasit exclusve that the minority staff worked for the minority and the rest of the staff
worked for the mgority?

MCCLURE: Yes.
RITCHIE: And there was no cross-over?
MCCLURE: Oh, there could be, of course, if there were senators from both sides working on a

common project. Sure there would be collaboration. The minority had a staff room up on the third floor
of the Senate wing, beautiful big room. There were four of them, the
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generd counsd, the minority staff director, and two girls. Then when the Democrats were in the
minority--before my time fortunately, and after--we, the Democrats went upstairs and cut back to four.
But there was just one such occurrence in the 83rd. During the time | was on the committee we were
never in the minority. | wouldn't alow it!

RITCHIE: In 1955 Senator Hill made the Salk vaccine one of hisbig issues.

MCCLURE: Yes, hedid.

RITCHIE: Freevaccinesto dl children, and the Eisenhower administration said no, that would be
"socidized medicing” . . . .

MCCLURE: Oveta Culp Hobby didn't like it. We burned her.
RITCHIE: Wél, how did he mobilize the s&ff for a big issue like that?
M CCL URE: Bill Redy.

RITCHIE: It would just be one person?
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MCCLURE: Wéll, he handled the substance. | managed the hearings, in atechnica, physical pulling
together. | think Bill chose most of the withesses, and so did the senator. He knew whom he wanted.
Lister Hill loved doctors, and he loved to have awitness
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whom he could cdl "Doctor.” There were dways doctorsin the audience and on the witnesslist.
RITCHIE: So part of your job was getting the witnesses together?

MCCLURE: Wdl, inthis case, Snceit was the charman's specid fied, and Bill Reidy was the expert,
| didn't select any witnesses, or even suggest any. | would handle the invitations, you know. In those
days we had a private reporting firm, Ward and Paul. They had to be called, and by God they better be
there at the right moment, and sometimes they weren't--and it was hdll. And the usua copies of the
gatements that had to be collected in advance and distributed to members and dl the usud manageria
details of running a hearing, but the substance was handled by Bill and the chairman. Now, another hill,
which well go into another time, the Nationd Defense Education Act, | had ahell of alot to do with.
RITCHIE: Did you handle publicity for the Labor Committee?

MCCLURE: Wedidnt have any.

RITCHIE: Didn't have any?

MCCLURE: No, there were no releases.

RITCHIE: | guessthe press paid attention no matter what.
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MCCLURE: Wdl that, or the chairman would come out of the meeting and tell them what happened.
Or the minority spokesman would tell them their verson, which was perfectly dl right. And sometimes
they'd stand together and corroborate each other's statements.

RITCHIE: You certainly came out on top in the debate over the Salk vaccine. Reading back over that
it made Mrs. Hobby and the Eisenhower administration look like Scrooge.
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MCCLURE: Not only that, but the next year we passed a genera vaccine bill for the mgor children's
diseases. No problem then. No, they didn't want that fight again!
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End of Interview #2
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WITH LISTER HILL ON THE LABOR COMMITTEE
Interview #3
Tuesday, January 11, 1983

RITCHIE: I'd like to start with afocus on Lister Hill, who does not fit the stereotype of a Southern
Democrat in the 1950s.

MCCLURE: Hardly.
RITCHIE: How do you explain somebody like Ligter Hill?

MCCLURE: Oh, wel now, that's not going to be easy. He was a very complicated man, as any big
public figure has to be. He can't be a monotonous, sngle-level person. He aso was extremdy intdlligent
and had a good education and had read a great dedl. His horizons were far wider than those of the
typical Southerner, or even typica American. Y ou have no doubt read his biographicad materid so |
won't go into al that, but as aresult of his early education and legd training he drifted toward politics.
He became amember of the Montgomery city school board. There's an interesting background to that,
| understand, though none of these facts | can vouch for persondly. Thiswas about 1918, after the first
World War.

His mother was a Cathalic; | don't think he went to parochia school but he wasin the church. And it
was decided that that wasn't a very favorable public aspect to have in the days when the Klan was
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reviving and anti-Catholicism was dmost as strong as anti-blackism in the South. So he changed his
religion, or publicly identified with whatever hisfather had been, Protestant of some sort. | don't know
which sect. But his great-grandfather, who came from North Carolina, was a preacher. There were
preachersin the family dl along, though Lister's father was a doctor, surgeon. But anyway, in order to
present himself to the hard shelled people of Montgomery for the school board he became a Protestant,
though | don't think he practiced religion very vigoroudy. It was a politica gesture, | think, basicaly.

He had aso once wanted to be adoctor. He enormoudly admired his father, who was the first
open-heart surgeon. He picked up a black boy who had been stabbed in the heart and sewed him
up-remarkable first operation of that kind anywhere in theworld | guess. The father named Lister Hill
after Joseph Lidter, the great English doctor (not the father of Listering!). Hill is named Joseph Lister
Hill, but he never used Joseph. He could have taken a medica education, but he went to watch his
father perform arather bloody operation one time and it so shocked him--he was a young boy or a
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young man--that it just turned him off completely. He could have become some other kind of a doctor
than a surgeon, but he didn't. He became alawyer--he never practiced law either, to my knowledge,
even briefly. Hewasin the war as a captain of infantry and pretty soon after the war went on the school
board. Then came to Congress, very
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early, ‘23 or ‘24, meaning when he left in '68 held been here forty-five years, which isavery long term.
| guess Carl Hayden had alonger one.

RITCHIE: About fifty years.

MCCLURE: Yes, but | don't know of anybody else who has that much, House and Senate. So you
have an educated man from a professona family, with great intelligence and breadth of vison. He
wasn't cut in the mold of the typica red-neck Southern congressman or even senator. He married well,
into avery disinguished family.

In the days when his great-grandfather came to Montgomery, the way asmdl city or town would
engage the services of a preacher was to give him land, and they gave the Hill family a big parcd of land
in now what isthe heart of downtown Montgomery. So they had alarge amount of money forever, and
asolid investment in land. He never lacked for money. In fact, he never raised campaign funds until the
campaign got o terribly expensive later on that he did have to go outside his own resources. So there
again he'sin the aristocracy, S0 to peak, to the extent there is any in this country: good family, large
fortune, fine background, everything. Nothing in his early life would have made him anything other than
what he became: respected citizen, veteran, everything, couldn't miss. Of course, | didn't know himin
the House. | didn't know him even in the Senate
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until 1955. By then held been there since * 38 and he was one of the top powersin the body.

Hisred interest in legidation, other than things for Alabama, and TVA, and changing the basing point in
ged pricing and that sort of thing, was education: vocationd education and any other kind of educeation.
And just about the time he was to inherit the Labor Committee, which handled dl the legidation
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affecting education, the Brown decision came down and the segregationists went mad. George Wallace
wasn't governor, but the mood in Alabamawas that it was no time for the federa government to put its
fingersinto public education. He was driven off of it, except for the NDEA, which was wrapped in the
flag and safe. That's why he turned to hedth--well, he was dso interested init, of course. His father
brought him up in amedica atmosphere. But it did afford him avast fidd of action that supplanted what
he would have preferred, | think, the fild of education.

But whatever he was doing he was using the full cgpacities of hismind, to apply them to abig public
problem. He was a senator who took his papers home. He read bills and amendments and reports, and
when he went to the floor of the Senate as the manager of abill he knew everything that wasin that bill,
every question that could possibly be asked and what the answers were. He had enormous pride in his
own intdlectud capacity, his enlightenment, his expertise,
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and to be caught without knowing the answers was unthinkable. Hed grill the staff at meetings before
we went to the floor till he knew everything that they knew, and probably even more, too, because he
was in touch with al sorts of other people, lobbyists and influentid people in the hedth field. He was
friends with dl the great doctors.

One of hisgreet colleagues outsde the Senate was Mary Lasker, of whom you may have heard. They
were friends and politica dlies. She gave her political money with a cold-blooded eye to results,
epecidly in raisng money for the newly growing Nationd Ingtitutes of Hedlth, with which Lister was
greatly involved. Shed give money provided the man would say "Yes, I'll vote for any gppropriations
possible for the NIH." Well, that brought her closeto Ligter Hill and he could use her influence to assst
himin his operations.

He was an extremdy skillful legidator. | suspect, without having full knowledge about everybody who
served here, that he probably is the greatest single legidator of this century, in terms of volume, in terms
of impact, in terms of breadth of interest, and in terms of kill in cresting laws. It's hard to creste alaw.
It can take years to enact anew idea. He used to say to me after some meeting where we've made one
step, adopted one amendment, or even gotten a quorum, "Well, Stewart, we're on our way!" He loved
it, the
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process, another step up that ladder. He just got a tremendous thrill out of effecting a changein this
place; it's not easy.

He was s0 skillful in sdlecting his dlies. The famous Hill Burton act, for ingance, Hospitd Survey and
Congtruction Act. Senator [Harold] Burton, Republican of Ohio, had nothing to do with thet bill. In
fact, when it was on its way through Congress he went to the Supreme Court. But Hill wanted a
Republican name on there, and this was a good one; he was a decent fellow and willing to go dong.
Later he played the same games with Styles Bridges, and Bridges, of course, was presumably a starch,
rigid, conservative Republican. But Hill got him to go on to severd big hedth hills, chronic disease and
I've forgotten what ese, they're adl mentioned in the Record.

Like so many good senators, capable senators, he touched dl the bases. Before any meeting of a
subcommittee or committee he knew where everybody was going to stand on everything. He talked to
them on the phone. The meetings may as well not have been held, in a sense, not that they voted on the
phone, but the consensus grew and he knew where he was going to land up, and where the pits were
and the barricades that had to be surmounted. He had an extraordinarily good intelligence
system--staff, other senators, other committee people hed known for yearsin the House, and
everywhere ese plus downtown, HEW. He had extremely good relations with dl the
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middle-level bureaucrats who run the programs, the legidative representatives, and so forth.

So he navigated through these choppy waters with great skill and never went aground, never o
Sometimes he couldn't get a thing through when he wanted to, but that was just because the time wasn't
ripe and he hadn't marshaed enough strength, but in the end he won them dl. | think he was the
greatest legidator, and to me, what an opportunity. 1'd been here six years by then but still--working for
Senator Gillette was a peripherd thing. Here | wasin the heart of the purpose of thisingtitution, passing
laws, under the tutorid direction of the grestest of them all. It was atota education. Every time
something happened, a new door was opened. Managing the committee, of course, was part of it.

He knew the biographies of every member of the Senate, to the degree he needed to. He knew
everything about the members of the committee before they even got here. | remember making a fool
of mysdlf once when Senator [Claiborne] Pell had just come aboard the committee in '58 | think it was.
| jocularly said to Senator Hill, "Wdll, you've got another Southerner from Rhode Idand.” And he sad,
"Oh, you mean Claiborne's Louisiana connections. | know al about that. " Of course he did. And Joe
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Clark's Louisana connections. He had them all. It was just remarkable. He kept that big volume of the
annotated biographies of members right behind his desk
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and would pull it down, "When did he get here?' Just had them dl fixed in place with relation to him and
each other. He was great, too, because he loved what he was doing. He didn't want to go home, or go
to Europe, or go back to palitick. He wanted to pass laws. Thiswas his heaven on earth.

RITCHIE: Was he a particularly demanding person to work for?

MCCLURE: Oh, boy! | never worked for atougher boss. | don't mean he was bruta or anything like
that, he was hardly that, but demanding isn't the word for it. | used to write statements and sometimes
speeches, as everybody does around here. | remember the first two or three, he kept them for weeks
and sent them back al scribbled on: "What do you mean?' and "Where did you get that fact?' Or held
cadl mein and wed haveto go over it; but he used them anyway. Findly | discovered the trick. He was
afraid that | had just dictated these speechesto my secretary and never reread them afterwards. That
must have happened to him, as it does to many; he was getting fresh copy, and the author, the ghost,
hasn't even read the fina script, and the senator is going to get up and read it. So | would go through
the finished copy with a pen or pencil and make changes, which Sgnded him that, yes, I'd been over it,
and reassured him that at least the ghost knew what he was saying.

Then, of course, as to being demanding, this whole business of preparing to go to the floor, or evento a
committee meeting, the
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gaff dl had to know everything that was going to happen if they could find it out and give him the
answers. He had smdll patience with fools, | would say, but he didn't show it. He was a grest

gentleman.

RITCHIE: You sad once a lunch that things changed when you moved from the Capitol to the
Dirksen Building, that he was now in the office right next door to you.
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MCCLURE: Yes, | was about asfar from him dtting a my desk as| am from the door to your office
over there on the corridor. He had a system of phones. Hed lift one and it would ring on my desk, Jack
Forsythe's desk, and the hedlth guy's desk, Bill Reidy and later Bob Barkley. Wed dl grabit: "Yes,
ar!" And hedd say whoever he wanted to talk to or dl of us. "Stewart, come in here!” He was deep
South, but he didn't have adrawl. He had a clipped accent. It wasn't "Steewwart,”" it was"St'rt," kind
of abark. There are many Southern accents; his was aristocratic and quite clipped. The vowels were
clipped, of course, but he didn't dur or drop consonants. He was an actor, too, as of course, they d |
are. He had great higtrionic gifts. He was an orator before the days when oratory died out around here
and they al read their speeches.

Wi, these phones would ring and we'd jump, maybe one, two, or three of us, and dl | had to do was
open my door and walk across and open his. He had the corner office. It was atypica new Senate
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Office Building office: bookcases, carpeting, unopenable windows, big desk, but nothing of the quality
and character of those grand old offices in the Russell Building. He didn't want to move over here, but
al the committee chairmen--dmogt al--did, under great pressure, as they are now using, | guess, to get
senators to move to the Hart Building, twidting their arms off. | think they dl did findly, [Richard]
Russdl, [Carl] Hayden, I'm not sure about Hayden, he may have stayed in the Capitol. After dl, he was
president pro tempore.

RITCHIE: Did they dl take offices next to their committee rooms?

MCCLURE: That wasthe idea. Of course, when there was a change in chairmen that system broke
down quickly. But for quite atime the chairmen stayed the same.

RITCHIE: Hill was essentidly aliberd senator, and yet he represented one of the most conservative
dates. What kind of problems did that pose for him?

MCCLURE: Wél, | would amend your question to say: Why did Alabama have such aliberd
ddegation in the *50s? [John] Sparkman, Carl Elliott, Bob Jones, Albert Rains. There were Six
members of Congress from Alabama, they were the most liberal delegation of any state in the country. |
don't understand it, redly, except that at
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the time they were eected, the issues in the South were economic, pulling themselves up, needing
federa help, public works, and other things. These men knew how to get it and could work up here
effectively. When the race issue arose in virulent form in the * 60s they al became vulnerable.

Ligter Hill dmogt logt hiseection in *62. | think he won by 700 votes or something incredibly close.
Sparkman seemed to have survived without difficulty, of course he had a different congtituency.
Senators have different congtituenciesin their own states, as you know. Lister Hill's was based on the
county judges, his organization. I've forgotten how many there were, ninety or so. And these gentlemen
were dl young men with him, and al grew old with him, and then they began to die out and the base of
his organization began to fritter away. He didn't know the new judges. They a the time had been the
political leaders of each county. Sparkman, | don't know what he based his organization on, some other
condtituency. He's from north Alabama, which isamore liberd area, more modern anyway. So was
Elliott, so was Jones, the bloc of congressmen from the northern part of the state were more liberd than
the others. So | think that's one explanation. These men were responding to the kind of issues that
bothered the people of Alabama after the war, until the race thing came, and then they were not. Now
the state is mostly Republican.
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RITCHIE: Hill sgned the Southern Manifesto againgt the Supreme Court . . . .

MCCLURE: They dl did.

RITCHIE: Bascdly came out againg Civil Rights legidation, voted againg the Act of 1957.. ..
MCCLURE: But if you read his speeches, he never was araci<.

RITCHIE: | waswondering if this was basicdly the bottom line of what he had to do to get dected?
MCCLURE: Yes, they dl did. [J. William] Fulbright and everybody. They couldn't sland out done
againg this pressure. But Hill's proposition was gtrictly congtitutional. He wouldn't let aword of racism
appear in his speeches. He didn't wring the damn bloody rag or anything of that sort, whatever the
expression is. He never "niggered” or "outsegged” anybody. It was atragic time for people like Russll.

He could have been presdent, | think, but he was pardyzed. Well, he wasn't paralyzed in the Senate, |
don't mean that. But | mean poalitically, as a potentid president.
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Lister Hill was consdered apresdentia candidatein '48, | think, and he was dso considered for
Mg ority Leader, and didn't fed he dared take it, even that early. Maybe I'm overstressng whether he
dared or not, but anyway he didn't. Well, of course,
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Tennessee had [Albert] Gore and [Estes] Kefauver, and pretty libera congressmen, but it's still not
deep South compared with Alabama, and Missssippi, and Georgia. Yes, | think he had to be much
more careful as these years went on. | remember him coming back from the '62 ection and talking to
me after amesting. Y ou could see he was shaken, he had just barely squeaked in. I've forgotten his
exact words, but their implication was, "Well, from here on you're not going to recognize me in many
cases.” | knew what he meant.

RITCHIE: He changed his voting?

MCCLURE: Yes, he had to. He had to be very careful in every bill that was reported out. Y ou
remember the Powe | amendment that was always raised by Adam Powell, the anti -segregation
amendment to any education bill. That was another reason for Lister to stay out of the education field;
weld have to tangle with that issue every time we went to the floor, or to a conference with the House.

RITCHIE: | dso noted that he didn't seem to be associated with labor issues as much as with medica
iSsues.

MCCLURE: No, he was not happy with labor issues. The labor movement in Alabama was not very
powerful. There was one, of course, sted workersin Birmingham and other kinds of organized labor,
but they were not anything like they are in Northern states, whereas organized businessis pretty damn
strong. He told me once when
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[A.S] Monroney was proposing to plit the committee into labor and educetion, two different
committees, areorganization act that never occurred--1 broke my neck stopping that one--but Lister
didn't give adamn. He was going to retire; thiswasin '68 | guess. He said, "Wadll, | never wanted to
bother with this labor stuff anyway.”
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On the other hand, when he first came to the Senate and wasin a primary race, the House had passed
the Fair Labor Standards bill, and the senators from the South were waiting to see what happened to
Ligter Hill in this primary because it was an issue there. He had a greet line about how he couldn't see
why Southern workers shouldn't be just aswell paid as workers in the North. He won and, therefore,
the senators who wanted to go for the bill but were worried about its popularity in the South went
aong, too, and it became law. It was that test election that involved him in alabor matter before he
even got here.

RITCHIE: The mog interesting thing about the '50s is that the biggest labor investigation was the
McClelan Racketeering Committee. . . .

MCCLURE: Sure.

RITCHIE: Which had some Labor Committee members on, but McClelan wasn't a Labor
Committee member . . ..
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MCCLURE: No, there were four from Government Op [Government Operations Committee].

RITCHIE: And they got the public attention. | would have thought that the chairman of the Labor
Committee would have wanted to bein the limdight on athing like thet, but it was McClelan not Hill
who chaired the specia committee.

MCCLURE: Senator Hill never had any desire to make big splashes and investigations. That was not
his style. He was not a prosecutor. He didn't enjoy that kind of stuff, and that's what this was going to
be. They were out to get IJmmy Hoffa. We had four members on the committee, [Pat] McNamarawas
one, | remember, I've forgotten the other three.

RITCHIE: Kennedy and Goldwater were on, | know.

MCCLURE: Yes, but there were four, and who the fourth one was | don't remember. But, of course,
the results of the McCldlan investigation ended up with Landrum-Griffin, and that we did handle. Just
asan adde, in ‘56 or something, Senator Jack Kennedy was a member of the committee and Bill
Reidy, who was our helth man, and |, and Charlie Brewton, who was Ligter's AA, got very interested
in the problems of the aging, as a political question. We got Wilbur Cohen who was then | think &t the
University of Michigan --remember he was one of the founders of the Socid Security System and was
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later Secretary
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of HEW, agreat man, terrific person--to conduct a survey of the literature on the aging, gerontology
and geriarics and everything dse involved. We published a bunch of volumes on it, and Senator Hill
creeted a specia subcommittee on aging with Pat McNamara, who was the oldest man on the
committee as chairman. McNamararedly wasn't much interested in being a senator; he just went
through here kind of putting up with it, but he liked this subject and worked on it.

But before Senator Hill appointed him, he asked us to suggest some other senators who might be
interested. We dl said Jack Kennedy; he's the youngest member, and an enormous percentage of the
people in Massachusetts and New England generdly are older, older than the rest of the population. |
mean, the proportion is greater in New England, except in lowa. Maybe Cdifornia and Florida now,
but in those days it made sense palitically, and it was a beautiful issue; he couldn't get hurt doing it. So
Bill and | went to see Ted Sorenson, who was Kennedy's legidative aide, and we laid it out, the greeat
prospects for this young man. I'll never forget Sorenson saying, with agrimnessin his voice: " Senator
Kennedy will never be interested in the problems of the aging. Thank you very much." Of course, the
election of 1960 involved just that question, to alarge extent. And then Kennedy wound up as
chairman of the Labor Subcommittee and had to have al this awful Landrum-Griffin tuff. | didn't think
Sorenson advised him wisdly at thet time. Because

page 89

McNamara would have ended up with Labor; in fact he did ultimately. Ah, that was funny!

RITCHIE: Was there much interaction between the saff of the committee and the staff of senators
who were members?

MCCLURE: Oh, absolutely. | madeit apoint, and | think most of them did, too, to become very
good friends with every adminigtrative assstant, and every legidative assstant, and secretary if possible.
All of them in Democratic offices and the top guys in the Republican offices, too. Sure, and that went
for the minority staff dso. We were dways close. We fought like demons on issues but we were friends
and there was none of that knifing that can go on when staffs are not collaborating. But | think Senator
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Hill just set the tone or the atmaosphere of it, to do things and not fight with each other.

| remember the very first evidence of that was after I'd been named staff director. Bill Reidy had been
there quite along time and he was a professond staff member. He became furious and went to see the
chairman and said, "That job is caled chief clerk, and | don't want Stewart McClure to be directing me
as the saff director.” So Senator Hill called mein and told me this. | said, "Wdl it doesnt make any
difference to me what thetitle is, Senator, chief clerk isthe officid title anyway, let's make me chief
clerk." Wéll, that settled that, but | could see that he didn't want
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any of thisslly internecine backbiting and so forth. Of course there was some later, but not then. And
that's the way he operated generally. | made it a point to know everybody whom | could possibly have
need to cal on. You seg, | had to poll the committee frequently when they broke up before afind vote.
| had to know whom to call and how to get him to act. Many of them would act on my say so, or I'd
say, "Senator Hill wantsthis"" "Oh, well, sure."

RITCHIE: Would you deal with the senator or with the senator's assstant?

MCCLURE: No, | tried to be as anonymous as possible. Some staff people spend alot of time
currying favor with senators, becoming pals with them. | didn't fed that was redly my role. That was
Senator Hill'srole. My job was to work with the staff. Of course, if Senator Hill said "Please go ask
Senator [Jennings] Randolph something, | naturdly did it. But normdly it was done on two levels. Of
course, it made the staff members of the senators happy because they knew what was going on.
There's nothing worse than to have your senator taking a position that you didn't know he was going to
take, because he talked to somebody on the staff of a committee. That's not good. Y ou can't win just
one battle here, you might lose seven othersright afterwards.

RITCHIE: Inthe‘50s, when you started out, the Congress was for the most part controlled by the
Democrats, with the exception of
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the 83rd, at least the whole time you were on the Labor Committee saff the Democrats werein the
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mgority. But the administration was Republican . . . .
MCCLURE: Yes until Kennedy.

RITCHIE: Did that make the committee more independent? What were the relations between the
Democratic Labor Committee and the Republican administration?

MCCLURE: Wdll, of course it varied with the secretaries of Labor and HEW, in the case of our
committee. Senator Hill aways tried to be collaborative with who were they; Im Mitchdl in the Labor
Department, Folsom, and Mrs. Hobby--that was alittle more difficult. But on the working level, below
the secretary and assstant secretary level, unless there was such a deep policy salit that the guys
downtown couldn't open their mouths, or we didn't want to tell them something, we worked pretty well
with them, on agreat many hills, hedth bills especidly. When we were doing something about extending
and improving the Fair Labor Standards Act, the Labor Department lent us a specidist, atechnica guy
who worked on it. And they would supply any kind of information. There was amost never any
hiding--well, it had nothing to do with nationa security, you know, and we weren't dedling with
hypersensitive issues, though some of them were paliticaly sengtive. Other saff men may have had
different relations than | did.
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| didn't like their policies frequently, but the people we were dedling with were after dl mostly
bureaucrats who had been here and would be here, and they did their very best to supply whatever we
wanted. There was afamous guy in the Education Office, cdled Lilly-white, he knew dl about the most
abstruse education law thereis: impacted aid. That's legidation that grants federd fundsto digtricts
where there are military ingalations and defense plants that sop up some of the taxable property. There
are different categories of children, and--oh, it was just a madhouse. But old Lilly-white knew it cold.
He could lead us through this minefield, and there were guys like that in many sections, Food and Drug
and other mysterious places-we handled that, of course. Y ou can get lost in technicalities there.

| think the only time we had red trouble, and it wasn't due to the Democrats, was a bill involving federa
mine safety standards. Senator Joseph Clark, coming from Pennsylvania, was promoting a
strengthening of the safety precautions, but [John Sherman] Cooper, who was from Kentucky and who
was on the committee as a Republican, rose in defense of the eastern Kentucky small mine operators
who cant afford any kind of safety provisons. They dig a hole in the Side of amountain and maybe
have five employees, and their mines are dways collgpsing and it's aterribly dangerous kind of work.
But to bring them under federd regulation, Cooper clamed, would just put them al out of business.
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They couldn't possibly ingdl dl the
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timbers and gas gauges and everything ese. So he put up afabulous struggle, and of course the great
John L. Lewiswas gill around and the mine workers were banging dl the doors. Alabamahad alot of
cod mines, too, so we had lots of pressure from them, and West Virginia, and so forth. Well, we had
hearings and the Cod Mine Safety Board was resistant to this. We didn't need any more regulations
was the line of the adminigration. They didn't want deregulation, they just didn't want any more.

Cooper prevailed on Senator Hill as chairman of the full committee to have the head of the Mine Safety
Board come up and "give usthefacts™ Boy, it was like pulling teeth. He just was S0 resistant--he was
under orders in effect not to talk, and so were his gaff. So findly the committee dismissed him because
they were just getting nothing and Cooper was at his wits end because the Democrats had the votes
and were going to report it. It was late in the sesson. So the old fox pulled out a bunch of handwritten
amendments, in ink, and spread them in front of him, and then knocked over the water pitcher. That
was the end of the meeting! They couldn't proceed. | loved that.

But that was a case where the adminitration would not get involved. The same thing happened later

with black lung. They were very resstant to make payments for that dreadful disease. But they findly
gavein. | think you get these conflicts where powerful
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business interests have alock on some aspect of the Department in question, or powerful medica
interests such as the AMA [American Medica Association] or a hospital association. Then the
adminigtration, a Republican adminigtration particularly, can become very sticky because they're under
the gun from the people who paid for the dection. I'd have to redly reflect to give you more on it than |
have.

RITCHIE: Wdl you have a conservative Republican adminigration, and ardatively liberd Senate.
What about the House? How did they figure into the equation when you were pushing new legidation?
Did you have to assume that the House was going to be more conservative and dug-in on these issues?
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MCCLURE: Yes, indeed. The chairman of the House Committee on Education and Labor was
Graham Barden of North Carolina, atough, thick-necked, immutable, immoveable, rock-ribbed
chairman. He wanted to repedl the Fair Labor Standards Act for the textile mills down there; he didn't
want to increase the minimum wage, he wanted to abolish it, and as for additiona coverage he was for
repedling it back to nothing. Well, he was chairman of the House committee, which meant that he was
in charge of education, too. And he wasn't in favor of federa aid to school construction or teachers
sdaries or anything like that. It was just pulling teeth to get anything through there during the 150s. Of
course he had dlieson his
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committee, he wasn't done, and the mgority of them were liberds but they couldn't do a damn
thing--except be obstreperous like Adam Powel | with his damn amendment.

But there were good men and now [Carl] Perkinsisagreat chairman. | think Powell was a good
chairman, too, before he went fluttering around Bimini. We dedt with the Commerce Committee on
hedlth matters, which of courseisadifferent kind of congtituency al together, different issues. Thereis
no anti-veterans lobby. There are different positions within the organizations, but if you wanted to
gpprove aveterans bill or act you didn't have to fight the NAM [Nationa Association of
Manufacturers] or something to do it. Y ou might have to fight the Treasury Department over money. |
think the chairman of that a the time was this felow from Texas who later became chairman of the
Science Committee, Olin Teague. He and Hill were old friends; Hill knew him in the House. So we'd
have a conference that was like taffy-pulling. | mean, just fun.

But Hill had a bit of trouble with the House Commerce Committee under Oren Harris, even though
everything went through the Senate smooth as glass. Especialy in conferences--of course, House
members come to conferences so damn well prepared, they have no other committees. Senators come
staggering out of one committee and go into a conference and then back to the floor, and it's very hard
to educate them. Well, if you've ever been in a conference you know that the
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senators are one or two and everybody on the House Side is there. They require a quorum of the
conferees on the House side. And do they hate it, to St there twelve of them looking at one senator,
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who speaks for the whole United States Senate!

Of course, once a hill did come over from the House it had gone through the fires of Hell and we didn't
have too much trouble with it. I mean, they were generdly bills that we favored anyway, but never
could get through oursalves coming from the Senate Side. But once it got passed the House, then it was
probably going to become law. Well, al that changed with the departure of Barden and the accesson
of Lyndon [Johnson] to the White House. Then we galloped into the War on Poverty and the Great
Society. | had never seen so much activity in my life around here!l We were passing mgor bills every
week. It was unbdievable. Just agreat dam broke. Everything but nationd hedlth insurance, everything
that had been piled up since Truman plus alot of new stuff. Jesus, it was fun!

RITCHIE: Before we talk about Johnson as president, could you talk alittle about him as mgjority
leader? What kind of dealings did you and the committee have with him in those days?

MCCLURE: Wdl, | had very few dedlings with him. He was atiger up here, there's no question about
it. All in great friendliness and rubbing of the shoulders and pumping of the hands; he was a tough man
of stedl . When he wanted action it generally took
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place. He had a technique he used once or twice. He had Bobby Baker invite dl the staff directors over
for coffee in aroom in the Capitol and then he came in and massaged us, about how important we were
and how we could go back and get our chairmen cracking and get those hills out of committee. We
were al wagging our heads. How did he think we could do it if he couldn't? It was sort of amusing. He
went to any length, in other words to get something moving. Of course, he had the best intelligence
system: Bobby Baker knew what the vote was going to be every time. He had a head counter par
excellence, 0 there weren't too many surprises when a bill was going to come up.

| used to watch him on the floor, pacing around like a panther and being frustrated and going over and
rubbing some senator to try and get him to do something. Worked at it indefatigably. Johnson worked
dl thetime. His staff never got any deep. He was a powerhouse. | think alot of people were scared of
him, | mean the members, because he controlled alot of money in eection time. While | don't go for
Robert Caro's book [The Path To Power] wholeheartedly, | do beieve it's true that he used Texas ail
money to help Democrats get elected and then they were beholden to him thereafter. Now, of course,
that didn't affect Lister Hill--he didn't need a nickd. But some of them did.
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| never heard Senator Hill refer to Lyndon in any way except "the Mgority Leader.” | don't know what
he thought of him. He dedlt with him, of course, as the leader; actualy he had been here considerably
longer. Infact, it would be hard to tdl you what Lister Hill thought of most of them. He was like Gillette
that way.

RITCHIE: You once mentioned Johnson talking about Paul Douglas, what was that quote?

MCCLURE: He said Douglas was probably back in his office "writhing around on his couch like
Mossadegh.”

RITCHIE: Inwhat circumstances was Johnson referring to Douglas that way?

MCCLURE: It must have been in response to "Where's Douglas?' Probably at a meeting, or maybe
he was needed on the floor. | don't know how it occurred, but | remember 1'd just been over in
Douglas office a ameeting on what became the Area Development Act, which Douglas had dreamed
up, and he was writhing around on his leather couch! He had dengue fever from the South Pacific; he
was in agony mogt of hislife up here. Aswith Jack Kennedy, a number of members were dying of pain
most of the time. Teddy Kennedy, same thing. Y ou wonder how they function, especidly with back
problems.
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RITCHIE: You mentioned before about Pat McNamara not wanting to be a senator and just passing
through. Did you have problems with senators who redlly didn't carry their weight in the committee?

MCCLURE: There was dways a problem with the quorum. Ligter Hill would get mad; he would ydll
"Get on the horn and get those people over here, Stewart.” Well, what can you do? I'd cal and cdl and
cal. Where is he? Send out scouts. But they were spread too thin. They were in some meseting where
they were redlly needed, or they had an amendment up, or something. They weren't taking the
afternoon off, these were busy men. It was very hard, gill is hard to get a quorum. Of course, they fixed
that rule alittle so you could go on past noon. But | don't recal any problem within the committee,
except the quorum problem. All the Democrats had subcommittee chairmanships a the end, every one
of them. So they had responsibilities; bills were referred to them by |etter from the chairman; they would
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find out if he redly wanted them to act on it (he wouldn't even refer it if he didn't, usudly, or unlessthey
requested it--he never sat on legidation even though he was horrified by some of the things that went
on).

But | don't know, | don't recdl any Democratic senators who didn't perform. Now what their private
notions of being senators were, | don't know. Joe Clark was very unhappy with the Senate and wrote a
book about it, and made himself most unpopular. McNamara
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just--he never thought that being a senator was very important. | think he thought the school board of
Detroit was a much better place to be. Y ou'd see him stting over in the lobby on the couch, talking to
anybody who came by and cracking jokes. HEd make some remark, "Isthat jerk till talking in there?!
He was pretty crude in his private speech, but aloveable guy, alot of fun.

RITCHIE: The two senators who seemed to vote againgt everything in the committee in those days
were Barry Goldwater and Strom Thurmond. It seemed asiif the Labor Committee was one that libera
senators gravitated towards. . . .

MCCLURE: They were assgned to it.

RITCHIE: | see, wasthat to keep them out of other committees?

MCCLURE: Yes Put them dl in one bag and then try to defeat anything they came out with.
RITCHIE: Wasthat adecisononthepartof . . ..

MCCLURE: The leadership.

RITCHIE: But Hill was apart of the "Inner Club," wasn't he?

MCCLURE: Yes, but he couldn't control that process. Some of them wanted to be on it very much,
but some of them didn't. I'll never forget | went to Senator Joe Clark when he was first
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gppointed. | waked into his office--he had stripped it of al senatorid equipment, and had nothing but
his own fancy stuff from Philadephia, modern tube furniture and al that. 1t looked like alawyer's office
in Philadelphia. He said, "Stewart, | want you to understand one thing: | didn't want to come on this
committee, and I'm going to get off it the first opportunity | have" | said, ™Y ou want meto tell Senator
Hill that, Sr?" That stopped him. | never did.

Wetdked awhileand | said, "Wl Senator, if something should come up around here that | think you
might be interested in, that would make this a more attractive place to you, may | bring it to your
atention?' "Oh," he said, "of course, Stewart.” Wdll, in due course something did, the manpower
question. He got a Subcommittee on Manpower Employment and ran along way with it. Did alot of
good with it, I think, and when the time came when he had to leave one committee to get on Foreign
Redations, he left Banking, he didn't leave Labor. | mentioned that to him once later. He pretended not
to know what | was talking about. He was the only one | ever heard say it like that.

Thurmond got off as soon as he could, too, and then became a Republican anyway. He was ared
problem because we had seven Democratic members, in the old days, seven to six, and he would flip
over, switch, and Goldwater of course was riveted in the country club
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philosophy that is now riveted in the White House. He just wouldn't do anything. He had a very able
committee counsdl, Mike Berngtein, who was as conservative as he was, and who fed him bile and
brimstone every day. Goldwater was a very decent fellow bascdly, but hisideas were antediluvian.
Then we had George Murphy for awhile; that was funny. The movie actor--boy was he out of his
depth! | expected him to break into atap dance or something. He was very popular, and al the staff
who loved his movies loved him. He didn't do anything for or againgt. | don't think he ever offered a bill
or an amendment or anything. Hitted his way through. Funny, funny, funny.

We had [Everett] Dirksen for awhile. When he was minority leader he would give new Republicans
breaks on committees. He didn't give a damn what committee he was on; he was minority leader
anyway. So held leave his seniority postions, and he went on Labor a one point. He was atough
customer but ajoy to be with, too. His techniques of combat in committee were something. Onetime
there was a bill reported from Kennedy's Labor Subcommittee involving the prohibition on secondary
boycott in Taft-Hartley, which |abor unions had been fighting for centuries ever snce Taft-Hartley. It
had gotten out of subcommittee and Dirksen was determined to stop it. We till had the twelve o'clock
rule. When the Senate went in, we had to break up. So he was very late getting there anyway. The
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Republicans
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refused to make a quorum until the last Democrat came to make the quorum, and then they came in.

Dirksen came in with a stack of books about this high, hearings from the Judiciary Committee, which he
put on the desk. Kennedy's face fdll. After the preiminaries, Kennedy made his pitch for the bill, and
then Hill recognized Dirksen, who had asked him to do so. Dirksen said, "Well, weve been considering
legidation in the Judiciary Committee that has a bearing on this legidation, particularly asit affectsthe
Northwestern Railway. | have here a history of the Northwestern Railway, which | want to place in this
record, if the chairman will permit." And he read the history of the Northwestern Railway till noon. The
bell rang and we broke up. Oh, God! Kennedy was laughing and everybody was broken up, it was just
apreposterous business. "Thenin 1864 . . . .” you know. God, he was funny. But they al had to use
what wegpons they could, and the quorum game was the biggest one.

RITCHIE: So the quorum problem wasn' just that members were busy, but it was often deliberate.
MCCLURE: On thiskind of thing it was used politicaly, sure.

RITCHIE: The minority members could use it to their advantage, knowing that the mgjority might not
al bethere.
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MCCLURE: That'sright. Wéll, they had a scout watching. Of course the quorum changes with the
gze of the subcommittee or committee, and when the proper number of Democrats were in the room
then the Republicans would arrive, or some of them. And sometimes not enough Democrats came, and
you quit, particularly in the beginning when it was seven to Six. Later when we had as many asten
Democrats to saven Republicans, or nineto six--well it varied from Congress to Congress--when we
had atwo or three man mgority then the minority couldn't do much.

RITCHIE: | would assume that you saw alot of lobbyigts in those days.
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MCCLURE: Oh, sure. They didn't come to me as much as they did to the professond staff. They
came to me about scheduling hearings or just on a scouting mission, but they didn't lobby mein the true
sense. They knew | wasn't trangporting such information to Ligter Hill anyway, or to the chairmen of the
subcommittees. The staffs of those units were doing that.
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End of Interview #3
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THE NATIONAL DEFENSE EDUCATION ACT
Interview #4
Friday, January 28, 1983

MCCLURE: Wdl, I'll introduce this by saying thisis amply a story, a very embarrassng sory about
me and Senator Pell and Doc [Floyd M.] Riddick. It had to do with an education hill, the higher
education hill, I think, in which Pell was greetly interested; in fact | think he was the manager of the
thing. It had passed the Senate, passed the House, and we were to go to conference. One of my jobs
was to hold the conference papers when they were delivered by the Senate page; if the Senate was to
act first the papers came to me and | was supposed to carry them to the conference so the members
could al sgn their names a the end if they ever reached agreement.

The morning of the conference | cdled the girl out in the front office who handled this stuff, only to
reca| that she was no longer there, and nobody had any recollection of these papers. Nobody there
had signed for them. Of course | found out who had, the girl who had left. | guess it was some form of
revenge againg me and [Harrison] Williams and the whole world, | don't know what she did with them,
sheld thrown them away or burned them or something. But my God these were officid texts of the
language approved by both houses; you know what a conference paper looks like. It was about eleven
o'clock and
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the conference was to begin at two. Well, | said, I'm going to have to throw mysdf on the mercies of
the court. | didn't tell Pell, or anybody.

| went to see Doc Riddick. What do we do? He said, "'l don't recdll this kind of thing ever having
happened before.” | said, "I'm sure it hasn't, but here we are. We've got to have papersin three hours!™
Wi, he said, "Well just have to open up and tdll the House what's happened. They'll laugh at usand
make uslook like fools™ | said, "No, Me, no one ese." He cdled the House Parliamentarian and they
reprinted the copies and got phoney sgnatures and stamps and so forth, so when we went into
conference at two o'clock we had presumably the origind text of the House action and the Senate
action. Whew! | told Senator Pell afterwards about that; he couldn't believe it. | couldn't either, frankly.
But can you imagine? What is a chief clerk for? He's the custodian of the documents; he's suppose to
show up with the right papers. And they're gonel

RITCHIE: | have afeding that Doc Riddick saved of lot of hides around here.
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MCCLURE: Oh, he did, he saved senators, he saved lobbyists, he saved staff people, of course he
did. | discovered over the years that the parliamentary rules of the Senate are made to be bent, and
even broken on occasion, whenever it seemed absolutely essentidl.
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Y ou could dispense with them; they're not Maoses tablet; they're not the Holy Bible. And a good
parliamentarian knows how to bend them and turn them to dedl with a given situation. He was one of
the most subtle, clever, brilliant, charming guys | ever knew around here. There's nobody who didn't
like Riddick. He just made himsdf so available, S0 amenable, so careful, hepful, and so on, which |
think iswhat any staff guy should do, but he, | thought, was one of the greatest whom | knew.

RITCHIE: When you started working on educationd issues with the committee back in the 1950s,
what in genera did you consider to be the mgjor educationa problems? What wasiit that you and the
members of the committee were trying to address?

MCCLURE: Wdl it seemsto me that the principa focus was upon two things--I'm leaving asde the
specia types of education, vocationa, and Gl, and dl that sort of thing--but the biggest subjects were
school congtruction, federd money for school construction, and teachers sdaries. That's what the NEA
[National Education Association] wanted, and they were the most voca |obby, of course, but so did
the chief state school officers and most of the educationa [obbys, higher, lower, middle, or whatever.
They were emphasizing a subsidy for the public school systems of the country, which basicaly needed
more buildings because we were in the baby boom of the postwar era, and higher teachers sdaries,
because at the time teachers
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were very poorly paid. Garbage collectors, policeman, and so on were getting much more out of
municipa and state budgets than were teachers, so they had agood case, from their own point of view
and from the public point of view, too. Y ou can't educate children with dumb teachers, and you can't
hire teachers who are paid so low they either don't want to work or they could do something else and
do s0. That was the main thrust.

Elbert Thomas and Jm Murray and even Robert Taft over the period of the late ‘40s and early ‘50s
were al pushing for some kind of generd aid to public education. The Senate passed many hills, but
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they dl died in the House. The history of the Committee on Labor and Public Wefareis replete with
occasions in which the Senate would pass a great bill two to one, Sixty to thirty, and it would never get
out of committee in the House or, if it did, old Mr. /Howard W./ Smith of the Rules Committee would
seetha it never got to the floor. It was frightfully frustrating for everybody. | mean you went to bet, you
fought your battles, you made your debate, you got on record, you voted, and then the damn thing
became anullity. Well, | think I've answered that question, those were the two main thrugs.

RITCHIE: School congtruction seems like apple pie, | can't understand why it received so much
opposition. Even the Eisenhower
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adminigtration supported it and sponsored it. Why was there such fierce opposition in the House to
federa money for school congruction?

MCCLURE: I'm not sure that | can answer that. All | know, as| said in an earlier sesson, isthat the
Chamber of Commerce of the United States had as one of its mgjor objectivesto prevent any federd
money going to education, except in specific cases like vocationa education and the Gl Bill and one or
two other things like impacted areas. But beyond that they clung to some mythica condtitutiond
principle: the last thing that could happen in the United States was for the federal hand to belaid on
local education, which belongs to the hands of the school boards and local council of education or
whatever they're called--which, of course, are all controlled by the Chamber of Commerce. Inthered
world the business community dominates the school boards in every damn town in the country.

Now what al thiswas supposed to prevent or forestal | never could figure out, but it was areligious
faith. They'd get white and scream and wave their hands in the air about the horrible prospects of this
vicious, cold hand of federa bureaucracy being laid upon these pristine, splendid loca schools that
knew better than anyone what needed to be done, and so forth and so forth. A lot of it had to do with
taxes, because obvioudy, aswe know, if you start abig federal aid program it's going to grow and
expand and cost hillions
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and, therefore, the Chamber of Commerce members are going to have to kick in taxes. | guessthat
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was their basic objection, just another federd program. But anyway, that included school construction,
which God knows al the trade unions were for because it had jobsinvolved, it included teachers

sd aries because the business community seemed to believe that the kinds of teachers that were selected
under local control would be under their control, wouldn't teach hideous doctrines of a subversive or
even critica nature of our unbelievably beautiful system in which everything is perfect. | don't know, it's
area mythology, but it was red and senators and congressmen had to ded withiit.

As| sad earlier, in the last session, the three "RS" according to the Chamber of Commerce were not
reading, 'riting, and 'rithmatic; they were Reds, race, and rdligion. They marched these issues forward at
any time whenever whichever one seemed gppropriate. And in the House it was terribly effective. You
had the famous Powel | amendment, for example. He wasn't working for the Chamber of Commerce, of
course, but somebody would provoke him into offering an anti-discrimination amendment and the
whole thing would just die, particularly since he was the chairman of the committee & one point. So you
just went in thisterribly stupid circle, around and around, everybody would get up and yell about the
need for more schools and better teachers salaries, yes, yes, yes, yes, yes, but don't forget the Reds,
and the Catholics want specid trestment, and
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al those blacks that might be treated equdly. In that kind a miasma of propaganda you couldn't get
anywhere.

RITCHIE: A red stdemate developed between the House and the Senate in ‘55, ‘56, and '57, that
findly seems to have been broken by an outside force when the Sovietssent up . . . .

MCCLURE: Sputnik, that's right.

RITCHIE: And shortly after Sputnik went up you wrote a memorandum® to Senator Hill saying,
essentidly, thisis the opportunity.

MCCLURE: That'sright.

RITCHIE: Did this come as arevelation to you, that education could be tied in with defense or had
you been considering . . . .

MCCLURE: No, no, no. | have been looking through old memoranda and ones written earlier, much
ealier, to Gillette or somebody, and probably Hill in ‘55 or '56. No, we'd had hearings or had touched
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on this subject of Soviet scientific advances in public hearings and various other ways for quite along
time. It was not anew concept. There were articles in the papers and the magazines, of course. The
immense effort in terms of budget and so forth that the Soviet Union was making on educetion in
science and technology,

* see appendix
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mathematics, the hard subjects, where we were flapping around with socid sciences and soft stuff like
that, and abandoning any focus redly on biology or physics or chemigiry or mathematics or anything
difficult. The permissive age did not begin in the "70s, it started way back with out glorious loca school
boards amiling.

Yes, | think if there was onething | ever did in my work on the Hill, my work for my whole career, it
was to focus Ligter Hill's attention on the opportunity which Sputnik, this Russan satellite, gave d | of
us who were struggling, and had been for decades, to establish afedera program of monetary aid to
public education, and private, too, in some instances. And I'm redlly very proud of that. Of course,
someone e se could have come dong with the sameidea, and probably did aweek later, but | wasfird.

Senator Hill had an executive secretary named John Campbell, who handled the traffic, the messages,
the letters, the mail, and so forth, as distinct from legidative work or even administrative work. He was
sort of the controller of the movement of traffic in Hill's office, appointments, and so forth. Hewas a
dear man and afriend of mine, and | cooked up this memorandum, which | gave you the other day. Bill
Reidy, who was our hedth man at that time, wrote on the top of it, "Great idea," or something. So it had
the support of the taff. Forsythe read it, Blackwell read it, Reidy read it. | was not acting solely aone,
not wishing to be undercut later. |
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marched over the Hill's office, which was then ill in the old Russdll Building, and | took John Camphbell
addeand | sad, "Thisis something that Senator Hill has got to seefirgt.”

Hill was in Europe at the time, | think he was in Berlin when the damn satdllite was shot up, so the
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impact on him must have been even stronger than it was here. | said, "John, | want this put on the top of
the spike, dl the yellow telephone messages and this that and the other can be underneath. | want him,
when he comes in here tomorrow morning, to seethisfirst.” Heread it and sad, "Y ou'reright, thisis
very important. This must be called to his attention immediately.” And, boy, it worked, because within
ten minutes after he was in the office, the staff had a cdll, "Come on over here. Got you're
memorandum, St'rt, let's see what we can do.” It worked. And he then set us to business.

We were--Bill Reidy, Jack Forsythe, Fred Blackwell, and I--to pull together from every place we
could find it, information, guidance, suggestions, thoughts, on what we should do as afederd
government, what the Senate should do as afederd government, what the Senate should do and the
House, to meet the Soviet chalenge in education. Lyndon Johnson was running hearingsin his
preparedness committee on what became NASA, the whole outer space business, but we were
burrowing into the understructure, the educational necessities of science, and so on. Well, we fanned
out, we had innumerable
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conferences with the American Association for the Advancement of Science, Dde Wolfle then was the
director of it, brilliant guy. We worked with the American Chemica Society, the physics people, the
engineers, the foreign language people. We got into audio-visud programs. We taked with people
redly al over the country, and in depth here with their lobbyists and their organizations.

By the middle of December, which was three or four weeks later, we had listed dl the things that
various groups and individuas had told us needed to be done. Now some of them were not legidatively
feasible and they never gppeared in any hill, but some of them were not only feasible but tremendoudy
essentid. The only time | recdl that staff working in unison, contributing honestly, openly, with no
backbiting and backstabbing and dl the rest of the stuff that goes on here, aswe al know--it worked.

By January we had abill, and to make it even better, dmost unbelievably fortuitous, in the House
committee was Carl Elliott, of Alabama who was chairman of the subcommittee on education! He was
thinking in the same lines and as soon as he saw what we were up to he joined forces. So we had a
preconference conference al the time, on the phone every day, back and forth, his guys working with
us. Then there was amesting in Alabama, which | couldn't get to, but Bill Reidy and Forsythe went
down to it, and so did Carl Elliott. And they drafted the Nationa Defense Education Act in

Montgomery,
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Alabama, the essentids of it based on all thistalking and research we'd done. 1t was not an egg
hatched out of my head, or anybody dse's. It was a collection of proposas from al sorts of people.
Wi, then of course, we had to negotiate it into legidative language and cover al bases a dozen times.
Then we gtarted public hearings. I'm not sure of the dates, but | think it was early February. We printed
a huge hearing, about two or three inches thick, called Science and Educetion. | pulled those hearings
together; well, that was my job. Oh, we had some great witnesses, Lee DuBridge and Edward Teller
and, well they weredl inthis. . ..

RITCHIE: Admird Rickover testified.

MCCLURE: Wdl, I'm not sure, but anyway we got the cream of the brains of this country, so that
when we went on the floor we could say, "Well, now, does the senator mean that he chalenges the
distinguished leader of the Nationd Council on Science, Detlev Bronk, who says. . . . " We hammered
them into the ground. And, of coursg, if anybody brought up socidism or something like thet, the
dreadful spectre of sociaism, we had Edward Teller and the Hydrogen Bomb to clobber them with!
Wi, hearings, as you well know, redly can shape the form of anything. Y ou get the right witnesses and
ask the right questions and they give the right answers, your opposition is daughtered before they can
open their trap. That's one of the
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tactical secrets of functioning on this Hill. Wdll, | redly pulled together an incredible array of talent, of
not only Ph.D.'s but Nobel Prize winners and so forth. And, of course, the press was paying a grest
ded of atention to this. We were getting headlines every day, and al of that has an impact, too.

RITCHIE: Even the Time/Life publications gave you good press in those days.

MCCLURE: Did they? Wdll, that's unusua. Anyway, I'm very proud of dl of that because it worked,
and it was my ideathat started it. Not my ideain the sense of the legidation, but to do something and to
grab this opportunity which would never come again, when the public was al upset and people were
fretting in the Streets about "oh, my God, werre behind,” and dl that stuff. So it was, asthe Latin's used
to say, carpe diem, "saizethe day,” and we did, and we did. | hate to brag about mysdf, but it isredly
onething I'm very proud of. And then we had a bill, and then we had alaw, and then we had a
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program, and then we began teaching people science and math and languages dl over the country. It
was a grand achievement, | think. Now well tune off Stewart McClure!

RITCHIE: It seemslike you offered Senator Hill the perfect solution. He had been unable to touch
educational matters because of the race issue. You were ableto pin it to the defenseissue.. . . .
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MCCLURE: Exactly right.
RITCHIE: Which was sacrosanct.

MCCLURE: I invented that God-awful title: the Nationa Defense Education Act. If there are any
words less compatible, redly, intelectudly, in terms of what is the purpose of education--it's not to
defend the country; it's to defend the mind and devel op the human spirit, not to build cannons and
battleships. It was a horrible title, but it worked. It worked. How could you attack it?

RITCHIE: The big bone of contention between the House and the Senate got down to whether or not
to make it scholarshipsor loans. . . .

MCCLURE: Oh, that was another clever, clever ploy. That was done on the House side. They
narrowed the issue. There were millions of dollarsfor dl kinds of other things, but Carl Elliott and his
guys narrowed the issue to whether we should have the federal government hand out scholarships or
loans. And they took the defeet, of course. The House denounced scholarships, it was a waste of
money and socidism and dl of that. And the minute the damn scholarship issue was done for, dead, the
bill swooped through. | don't think anybody had read any other title init. Oh, that was clever stuff. Carl
Elliott was a brilliant srategist, as good as Ligter Hill in hisway, in different houses.
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RITCHIE: Theirony istha now so many of those loans haven't been paid back, so they redly turned
out to be scholarships after all.

MCCLURE: De facto scholarships-which | think we al suspected they would be. Well therewas a
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funny--well, not so funny, it was avery serious development in the midst of this. We were meeting over
in one of those Appropriations rooms in the Capitol. The ranking minority member was Smith of New

Jersey.
RITCHIE: H. Alexander Smith.

MCCLURE: H. Alexander. I've mentioned him before, a very nice guy. The next ranking behind him
was Goldwater. Smith had announced that he was not going to run again, so the small Republican staff
was worried about retaining their jobs, and there were two principa ones on that side: there was Roy
James, the minority staff director as he cadled himsdf, and Mike Berngein. Well, Bernstein was a
frothing-at-the-mouth anti-Communist, red-baiting guy with a history of denouncing his best friends to
the FBI, ared vicious guy, but extremely brilliant and on the surface a very pleasant chap. Certainly he
knew everything that had ever been written.

Roy James was a bit more of an operator, elbowing himsdlf around and conning people with charm and
that sort of thing. Well, God damn it, we were just about to report this beautiful Nationd Defense hill
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to full committee, having been through every subject there was, when Roy James leaned over to
Alexander Smith and suggested aloyalty oath for professors who received money from this program,
thinking by doing so that he would, as we used to say, ace himsdlf in with Mr. Goldwater, who was
gtting there, too. It didn't work, but the damn thing went into the bill. Y ou know, a the end of along
sesson you've got everything wrapped up and he ranking minority man says "l think we ought to
provide so-and-s0." Well, Senator Hill gave three thoughtsto it and said OK. "We get rid of it later,"
he told me, but we never did. God, the House embraced it asif it was the greatest thing since custard
pie, and we had to take it in conference, it was in our bill--this stupid, irrdlevant, nongermane
amendment, cooked up by this guy who wanted to persuade Goldwater that he was as anti-Communist
as anybody ese. Goldwater fired him immediately when he took over.

But this damn thing remained in the act and it caused a tremendous furor. Y ou may remember, Harvard
and Y ae and Columbia, the faculty, the deans, everybody was just screaming. "What do you mean?
Thisis an imputation that haf of us are working for the Soviet Union and, therefore, can't have a
subsdy from the federad government.” Well, Jack Kennedy, who was on the committee a the time--or
maybe Ted Sorenson, | don't know who--spotted this as a wonderful way to identify Kennedy with the
academic community. He had written a book and so forth, but still there was some question:
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Is Jack redlly sound on important things? So he came charging in in the next sesson, after the bill had
been enacted, with an amendment to scratch this loyaty oath business, and we had people from Yae
and Harvard and Columbia and Princeton and Cdifornia coming in and testifying to these indignities.
Why are we trying to imitate the Soviet Union by requiring loyaty oaths?

Thiswill give another littleingght into Ligter Hill. The committee was still dominated by libera
Democrats and in due course we approved this amendment, which would have struck down this stupid
proposa by Mr. Smith. Kennedy wasin a hurry to get a headline, | guess, and he inssted on avote
and reporting the bill the same day as it was reported from the subcommittee. Hed done no testing of
the floor. He had no idea of what the reception might be. He hadn't called up Bobby Baker, or done
any of those preiminary things. Senator Hill said, "Jack, | think were moving alittle too fast here. Can't
you wait until tomorrow?' "No, Mr. Chairman, | want an action right now." The press was outside the
door, | suppose.

Wi, it got to the floor and was recommitted. It was a huge vote to kick it back into committee, with
some amendments to the amendment, and then after anumber of maneuvers on the floor and checking
out with everybody and counting where the runners were on the bases, and so on, we re-reported it
and it became law ultimately--which was a great coup for Kennedy in his campaign to be
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president. This must have been *59. He got accolades in dl the academic press and sarted to be
treated serioudy by professors who might otherwise have thought he was a fly-by-night playboy. It was
avery interesting business. When the meeting ended, when we reported the thing the first time, | was
gtting beside Senator Hill taking notes, and he dways talked with his hand over his mouth, and he said,
"Stewart, thiswill be recommitted.” Which he didn't like, because he was chairman of the committee
and no chairman likes to have the whole Senate rise up and overthrow him, which happened then. But
there was a momentum that he couldn't stop. Fascinating business.

RITCHIE: Wha wastherole of the Eisenhower adminigtration during al of this? Were they opposing
the act?
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MCCLURE: | wouldn't say that, no. | think what went on downtown was they knew we were talking
to al these people. Thisis an echo-box, this city, and they found out very quickly that Senate L abor
Committee staff was going to the Chemica Society and the Association of Advancement of Sciences.
Wi, we were talking to the government people, too, of course, Nationa Science Foundation and |
don't know what dl. So they, HEW at that time, Department of Education asit's now cdled, but then it
was part of HEW, set to work to find out what we were finding out, and they came up with an
dterndive hill which was very smilar, because they taked to the
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same people. So by the time the hearings began there had not only been Senator Hill's bill, but Senator
Smith's hill, he being the ranking Republican. There were thingsin their bill that we took, and we
blended the two, redlly.

It was a very cooperative operation. They knew they had to move. They had to do something, and we
gave them a great opportunity to gppear as holy and righteous and forthright and farseeing as we were.
And then, of course, this guy Fred Heckinger [New York Times educationd editor] givesthe
Eisenhower adminidration credit for the bill! Y ou have that |etter | received from him.* Anyway, that's
unimportant. Y es, we worked very closgly, with no red problem, once the principle of the thing was
decided upon. We fought about scholarships and how much for this, and that, and the other, but | don't
recal any badc drife.

In other words, to repeat mysdlf, thiswas the end of opposition to federd aid to education, by both the
Democrats and Republicans. Theregfter, as this committee history shows, we passed anything you
could think of. Senator Morse became chairman of the education subcommittee and we passed that
tremendous hill, the Elementary and Secondary Education Act of 1965. They had these "entitlement”
programs, which everybody is moaning about today, for disadvantaged school digtricts, for poor
children. It was a stupendous hill. Then

* see appendix
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there were others, higher education bills and bilingua education bills. Well, they're dl listed, I'm not
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going to try to remember them.

RITCHIE: There does seem to be a pause. Y ou got the momentum going for the NDEA, which
passed in ‘58 and was increased in * 59, ‘ 60. But when Kennedy came into the presidency, at the same
time Morse became chairman of the education subcommittee, proposed his own education bill, but it
didn't get passed while he was president.

MCCLURE: No, nothing passed while he was president.
RITCHIE: It'snot till after his desth. So it sounds like the opposition was Hill pretty strong.

MCCLURE: It wasn't based on the old bugaboos, though. It was based on the OId Bulls of the
House and Senate not wanting to give that young whippersnapper in the White House the time of day.
It was palitical, persond, it might even have been regiona--the New England accent, "Cuber,” and that
sort of thing. But Kennedy was not liked on the Hill and he never redly worked at being a member of
the Senate. He was dways off somewhere. Well, he wasill quite abit of the time. He didn't redly
appear to senatorsto be serious. Thisis my own feding, as | watched them for many years. He just
didn't have the time to bother with Railroad Retirement, or the trivid things. And from ‘56 on he was
running for president,
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there' s no doubt of that. That's just about the time | joined the committee, so when | first watched
Kennedy | saw him not being a senator, but being a candidate. Well, everybody else saw that, too.

And then he won, thank God. Postponed Nixon for afew years. But he couldn't get anything done up
here. Nothing. Well, of course, they passed appropriation bills, but none of his program went
anywhere. We didn't do a damn thing during the years of the Kennedy presidency. Then Lyndon, of
course, replaced him and camein like atiger, and everything that had been dormant and stuck in
conference or committee went wooooosh, like a great reverse whirlpool spinning it out. We passed
everything within the next year or two.

RITCHIE: One of the big ssumbling blocks in the Kennedy years was the whole parochia school
issue, who do you give aid to and are religious schools entitled. Did you have alot of 1obbying on that
issues?

MCCLURE: Always. That was one of the three Rs, religion, which stopped most aid to education
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bills, which we avoided with the NDEA-athough it was brought up. | can't remember, | read the
minutes the other day, and just at the end of reporting the bill, NDEA, some Republicans raised this
question, "lan't some of this money going to go to parochid schools?' And Senator Murray said to him,
"How can you live with yoursdlf for rasing that issue a thistime?' It'sin
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the committee minutes. "How can you live with yoursdf?' And the guy subsided. I've forgotten who it
was, [George] Bender or [Gordon] Allott, some Republican. He was just embarrassed out of
proceeding with that ancient wheeze about parochial schools. But it's always been afactor here, of
course. There are powerful Protestant organizations that find under the corner of the rug adight
suspicion that some parochid kid is going to get two cents of free lunch or something. Wdll, it's here,
but | think we've evaded it.

RITCHIE: Of course, Kennedy wasin afunny postion in the sense that he was Catholic and he had
to promise that he wouldn't do anything that would look like afavor to the church, so he rather
pointedly oppased giving money to parochia schools.

MCCLURE: Yes hedid. | think he had to, politicaly spesking. For that time in history he had to.
Now Reagan can come along afew years later with this business about tax bregks for kidswho go to
private schools, and nobody getsterribly frenetic about it. Or if they do it doesn't stop anything from

happening.

RITCHIE: It ssemsto me that when the Elementary and Secondary School Education Act came
adong it's stroke of geniuswas thet it gave the money to needy students rather than to the school
didricts.

MCCLURE: That'sright.
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RITCHIE: So that way it could go to parochia school students.

MCCLURE: Of course. Oh, yes.
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RITCHIE: Who came up with that strategy? It seems asif that's as much of a bresk-through asthe
defense connection.

MCCLURE: Wél, I'm going to share credit on this one with Charlie Lee. Have ever heard of Charles
Lee?

RITCHIE: No.

MCCLURE: Hewas alrilliant guy. Charlie Lee was gppointed as the professond staff man on the
educationa subcommittee, coming from Morse's own staff. He was arotund, dightly effeminate,
hilarioudy witty man who had read everything there ever was and could quote it al. "As Carlide sad,”
or Shakespeare, or Moliere. Wonderful guy and a superb pardld with Morse, who was just as bright
but in adifferent way. They made a great team. Charlie Lee was just a superb person to work with.

One night, sometime probably in '62, | had bought a bottle of Irish whiskey caled "Kennedy," which by
the way isvery good. Charlie liked to Sp a bit at the end of the day, asdid I, so | brought this pint of
"Kennedy" Irish whiskey into his office and we just sat around chewing the fat, as goes on every day up
here. We had just gotten through, | think, a session on the federal impacted
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ad program, which we won't discuss at this point, you know what it is. There has dways been alot of
opposition from every administration but the Congress has always refused to cut it back. Well, it helps
pay the taxesin fifty percent of the school digtrictsin the United States!

| don't know whether it was Charlie or | who broached the subject, could have been ether of us, so
let's just say that we agreed that the principle of federal impact was a damn good idea, and so was the
Gl Bill, which was an entitlement program. If you served in the armed forces you are entitled to federd
ad for your education. We connected the two concepts. A child going to apoor school in a poor
digtrict should be consdered suffering a nationa impact caused by the failure of the whole society to
upgrade his disadvantaged area. It could be argued that capitalism as practiced here was not working
very wdl in many school didricts, with the result that poor children generdly recelved poor education.
We thought that poor children living in disadvantaged areas should be entitled, as were veterans, to
Specid atention and assstance to help them climb out of the hole in which they had been placed by the
entire society.

With those two concepts, we put it together and went to see Morse. He thought it was great. It became
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Title 1 of ESEA, and then | think there is another Title 7, which | think has the same idea, where you're
entitled if you're in asocid podture, socidly,
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economically, or whatever, to public assstance, federd aid, just because you're there and you can't get
out of it. That's where you live. If you're a child and can't go to school somewhere ese, you've got to
go there and the school's lousy. Anyway, that was the concept. | don't know who thought of it, but we
both did, put it together drinking "Kennedy" whiskey. Hilarious.

Will, of course, then Charlie did what we al used to do, he checked with al the educationa groups
and many others. By then concern with education was much broader than just the NEA, or the Chief
State School Officers. Everybody was involved, especidly after the NDEA, | think. American attention
focusad very strongly on what was happening in our schools and why the kids couldn't read or do
arithmetic. All of this combined to help produce votes to pass legidation. I'm just astounded at what
happened redly in ten years. What did we omit? | don't know. Requiring Greek and Latin, | guess, we
didnt do that. But it redlly was enormous; | guess the office of Education must have tripled its Saff and
budget or more.

It was mainly due to Lyndon's cracking the whip that we got this legidation through. | think the ground
was ready and the popul ace was prepared, but the Congress was not, until Lyndon, using the Kennedy
martyrdom, so to speek, raised the torch and cracked the whip and made the phone cdls. God, those
were some years Well, everybody, even the most conservative senators, were just swept off their
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feet. They couldn't combat thisthing. | think we did alot of foolish things, too, of course, but the
momentum was just tremendous; until Vietnam swalowed usin a God-awful disadter.

Speaking of Morse and Kennedy, | heard Morse make a phone cdl to President Kennedy in early '63,
| guess. We were over in S-114, one of the Appropriations Committee hearing rooms, which hasa
telephone booth in it, quite unusua, not just aphone, it'sin abooth. We were in conference with the
House on a higher education hill. Morse was chairman of the Senate conferees, and we cameto a
deadlock on some issue which involved whether the adminigtration favored going thisway or that. The
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bill was more or less hanging on what pogtion the adminigration redly had; there was conflicting
evidence. So, Morse said, "Well, hdl, I'll just call up Jack.” | think he said, "Mac, get me the White
House" which | did.

Then he got on the horn and | backed off, but | could hear what was going on. He got hold of Kennedy
very quickly, and said, "Jack, we'rein abind up here" He told him the Situation, the House thinks that
you want this, and we think that you want that. We've got to know which it isso that | can report back
to the conferees and we can move the bill out. I don't know what Kennedy told him and I've forgotten
what even ensued in the bill, but what | do remember was Morse saying, "Wdll, Jack, ance I've got you
on the phone, | want to tell you that you better get the hell out of Vietnam. Youre
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going down in apit there. Get out of it!" He's shouting thisinto the phone, and Kennedy is shouting
something back. It never came to any conclusion, but to use this opportunity! Y ou better get the hell
out of Vietnam. Y ou're going down in apit,” or abyss, or somewhere, where we went.

RITCHIE: | was going to ask you aout Morse. He took over from James Murray, whom you said
was not redly in control toward the end.

MCCLURE: Wdl, hewas senile.
RITCHIE: What kind of impact did Morse have as chairman of the education subcommittee?

MCCLURE: Wéll, | think I've just said it. He put through more God damn bills than we every put
through in history on education.

RITCHIE: Do you think it was Morse and his own drive rather than . . . .

MCCLURE: Yes, yes, yes, yes. Indefatigable, present at every meeting, present a dl timesfrom
beginning to end, pushing, pressing, demanding, ingsting, oh, yes, no question about it. There were on
that committee, at the time | was there, three senators for whom | have unlimited regard as legidators
and as people: Ligter Hill, Jacob Javits, and Wayne Morse. They were a fantastic team. When they got
together on something, nobody could stop them. Unlikely
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melange as it may sound, thiswild man from Oregon, a consarvative from Alabama, and a Jewish boy
from New Y ork. But they were so brilliant and so aware of what the needs of the country are and
were. When they started clicking together you couldn't stop them. It was wonderful.

RITCHIE: | dwaysthought of Morse as something of an outsder in the Senate. How did he work
when it redly came down to business?

MCCLURE: Hewas no outsider.

RITCHIE: No?

MCCLURE: That was part of the game. Oh, he made great shows of it, of course, and conducted
filibusters and feuds with other senators, but when it came down to getting a bill passed he was as
smooth and dick and clever an operator as could be found. He could dways find the reason why some
senator should vote for this or that, what appealed to that senator. Oh, yes, he was extremely good.
But, sure, his public image was this cantankerous guy who was awaysin afight with somebody, raising
hell, and quitting his party. Oh, no, when it came down to knitting the cloth he knew dl about it.
RITCHIE: What type of a person was he to work for?
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MCCLURE: Terrific. Never better. Honest to God. | have worked with many senators, and closdly
with several, but none of them was as easy to move as Morse. Of course, that was because he trusted
me. | wasn't going to give him some kooky idea that would blow up in hisface. | was thinking the other
day of an instance in some education hearing, it had to do with some Catholic issues. | don't know
whether we had a Bishop or aMonsignor before us who was fulminating about something; anyway it
gppeared to me an opportunity to turn the thing around. | leaned forward--1 was Stting behind
Morse--and said, "Why don't you ask him this?' He said, "Right, | will." Bam! And it just blew the
whole thing out of the room. I'm not taking credit for this; the credit goesto Morse to see ingtantly the
potentia political implications and possibilities in awhisper in hisear. Wel, you know, 1've whipered in
many senators ears, but most of the time they stop and think about it and cdll in another staff guy or
don't do anything. Obvioudy they're not going to listen to everything you say, but your job isto provide
ideas, and Morse was just wonderful. He turned around and said, "Boy, we got him that timel" He was
terrific to work for.
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RITCHIE: Wdl, hewaswilling to stick his neck on the line on controversd issues.

MCCLURE: Oh, hewas absolutely fearless. He didn't redly give too much attention to the effect
upon his future of the actions he
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was taking. He was so impulsive, but not redlly impulsive in an impassoned way; he was impulsve with
his mind and if he thought this was a good thing to do, the hell with the consequences, he did it. Not
aways, but generaly spesking he didn't give a hoot about the consequences, which is, of course, what
defeated him finally. Y ou have to pay attention to the consequences. Oh, | loved Wayne Morse. He
was redly a superb guy.

RITCHIE: Weve covered pretty much what | had in mind.
MCCLURE: Wél, that's good, it shows we're thinking aike!

RITCHIE: Next timel'd like to tak about the '60s in generd, and Johnson and the Great Society, and
al the programs that were coming ot.

MCCLURE: Tha committee was redlly overwhelmed. No wonder our staff grew to be a hundred and
fourteen. Y ou couldn't possibly have dedlt with it with the fourteen people we started with. So it wasntt
just Senate expansonism--it is that too--but there were such pressures from the administration to enact
such enormous programs, you had to have experts who knew something about the subjects. We
couldn't know everything. And it was better to have them on board and under your payroll, than to be
depending on lobbyists who were answering to someone ese. | think it explains the expansion of staff
al over the Hill in the Johnson period. You just Smply hed
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to have people who knew the facts and background of al these new subjects we were plunging into. |
think now they're less useful. The Great Society is dead and the War on Poverty is ended. God knows,
were having awar againgt the poor rather than in behdf of them.
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End of Interview #4

Senate Historical Ofice Oral History Project
www. senat e. gov/ hi story



LIFE ON THE SENATE STAFF
Interview #5
Tuesday, March 1, 1983

MCCLURE: I'd liketo tak, off-the-record at least, aout some of the internd life of the staff serving
under Senator Hill. To start with, Senator Hill, it turned out, had a passion for gossip and for prodding a
daff member to say something about another staff

person, something unfavorable. | suppose it was one method of running an intelligence operation. Hed
make his own observations, and then try to see if somebody else saw the same thing. But the net result
was that certain staff people took advantage of this, to the detriment of others, naturaly.

| first observed this when we were having staff meetings, way back in 1955, in Senator Hill's office over
in the old building, at which would be present Bill Reidy, our health man, Jack Forsythe, the counsd,
and |, plus Charlie Brewton, adminidirative assstant, and quite often Donald Cronin, who was a lesser
member of Senator Hill's persond gtaff at the time. I'm not sure what hisrole was; | know he drove the
senator to work and drove him home--which incidentaly is away to provide the opening and closing of
the senator's day with your own input, so to speek. It'savery useful way for underlingsto--to use a
phrase from Broadway-- "ace" themsalves in with their bosses, if they are o inclined. Anyway, Charlie,
had redlly been
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responsible for my job, in having Ligter Hill hire me, and in addition we were very close friends, outsde
the Senate aswdl asin.

Charlie was a greet idea man. He came up with new schemes dl the time, things for the committee to
do, some things the senator ought to do. Weld talk about some of these, as well as about the business
of the committee. And | noticed that Don Cronin was seeming to take a protective position with respect
to the chairman, saying, "Well, Senator, wouldn't that cause some difficultiesin Alabama?' He was
positioning himsdlf to defend the senator againgt these wild ideas we were tossing around. It dways
brought us up short, because Lister Hill, we thought, was perfectly capable of defending himsdlf. If he
didn't know what his own palitica dtuation in Alabama was, then nobody did.

RITCHIE: Was Cronin from Alabama?

MCCLURE: Oh, yes, graduate of the Univerdty of AlabamaLaw School, at least. | don't know
whether he went to college. Well, so was Charlie agraduate, | think, of AlabamaLaw. Anyway, this
gtuation prevailed for quite afew months and each timeit got a little more obvious. Charlie would get
very annoyed. He was making a presentation and suddenly it was being torpedoed. And then | noticed
that Jack Forsythe was beginning to agree with Cronin. "Y es, Senator, thereis arisk here. Y ou know,
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the race question down
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there. " Of course, Forsythe was not from Alabama, but he had been born in Virginiaand his father was
anewspaper publisher, | think, in alittle town in North Carolina, so he could claim Southern covering.

From the beginning--1 should go back--Bill Reidy, John Forsythe and | would say, "L ook, there are
three of us. The chairman is going to talk to us separately. Well never be able to function if we don't tell
each other everything he saysto each of usindividualy.” And we thought that was what was going to
happen, but it turned out that in some of these meetingswe'd al sart to file out and then Forsythe
would say, "Just aminute, Senator, | have something | must tell you." Then Bill and I would walk out.
Wha was he tdling him? We never found out, nor what the senator said in return. What was dl this
mystery? So Cronin and Forsythe found a sort of common bond. They were the same type of people.
Certanly Forsythe was extremdy capable as alawyer, but he had this sense of intrigue, this whispering
behind the hand, and he dways had " something he picked up in the House," where he had worked, that
he wanted to share with the senator--and it was certainly not for our innocent ears. Well, thiswas very
aggravating, and Bill and | redized that our little threesome had become a dead duck. So Bill and |
shared everything, but we didn't share much with Forsythe anymore because we didn't trust him.
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Wi, Cronin redly got under Charli€s skin. Charlie was a sengtive guy. He was avictim of polio: had a
huge frame from waist up, but wasted legs and braces on the knees. He rolled around. He had a huge
head and a brilliant mind, but he was wasted from the hips down. But he went on anyway. He had been
alawyer in the Jusgtice Department. He didn't let hisinfirmity hold him back at dl. In fact, it may have
goaded him to greater achievements than he would otherwise have made. But Charlie began taking to
drink. Oh, everybody drank a couple of drinks after work, that was standard practice, gathering in
somebody’ s office and having a shot or two before going home. But Charlie wound up going deeper
and deeper. Of course, this afforded Cronin another whip, or another chance for knifing.

But the ultimate, | think, in my experience around here was-Charlie told me this one day--the senator
cdled himin and said, "Charlie, where are those letters | sent down to your shop to be answered?’
Charlie had aroom down the hal from the main office. Charlie said, "Well, what |etters, Senator? |
answered d | the letters | got." "Waell, | gave them to Don three days ago and he sent them through, I'm
aure.” Yes, he did send them through to Charliesin-box, but then at night he took them out. Asfar as
we could determine that's what happened, because the letters disappeared, after having been delivered
to his desk by some clerk. Well, Charlie just was finished by then. The senator was believing Donad on
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everything, and now Dondd was putting Charlie in these hideous situations. He was going to be driven
out of there, no question about it, and he knew nothing could be worse for aman than to be an
adminigrative assstant to a top senator and then be fired.

Wi, during a previous session--it's hard for me to remember which year it was, ‘57 or *58--the
Senate had passed a bill reported from our committee creating a commission on mental hedlth and
illness to determine what to do about menta treatment, insane asylums, and related matters. It was
compaosed of many brilliant doctors, medical adminigtrators, and hedlth people. It was established in
Cambridge, Massachusetts, under a doctor whose name | don't recall, who was a very close friend of
the senator's--as many doctors were. So Bill Reidy, who had worked on this bill, called the head of the
commission and persuaded him to hire Charlie as his assstant and fund-raiser in order to make this
commission a success, because it depended on private contributions that would be matched by
federdly funded money. That rescued Charlie. He went to Cambridge with his family. There he was
with histerrific Southern accent functioning with Cambridge dons He made a great success of it and
they raised dl the money they needed. He went to AA and sobered up--he became ardigious AA,
believed God was persondly watching over him; well, that was grest.

The caba had gotten rid of Charlie Brewton, and guess who became adminigrative assstant: Donad
Cronin. So, | no longer had
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apd a the top of Senator Hill's office. His second man, John Campbell, was a darling guy, friend of
mine, but he had no red authority in the shop; good number two man. Wl then, a meetingsand in
other ways we discovered that Bill Reidy was the next target. Bill was undoubtedly the best authority
on hedlth legidation who ever existed. Held started on the Hill with Senator James Murray of Montana,
with the Murray-Wagner-Dingell hill in the '40s, which was the first nationd hedth insurance bill. Held
been in the Farm Security Adminigtration in Cdifornia during the Depression, when they had had
nationa health insurance and al kinds of programs that died with the war. But Bill was brash. He was
born in Harlem, and Irish guy from Harlem, New Y ork. Tough, aways said what he thought, usudly it
was right. Svore alot and drank alot. Wdll, Lister Hill didn't like people around him who drank much
S0 that was a bad point againgt Bill, but it never affected hiswork. In fact, he wrote his best speeches
when he was potted. His Irish imagination could just flow with a couple of shots of whiskey or more.

So the schemes began--1 don't remember the exact technique, but it was based on needling, and they
got the senator moved around S0 he was needling in akind of arch way, "Wéll, Bill, fed up to comingin
today" kind of thing. Bill and | read those Sgns very clearly. Fortunately, Senator Murray was il dive
and chairman of the Interior Committee. Charlie Murray, his son, was his adminigrative assistant, and,
as| may have said, wasredly in effect the senator
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inthelast years. So Bill moved over to the Interior Committee a the end of November 1959. They had
gotten rid of him. | could see no reason to any of this. | mean, Bill was doing a magnificent job. Charlie
had been doing a magnificent job. What was the point of driving these good people out? Cronin wanted
Brewton's job, of course, but he didn't want Bill's job, and certainly Jack didn't. It redlly made no

sense It was just feeding this unhappy tendency of Lister Hill to listen to poor-mouthing and
bad-mouthing of other staff people.

Wi, here | was. We brought on a new hedth guy, Bob Barkley, and Cronin became AA. All my pas,
origind friends and colleaguesin the Hill entourage, were gone, except Fred Blackwell. Well, dong
came the NDEA, weve gone through that. It was agreat success, it ill is on the books. In fact student
loans are a big issue right now. Anyway, it was atriumph for Lister Hill because he had put an
education hill through without the race issue torpedoing it, or his being blackened by it. | had worked
my tail off, but as time went on, as S0 often hagppens in legidation, the idea man is shunted aside and the
lawyers take over, to hep get the text right--well, | fully agree with that, that's why we have alegidative
counsdl. But the smart operator who's alawyer can just shunt aside professiona staff people right and
left, "Well, sure it's agreat idea Senator, but you can't do it because of Section 6 of Title 10 and stuff,
suff, suff, stuff, suff . . . . " which poor professond staff members never had
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time to learn. So the bill was-wel, | won't say drastically modified--but alot of directions changed and
ideas were |eft out as Forsythe and the lawyers went to work on it; some of them | think were
necessary, paliticaly, but some of them weren't.

Anyway, | was very pleased that it was passed, and thought it was a great achievement; it was. | was
proud to have had abig part in sarting it, and managing it up to the last few months. It became law in
the autumn of 58 and we moved over to the new building in early *59. We had this new intercom
system of telephones that rang when the senator lifted his. Well, in early 1960 the phone would ring. I'd
pick up. Jack would. Bob would. "Bob, Jack, comein here." Thiswent on for a couple of weeks, |
was not summoned. So | thought, "Well, they're targeting me, there's no question about it.” But | had to
see the chairman because there were vouchers to sign, lettersto Sign, and al sorts of committee
business that had to be carried on, but that was the limit of it. | would have to ask to see him and wait
my turn, and wasin and out, bip, bip, no chit-chat, no sitting around and gassing as we sometimes had.
| was on ablacklit, right on top of having contributed to Hill's triumph! It wasterrible.

Wi, | had aboy in college and agirl in private schoal, | didn't have avery big sdary, and | couldnt
afford to lose that job. Furthermore, who wantsto be achief clerk fired by Lister
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Hill? Where do you get ajob? It would have been bad. So | said, well, they're not going to get me. I'm
going to do my job so damn well that there can be no possible criticism of the thing I'm paid to do, but |
can't have any in-put in any other kind of activity or legidative program. So | just put my head down.
From 1959 to 1963 the only connection | had with Lister Hill was Signing of papers and getting saff
gppointments cleared, making arrangements, payralls, and the usud adminigtrative stuff. 1t was
unbelievable. It went on amogt to the end of *63. Weird business.

There had been one moment in about ‘61 when this pattern changed briefly. Thisisagory in itsdf. I've
written a five-page memo on it, and | might even include it in the record, but briefly. | was having lunch
with Maurice Rosenblait down &t this old fish restaurant that used to be next to the Commodore Hotd,
Wearley's-a great place. Ligter Hill used to go there to lunch on Saturday and have his one public
Manhattan, and his one luncheon off the Hill, as amatter of fact, per week. Thistime Cronin was with
him and they sat in the back. As they were leaving they stopped at our table. He knew Maurice and
somebody e se who was with us. Senator Hill said, "St'rt, what are we going to do about this U.N.
business?' Well, | knew what he meant; the right-wing was making a greet effort to get us out of the
U.N. There was aresolution pending and they had gtirred up a huge public furor. Senator John
Sparkman, as a member of the Foreign Relations Committee had somehow been assigned the
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position of defending the U.N. He as getting dl kinds of brickbats and garbage dung a him from
Alabamaand dsawhere, and it was faling over on Ligter, his colleague. Now here was my chairman
asking me, "What are we going to do about stopping this mania, this mail, and these crazy people who
are trying to wreck our foreign police?’ | said, "Well, frankly Senator, | haven't given it too much
thought, but if you wish | will." He said, "Y es, bring me amemo on Monday."

I'm foreshortening this, but anyway, | dashed back to the office and told Marjorie Whittaker, my
secretary, we're going to work al weekend, and got a hold of Charlie Brewton, who was then working
for Presdent Kennedy in the Office of Emergency Preparedness. "Charlie" | said, "thisisit. They're
going to get me now if | don't produce on thisone." It was an impossible task, or one of the more, |
thought. | said, "Y ou're from Alabama, that's why I'm calling you, what can we cook up that would shut
this stuff down?" Well, the long and short of it was, by noon Sunday we had a scheme, which involved
having the president gppoint Mrs. Kennedy as chairwoman of a Women's American Peace Movement
for the U.N. and calling on everybody, Republican and Democrats, liberds and conservatives, in the
name of womanhood and peace, and so forth. We had a grand idea, we thought.
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By God, a ten o'clock in the morning on Monday the phone rang, "St'rt, you got that memorandum?”
"Yes, gr, I'll bring it right in.” 1t wasn't too long, of course, and heread it over. Cronin was there. The
senator said, "My God, that might just do it, serioudy, it might just do it." Mogt of the Kennedy’s
weren't liked in Alabama, but Mrs. Kennedy was. She was a charming lady, sheld done nice things for
the White House, they had no hatred for her. He said, "Wdll, how do you think we can get it done?" |
sad, "Wadll, I've thought of that, too. A couple of months ago, Bobby Kennedy, then Attorney Generd,
had a bunch of us down to his office, and he talked about his job and what he was doing and so on. He
sad, 'Now, listen, guys, when you get back up there, anytime you have an idea you think will be helpful
to the president or me, cal me up."' So | said to Senator Hill, "1 think | can go to Bobby Kennedy on
that bass at leadt. It has to be done within the family anyway, and he's the one who can go into the
president's office with it. So | think the doors are partly open.” But | said, "I think I'll need a letter from
you to the Attorney Generd. | just cant walk in; I work for you. | can't go floating around with ideas
for Mrs. Kennedy." He said, "Write up aletter, but you sgnit.” | sad, "Well that won't do any good.”
He sad, "Well, you can indicate that you're doing it on my authorization." Or | thought he said
something like that. Well, he had to, how could | proceed this other way? So off went a
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letter with something in it about Lister Hill, indicating that he wasn't opposed.

Bobby had a guy named John Seigenthder, former editor of the Nashville, Tennessee
Tennessean--he's dill around, very bright guy--as his adminigtrative assstant. So | called him aday
after | sent Bobby the letter. He said, "Yeah, | got the letter, come in and see me." So off | went. The
letter enclosed the proposal that | had given to Hill. It was just about the same language but turned
around as a proposd to the Attorney Generd to take to his brother. Well, Segenthder sad, "I like this.
Unfortunately the Attorney Generd is going to Indonesiain two days. | don't know whether | can catch
him to read it." He said, "But he's coming in from Virginiafor abig State Department briefing in about
an hour and maybe | can catch him in between." So he sad, "I'll call you." In afew hours he cdled
back and said, "Y ep, Bobby thought it was great and istaking it to the White House." By then | wasin
seventh heaven. | cdled up Ligter Hill right away and said, "It's moving." Oh, yes, and Siegenthaer
cdled the next day and said, "It's on the presdent's desk." Evelyn Lincoln had taken it in.

The next day | got a preemptory cal from the chairman, "St't, come in here!" There was Don Cronin,
and he had shot me down thistime. Heré's how held doneit: held persuaded Ligter Hill that the mention
of his name in amemorandum to the Kennedy’ s would be legked
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to Drew Pearson, and the Southerners would redlize that Hill secretly was a supporter of the
Kennedy’s and that this would not only do him in but shoot the whole project down. | said, " Senator,
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there was certainly no intention on any of our parts to have this happen. Y ou read the letter. Y ou read
the letter, Don. What isthisdl about?' "Well, weve had second thoughts," meaning Don had been
needling him, probably caled a couple of editorsin Alabama and had them squawk. Well, | was just
shattered. What in the hell can | do about it? It's on the president’s desk, with that paragraph init! He
sad, "Get it back." Get it back? How do you get aletter off the presdent's desk? He said, "I'm sure
you'l find away, Stewart, you better had.”

Wéll, old friendships come to mind in critica times and Mike Manatos, White House liaison with the
Senate, had been on the Hill and had been adminigirative assstant to Senator Lester Hunt from
Wyoming, who shot himsdlf in his office for reasons we won't go into having to do with Joe McCarthy
and Styles Bridges. But anyway, Mike found the body and we who were nearby in the hall heard the
tumult, and did what we could--awful time. Mike now was Kennedy's man for the Senate. So we met
in Mgority Leader Mandfidd's office and | told him the story. | said, ™Y ou've got to get that thing back.
The senator has agreed to let it go through if we just take off that bottom paragraph. I'll get it retyped,
clear it with him, and bring it to you, and you can put it back on the president's desk. Can you
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do this? He sad, "WEell just see" He cdled up Evelyn Lincoln and said, "By the way, thereé's amistake
in that letter transmitted from Bobby; would you send it back and well fix it up?' Well, she hadn't read
it and Mike Manatos was of Senate origin, S0 back it came. And onit, in bold writing: "I think thisis
terrific!" sgned Bobby.

So, we kept the first page and retyped the last one, leaving out the heinous paragraph. Then | walked
into Hill's office, took the origind last page, and tore it into smal piecesright in front of him, threw it in
his waste basket, and handed him the revised one. He approved it, | took it back to Mike and down it
went to the White House. | went over to the floor to report that the transaction was complete so far as
this end was concerned. And Senator Hill sat me down on the couch, put his arm around me, banged
my leg, and sad, "St'rt, boy, | can't tel you how glad | am you did it. Can't tell you how glad | am, boy,
you did it!" Hed gotten off Cronin's hook. He didn't want to fire me, or do anything to me. But lill that
didn't redly change anything in my position. By then Cronin was so furious at me, he was absolutdy
determined to put me out of business. He must have done something else in the Hill office because the
old pattern resumed: | was the technical guy who brought in the payroll, until a couple of weeks after
the Kennedy nation. Oh, by the way, what happened to the memo? It was sent to the State
Department of al places, and Fred Dutton who was there had it; he was passing it around, and showed
it to Senator Goldwater's
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adminigrative assstant of al people, who happened to be afriend of his. Well, of course, nothing came
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of the whole idea. How could Fred Dutton talk to Mrs. Kennedy? The whole thing had gotten
Sdetracked. Wdl, anyway, the U.N. is gill there and everything isdl right.

Jack Kennedly, the poor devil, had been murdered, and the Senate was having eulogies on December
3rd or 4th, and we were in conference with the House on a hedlth bill, in EF-100, you know, that funny
little place in the Capitol with a Roman bath outside. The conference broke up for the House members
to caucus, and Hill and a couple of other senators and | and Forsythe were waking around out in the
Roman bath. Suddenly | heard avoice: "St'rt, come over here, | want to talk to you!" "Yes, gr.” He
told me, “I'm facing ahard one. They're having aeulogy for Presdent Kennedy, about aweek away,
and | don't know anybody who can write that speech for me but you. Do it. | want afirst draft
Monday," which was two or three days off, notime at dl. | said, "Have you any ideawhat youd like to
say?' He sad, "Well, he was amember of my committee for years, chairman of an important
subcommittee of my committee. On the other hand, he's hated in my state and | can't say anything that
will offend them. Weve got to walk between these two things: my duty to say something gppropriate
that will not stir up greet trouble.” | said, "Wel, what's Kennedy done recently that's so greet?’ There
was that limitation on the use of aomic weapons in space, remember
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that treety that the Russians and we agreed not to fire off bombs in the sky? It was the one disarmament
step, | suppose you would cdl it, that Kennedy managed to take. So Hill said, "Yes sr. Man of Peace.
Kennedy, Man of Peace, that will be the theme." OK, it could be done. Nobody could take that away
from Kennedy, or from Hill for saying it.

Agan my old pa Charlie Brewton came into the picture. By then he had come back to the Senate and
was working for John Sparkman as generd counsdl to the Defense Production Subcommittee. That
must have been a strange relationship between Senator Sparkman and Hill with Charlie Brewton
around, but it seemed to have worked. | never heard any echoes of it. So | said, "Charlie, heré's what
the senator has handed to me this time. Man of Peace, hmmm." Wéll, we knew how to use dl those
words. We drummed up Marjorie for the weekend and off we went. On the way through the first or
second draft, Charlie said, "Y ou know, there is something e se that would tickle the senator, and it can't
hurt him in Alabama and which | think he probably thinks could properly be said about Kennedy."
Ligter Hill, if anything, isin pursuit of excellence in whatever he does. And President Kennedly reflected
in some ways that same spirit. He liked the brightest boys around him, he liked the best ideas. He
wanted no shoddy workmanship, no chegp machinery, no faling apart of the works. He truly, | thought,
sought excellence. Well, we worked thet in, too.
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It was ashort thing, five or Six pages. We typed it up and ten o'clock in the morning, "St'rt, got that
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goeech?' "Yes, ar." Took it in, and heread it, read it twice. He said, "Y ou know, St'rt, when | come to
big decisonsin my life, | have to clear them with my red-haired twin sgter. | have to send this down to
Alabama" | had not yet met her, awonderful person. So, afew days later: "Just had acal from my
red-headed twin sigter. Saysit's the best speech she's read since Cicero!” Serioudy, he said, "She
thinksit's great; so do I. Well go ahead with it." After that, they couldn't touch me. | was Ligter Hill's
right-arm buddy till he went out of office, on most everything. Ian't that interesting?

RITCHIE: What happened to Cronin?

M CCLURE: Oh, when Senator Hill retired Cronin went down to work for the Corcoran law firm,
wherel guesshe dill is.

RITCHIE: The Corcoran?

MCCLURE: Tommy-the-Cork. Corcoran and Rowe and Somebody, in aminor position. | think he's
doing corporate taxes, or something dreadful. But he could do that kind of work, I'm sure, and no
doubt iswell pad for it. Anyway, Tommy-the-Cork was close to Senator Hill and took care of Cronin.
Campbell went to work for the American Hospital Association. | saved one of the poor guys at the
bottom,
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who was just going to fal in between the cracks, put him on our printing staff, and he's still down here
on the firg floor, Paul Pinson.

Forsythe, however, stayed on. There was an eection in '68, and Lister Hill retired. Senator Morse was
up, and Senator Randol ph was going to be chairman of Public Works and wouldn't take the Labor
Committee anyway. So Morse was defeated and Senator Y arborough inherited the chairmanship.
Forsythe, to show what adick, smart cookie heis, dipped out to Oregon. He was a greeeaaat friend of
Wayne Morse. Looked at some of the palls, and knew Morse was done for. So he dipped down to

Y arborough in Texas and locked himsdlf in there. And suggested, I'm sure, that Since the new chairman
would want his own man he ought to get rid of McClure and put somebody esein, which he did. Oh
well, Forsythe finally resigned and went to work some life insurance lobby, getting $80,000 a year
probably, unscathed by dl this, happy asaclam.

It'sfunny, | didn't mention this, but during this period that | was having such a glorious new honeymoon
with Lister Hill, Forsythe cracked up, had to be sent to a dry-out farm, divorced his wife-which Lister
Hill thought was terrible. He didnt like divorce; Forsythe had married a swest little girl, and here she
was being dumped. Well, Forsythe was in the dog housg, if that's the proper
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term, for the rest of histerm with Senator Hill. Some kind of justice in dl this, | guess.

RITCHIE: Do you think there were alot of pressures on a staff member at that time that would cause
someone like Forsythe to crack up?

MCCLURE: Wél, he no longer was number one, you see. And Cronin, after this "great” speech,
couldn't touch me with Senator Hill, so he broke with Forsythe, too, to save his own skin. There was
no more trouble from Cronin. He may have caused Forsythe trouble, | don't know.

| do recdl, | forgot to tell you, the senator caled me every haf hour after his Sster had approved the
gpeech. At least for two days the phone would ring: "St'rt, just wanted to tell you again, a great speech,
boy." And onetime | heard Forsythe say, "Aw, shit!" and dam his phone down. Ah, God, it looks
funny now, but it waan't too funny then.

RITCHIE: There was amember of the Secretary's office who did a management study of the
employees around here and he found that while most everybody seemed to like their job, and got gresat
satisfaction out of it, very few people had great sense of security in their job.

MCCLURE: It wasimpossble.
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RITCHIE: Because there was no Civil Service, | suppose.

MCCLURE: To gart with.

RITCHIE: And you lived by the whim of the chairman or the mgority.

MCCLURE: No question about it.

RITCHIE: Wasthat a pervasve sense throughout the committee staff?

MCCLURE: It'sunderstood. Y ou must perform aswell asyou can at dl times, and a any moment
you can be tossed out. Of course, there are inhibitions. A senator can't fire some girl from his state
without worrying about what the effects will be. | mean, it's not a carte blanche power that's given a
chairman, but the avarenessisthere at dl times. And it'sagood thing, | think. It keeps everybody on

histoes. You've got to produce. Y ou've got to satisfy your boss and alot of other people, too, to
whom he looks for assstance and gpprobation and so on; he doesn't want some guy running around
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whom everybody didikes. All that sort of thing.
RITCHIE: But do you think it encourages that kind of jockeying for power and backstabbing?

MCCLURE: I'verardy seen an office where it didn't go on. There may be some, and some you don't
know about because you don't
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know the office well enough, but inthose | knew fairly well there was generaly somebody. Frequently
he or she was ostracized by dl the others because they knew what a p-r-i- - he was, so0 his
effectiveness was not so great. But when the top guy isworking againgt you, you're redly in
trouble--the AA, or the staff director. Of course, | never indulged in any of this crap mysdf. | didn't
havethebrainsto doiit, | guess. Certainly no inclinaion to do it.

There have been bad staff directors who have mishandled their people, mistreated them. AAswho
ingst on deegping with secretaries before they'll give them araise. Oh, sure, that's part of it. | don't know
how much, but I know of cases. Fortunately, Lister Hill, and Wayne Morse, and Guy Gillette, and
Jennings Randolph, the four | redlly worked with, were al above the age of girl-chasing. | don't know
what they were doing when they were younger, but there was no sexud hanky-panky going on around
them.

RITCHIE: Wdl, what's the best way for a chairman to handle a saff Stuation like that, given al the
pressures underneath? Or who do you think handled it the best, of al the chairmen you worked for?

MCCLURE: Wél, let me take Senator Randolph as chairman of Public Works. He never alowed it
to sart. If somebody gave him abad note like that held just stare him down, just go dedf, glare a him,
wouldn't even say anything. So it just stopped right away. It
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just couldn't go. While he was chairman, | don't know how it isnow, | imagineit is quite the same
because Senator Stafford, the present chairman, is the same kind of person, but that was a good staff
and there was no in-fighting. There were jedlousies, of course, but they never reached the chairman,

and there was no attempt to knife somebody in away that would lose him hisjob. They might fight for
positions on ahill, or for their point of view, or snarl a the way some staff member was listening to that
lobbyist too much, and so forth. But that's inevitable. That's staff work. Y ou have to have different ideas
and different sources and fight for your position. But this business of using any of those things, or other
things, to threaten the position, the job security, by feeding poison to the chairman, | regard as vile, and
no chairman should dlow it to occur. Certainly Randolph never did.
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| didn't see Gillette in charge of any staff, except his own, and there was no fighting there. And Morse
had no chairmanship either, except the subcommittee on education where his staff amounted to two or
three people and there was little possihility of knifings and so forth going on. His office was beautifully
run by Bill Berg, and | don't know for sure, of course, but | don't think so.

But Senator Hill, as| said in the beginning, got akind of akick, like aduke might of having the courtiers
telling nasty stories about each other, and thus increasing his sources or fund of
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knowledge about them and giving him alittle handle here and there. Senator Hill loved to kid people.
Sometimesit was fun and sometimes it wasn't o much fun. Y ou never could tdll exactly whether the
dagger was rubber or redl. But that was just hisway of joshing. It didn't mean anything. But he could
spot your weakness, and sometimes he found that weakness not just by himsalf but by other people
telling tales. And there are o many ways they do it, you know, "Gaosh, Senator, | think Bill looks bad,
don't you?' "Y egh, what do you suppose is the matter, Don?' "Ah, you know, helovesto hit it up
after--not during work, of course." "Oh, yeah. Y eah, he does look pretty bad." That kind of thing.
What can you do about it? Even if you look wonderful. Ah, dirty stuff. Well, | think that sums up the
off-the-record things that | know about that | thought were worth telling. Some of them are pretty good
stories and give you afed of what goes on beneath the surface to some degree.

RITCHIE: While you're spesking under embargo, would you be willing to tell that story about John
Kennedy and the conflict-of-interest that you told me the other day? It was about the committee he
formed.

MCCLURE: Oh, that. Didnt | tell that?

RITCHIE: You told it to me, but we didn't have the tape recorder on. We were next door.
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MCCLURE: Thisgory relates to Senator John Kennedy when he was chairman of the Subcommittee
on Labor, in fact newly-made chairman of the Subcommittee on Labor. The McCldlan Committee on
Investigation of Labor-Management Activities was reveding al sorts of nasty things about the
Teamgters. Bobby Kennedy was the counsel for that committee and was riding hard, too. He was a
tough prosecutor. The minority leeder, the guy from Cdifornia. . .

RITCHIE: William Knowland.

MCCLURE: ... Knowland had come up with a"Democracy in Trade Unions' bill. Well, you know
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Bill Knowland didn't give a damn about democracy in unions. It was al designed to hamstring the
leadership and permit al sort of anarchic activity to go on. McCldlan's committee also came up with a
bunch of recommendations. They were dl going to come to the Labor Committee, and Jack Kennedy
could see these juggernauts coming down the track while he was revving up his presidentia campaign.
Somebody--I think it may have been Raph Dungan, who was on our gteff a the time as Kennedy's
man, though not alawyer adamn fine saff guy, even for this technica stuff--he must have suggested
that Kennedy create a bi -management- |abor pand to sudy the need for revision of Taft-Hartley,
which was then the exigting law and which these amendments from Knowland and McCldlan sought to
change agreat ded. So in due course the committee created a panel of twelve members, some of
whom were from unions,
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some from business, and some professors. While | don't remember dl of the names there were some
terrific people on it, including Willard Wirtz and Arthur Goldberg, and Gerad Rellly of the Retall
Federation, and John what's-his-name from Harvard.

RITCHIE: Dunlop?

M CCL URE: Dunlop? Anyway, gregt guys, and they al were willing to do it. They were to meet here
in Washington. We got them a staff, and money to pay for their trangportation. They would meet and
read papers and debate and seek to come up with resolutions and propose amendments to the Labor
Committee. Well, the whole purpose, | think, from Kennedy's point of view, wasto sdl, so his
nomination, at least, could be attained. That was redlly the purpose, | think of this body. They met over
severa months. Well, anyway, before they met officidly there was a gathering in S-114 in the Capital,
one of the Appropriations rooms. The panel members were dl invited, Senator Kennedy was going to
make awelcoming speech.

About ten o'clock that morning, Bob Brenkworth, then Financid Clerk, cdled, and said, "Stewart, has
Senator Kennedy given any consideration to the possibility that some of the members of his new pand
will be faced with the conflict of interest, since they are on the payroll of their repective businesses and
unions. This doesn't apply to the professors, of course.” | said, "My God, Bob, | don't think he has. |
certainly haven't mentioned it. It never occurred
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tome” Hesad, "Wadll, just think of this: suppose the panel comes up with arecommendation that some
group doesn't like. They will charge that the fellows who voted for it were redly voting for their union of
business position while they were being paid by the Senate.” This could have damaged whatever the

pand did. | thought, well that certainly makes sense. In any case, Senator Kennedy should be aerted to
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it. So | told Ralph Dungan right away. He was busy as hell and said, "Oh, yeah, yeah, yeah." | said,
"Call Brenkworth, for Chrigt's sake, and get this thing worked out so you can tell the chairman before
he get to the meeting.” Well, nothing like that happened, and were in the meeting, and I'm there as clerk
taking notes; Ralph is there, backing up Kennedy.

Kennedy makes a beautiful speech, and everybody's pleased as punch. | have twelve copies of the
gppointment form to be sgned by Ligter Hill, appointing these twelve gentlemen to a pand to be paid
for entirely by the Senate. It was adollar-a-day kind of thing, but with expenses. So Raph turns around
and says, "Oh, by the way Senator, Stewart has something to report from the Financia Clerk.” Oh,
Jesus. | thought to mysdlf, "Y ou dirty bastard, you redly dumped it on methistime." What was| to do,
with twelve gentlemen and the chairman looking & me. | said, "Yes, gr, Mr. Brenkworth, Financia
Clerk, cdled this morning, and thought that you dl should be aware of a potentid conflict of interest if
you are Sgned on the Senate payroll while being paid by your own organizations.” |
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thought Kennedy was going to kill me! He turned around black as a cloud, shoved me back from the
table, and said, "What the hell did you bring that Goddamned thing up for? What did you bring that up
for?' | sad, "l had to, itsmy duty. | had to." He said, "Well, dl right" and finaly cadmed himsdlf down.
Of course, they d | agreed and it was al worked out so there would be no conflict of interest.

RITCHIE: Did they just not accept the funds?

MCCLURE: They didnt get the one dollar, and the people who were in town didn't get the expenses,
it turned out that al of them except the professors were in town anyway, so the thing became moot, and
not even important, but | had to do it. | mean, Brenkworth would have raised it himsdlf, and then where
would we have dl been? Senator Kennedy never forgave me for that. Held glower at me acrossthe
room, for months afterwards. God, it was unpleasant. And it was adl that Goddamned Dungan's doing.
W, he may have not intended to do it, but a thing of that sfnificance I'm sure he must have
remembered, and he didn't want that black glareto fal on him. Terrible,

RITCHIE: | heard anumber of stories about Brenkworth and | get the feding that alot of the chief
clerks of committeesfelt asif
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they were between arock and a hard place. On one side was Brenkworth and on the other side were
the committee chairmen and members.

MCCLURE: Yes, and Brenkworth aways won. He was wonderful. | hated him and was scared to
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death of him for many years, but findly | got to know him and redlized what he was up againgt, with a
hundred senatorid payralls, and sixty subcommittee and committee payrolls, and thousands of people
taking trips, some of them that weren't authorized, and hiring planes that weren't authorized, and
submitting vouchers. | don't know how anybody stays sane in that job, and, of course, they dl have had
heart attacks, except the last one, Bill Ridgely. | saw him the other day, he looks untouched. But he had
adifferent temperament. Brenkworth was a top-sergeant kind of guy, and he talked like one, barking at
you. But he didn't have time to be nice, he had just too much to do.

We became very good friends after awhile. | could forestal difficulties with him by knowing what to do
and what not to do. But for new people he was rough. Especidly girls, they'd just come back panicked:
"Oh, don't send me over there again, Mr. McClure! | can't take it!" But he was always right. He knew
the law, he knew the books, he knew the accounting, he knew what you had to do, he knew the
regulations and rules. Y ou couldn't argue with him; he knew. So why bother? Y ou could argue fact,
well, of course the senator had to
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take that plane because his car broke down, and so forth. And then he, of course--al the vouchers
went to the Rules Committee--could have a little cushion there. If they gpproved then he was off the
hook. But he fought fird.

RITCHIE: Did John Kennedy have areputation for having a hot temper when he was a senator?

MCCLURE: | don't know that he did. He wasn't much of a senator, you know, until he took on this
labor subcommittee. He wasn't redlly a senator.

RITCHIE: In other words, he wasn't someone you were nervous about offending in advance; you
hadn't anticipated his response?

MCCLURE: No. Wdl, he was making great speeches on foreign affairs, and evading the tough ones,
like labor law, and so forth. He was kind of lazy. Hisfirst gppointment on the commiitteg, | think, was
Railroad Retirement, which would not turn anybody on much. No, | don't think he was regarded as
hot-tempered. His brother was much didiked up here, though he changed greetly in later years. When
he was a senator himsalf, he was a wonderful guy, Bobby--grest |oss.

RITCHIE: Did you have much direct deding with him when he was a member of the gaff?
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MCCLURE: Not too much. He was a prosecutor and | was not in the law business. But you would
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see him on the floor, and he treated everybody like crumbs because his brother was sitting there asa
senator. Oh, it was nasty. And we all knew that he had been hired by Joseph McCarthy, and that didn't
endear usto him ether. Anyway, that's another sory. But the Labor Committee did have dl three
Kennedy’s. In fact, a one time we had two of them, Bobby and Teddy, and sometimes the by-play in
executive sesson was just hilarious, because they had these ingde family jokes, none of which |
remember, but they'd be dluding to something that was said the night before someplace: "Well, you
didn't say that last night, Bobby!" 1t was fun.

RITCHIE: | noticed that Senator Edward Kennedy took the Aging subcommittee at one point, and |
remember that you had said that you couldn't persuade John Kennedy to takeit.

MCCLURE: No, | couldn't persuade Ted Sorenson to take it. | never talked to John Kennedy about
it. Sorenson was so wrong about that. Kennedy could have avoided that whole Landrum-Griffin thing if
held wanted to. "I'm busy with the problems of the aging, you can give that to somebody else” | dont
know if Ligter Hill would have let him get away with it, but he certainly would have been in a better
position than hewasto resit it.
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RITCHIE: How does the subcommittee distribution work? Would a chairman like Ligter Hill assign
someone to a subcommittee that they wanted to serve on, or did he arbitrarily assgn them?

MCCLURE: Oh, never arbitrarily. He was a greet diplomat. He never surprised anybody with
anything like that, no. Well, the tradition was that there were three mgor subcommittees: Labor,
Education, and Hedlth. And there were alot of others, fifteen at one point. | think they now have
fourteen. Five of them were specid subcommittees that didn't do anything legidatively. The tradition
was that the chairman would take whatever subcommittee he wanted.

Then sometimes, outside pressure would play a powerful rolein the sdection of a subcommittee
chairman. In 1961, after Jack Kennedy became president, the chairmanship of both the Labor and
Education subcommittees became vacant, Snce Senator Murray, chairman of the latter subcommittee,
had died.

Senator Morse was Number 2 on Labor, followed by Senator McNamara. Senator Hill was Number 2
on Education, followed by Senator Morse. As chairman of the Health subcommittee, Senator Hill could
not take the Education subcommittee chairmanship. Number 3 on Education had been McNamara, so
with the death of Senator Murray, he would be expected to inherit Education, while Senator Morse
would replace Kennedy on Labor. Oddly enough, just the reverse took place.
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Thiswas the result of heavy lobbying by both organized labor and education, the AFL-CIO and the
Nationa Education Association. While till in the doghouse, | had no persona knowledge of what went
on. | learned that the AFL-CIO didn't want Morse as chairman of what they regarded as their
subcommittee, because he was too independent, while McNamara, an old trade-unionist, was their
kind of guy. Also, the NEA and the education lobby in generd didn't want McNamara governing their
field of interest, but strongly favored Morse, aformer college professor and a known advocate of
federd aid to education.

So Chairman Hill finally had to work out a satisfactory compromise; he named Morse chairman of
Educetion, to which he was entitled by virtue of subcommittee seniority (Senator Hill not exercising his
right), and McNamara chairman of Labor, to which he was entitled when Morse was disqualified by
having been named Education chairman.

In the end, everybody was happy. Morse made a superb record in Education and McNamara not only
reassured the labor movement but managed the poverty legidation. When Senator McNamara died,
Senator Y arborough inherited the Labor subcommittee, and when Morse was defeated in 1968,
Senator Claiborne Pell became chairman of the Education subcommittee.

RITCHIE: There was Rallroad Retirement, Veterans. . . .
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MCCLURE: Yes, until they created the Veterans Committee, which made no sense a dl because
mogt of veterans affairs involve hedlth and education, and hospitas, and so forth. Anyway, they got
their damn committee. Well, senators would assert their seniority on the committee for the
subcommittees, that's the way it would work, and then they could keep them--you couldn't throw them
off. And sometimes, if nobody redly wanted it, and the chairman had Ieft, Hill would gppoint the next
ranking member, unless he were chairman of something ese. We usudly had anywhere from seven to
ten Democratic members. For those who didn't get operating committees, like Pete Williams, we
crested a Migratory Labor subcommittee. And McNamara had the Aging subcommittee for awhile,
until he inherited the Labor subcommittee.

The Republicans, on the other hand, | don't know how they worked it out, but they always had a clash
between the right wing and the left wing. When Goldweater was in dl the right-wing guys got the best
subcommittees, and when Javits was in dl the other side got them, unless they were dready occupied
by Goldwater people; then he never tried to displace them. But the minority membership on a
subcommittee doesn't amount to adamn. It's dl run by the mgority. Y ou know, they don't set agenda,
or hearings. They can cal witnesses, of course, put in amendments, and bills, and so forth, but so far as
running the show they don't have anything to say about it. | don't know how most committees operate.
You'd haveto ask. |
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upposeit's quite amilar, after dl seniority is ill the reigning law here, and should be.

RITCHIE: | wasjust wondering, in the sense that there are obvioudy some subcommitteesthat are
more attractive and there are some that are more dangerous than others.

MCCLURE: Yes Wel, sometimes a man goes on a dangerous subcommittee when he's afreshman,
and suddenly some years later he finds he's chairman. It happened to John Kennedy. Well, of course,
we tend to make too much of al these things. We look in our own little forest here. The public doesn't
give ahoot redly who's chairman of what. Lobbyists do, you bet.

RITCHIE: Wdl, being chairman of the Labor subcommittee obvioudy helped Kennedy with the labor
movement, the unions.

MCCLURE: Oh, I'm sureit did. That Landrum-Griffin conference was something. Kennedy had hired
awonderful felow from Harvard, who later got involved in the Justice Department's troubles under
Waergate, big tdl, smart guy, | can't think of his name. Hired him after the pand had disbanded to be
hislegd counsd, because Dungan wasn't, and none of his own staff was. Archibald Cox. Cox was very
smart, much smarter than Kennedy was on labor law. The Republicans on the committee hated him; he
was too damn good. They had a good man, too, in Mike Berngtein, an expert |abor lawyer and minority
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counsd, but he met his match with Cox and couldn't get away with alot of the suff he had done before,
when our Sde wasn't quite as familiar with the implications of a certain amendment.

We ended up findly in conference with a bill that contained something that the building trades didn't
want, if | remember correctly. | can't remember the details but it was awholetitle of the bill that redlly
had nothing to do with the purpose of the bill, which was to democratize and improve the operations of
trade unions. This had something to do with secondary boycott or some other Taft-Hartley issue. There
had been aterrific fight in the Senate and the McClellan and Knowland group almost had enough votes
to subdtitute their proposas for the committee bill; it failed very narrowly. | remember we got into
conference and it went on and on and on and on and on for days, and the lobby outside was packed
with labor lobbyigts, newspapermen who couldn't get in, tourigts trying to get through, chaotic, right in
front of the Disbursing Office, with Brenkworth going mad!

Wi, we cameto thisfind question, the building trades title, and the House insisted on it. Maybe we
hadn't put it in, | guessthat wasiit, they'd been strong enough in the Senate to keep it out, but it wasin
the House bill. Landrum and his group had it in. It was ared flag for the building trades. That wasiit.
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And Cox kept arguing that it had nothing to do with thislegidation and Kennedy
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would repest this ad infinitum. Morse wanted to dissolve the conference and return the bill to the
Senate for indructions. "My God," Kennedy said, "weéll lose if we go back, they'll give ustheir bill."
which wastrue, | think. Findly, Dirksen got up and said in his huge voice, "Mr. Chairman, in view of
the inability of this conference to reach any agreement while staff is present, | move that dl saff be
expelled from the room until we resolve this question.” That meant Cox, and dl the rest of us, too. So
we trailed out into the corridor and fought our way through these people, dl of them saying, "What's
going on? What's going on?" Wéll, in the end, the Senate accepted the House language, and Kennedy
went back to the floor with Morse threatening to filibuster; he wouldn't Sign the conference report, put
on aterrific Morse show. But the minute it was resolved, then Cox was asked back in to help write the
report!

RITCHIE: Do you think that Kennedy gave in because Cox wasn't there?
MCCLURE: | don't know why.

RITCHIE: Hedidnt put his name on the bill. It wasn't the Kennedy-Landrum Bill.
MCCLURE: Hedidn't want it.

RITCHIE: Both Landrum and Griffin were members of the House.

page 171

MCCLURE: Wasn't Griffin a senator by then? No, | guess you areright, it was the
Democratic-Republican bill in the House. We had a bill, a Kennedy hill, and that was the one we went
to conference with, but we accepted the House language, so that's the way it ended up, | think.
Furthermore, Kennedy didn't want his name on the damn thing for the rest of history. Tied up with
Landrum, that character from Georgia? No way. | don't know what happened. No senators would talk.
| guessthey felt they had to have abill, they couldn't just St there forever, and the House was adamant
and the Senate had voted fairly closdy on it, and Kennedy wasn't sure he could withstand it--1 don't
know. But in any event, it didn't lose on its merits, it lost on a power play. | mean the Senate didn't lose
in the merits of the question, it just lost because they couldn't see their way to winning.

RITCHIE: Did you ever encounter anything like that again in a conference committee, where the staff
was asked to leave?
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MCCLURE: No. We had a senator from Colorado named Gordon Allott, a brash young fellow who
came out of the Junior Chamber of Commerce, that type, and it took, him alittle while to catch on to
this place. He was early on amember of the committee and when things would start going badly for him
in ameseting héd say, "What are dl these saff people doing here? | would like, Mr. Chairman, to ask
them to identify themsalves, to determine whether they have
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any busness here" Liger Hill would dways finesse that one, "Well, they're dl here at the request of
senaors. Y ou can have your man here, too, if you wish." Allott pulled that crap quite afew times.

Of course, executive sessionsin those days were fun, and staff people, especidly the legidative guys
with senators, wanted to be there, even if the bill wasn't in their domain, but it made a kind of a crowd.
If there was one thing Ligter Hill would never dlow was for any of the prerogatives of the chairman to
be challenged, let done successfully challenged. Hejust fixed it immediately. Not that he over
performed his privilege, over exerted in exercisng it, but he didn't enjoy anybody trying to take his
place, even partly. The old boys dl knew that, and they didn't ether, wherever they were chairman. But
it took some of the young fellows time. Probably sill does. W, | don't think weve got anymore
revelations & this point.

RITCHIE: OK. Next time | thought we'd talk about the 89th Congress, in 1965, ‘66, when that great
rush of legidation came through; some of the atmaosphere, and the Johnson treatment, and al tht.

MCCLURE: I think I'll go back to the minutes, I've been looking at them. It was so complex and
there was so much going on. | was talking to Don Baker, who was on the staff of McNamara on our
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committee at the time and hel's now, and has been for along time, the chief clerk of the House Labor
Committee. | went to see him one day and | said, "Whatever happened to the War on Poverty?' He
sad, "Wl I'll show you, it's fill going on, and every program.” it was not being funded in large
amounts, but every one of them is till on the books and il functioning. He said, "They don't make any
noise," especidly snce the recent adminigration, but even under Carter they were very quiet, and
certainly under Nixon. Nixon tried to abolish it. Now the community action programs, which were the
most controversid, pitting the poor againg city hal, most cities accept them. It's agood idea to find out
what the folks think. And it'sworking al over the country, but nobody talks about it. It's just going on.
That was good, | was glad to hear that. Headgtart, that was an especidly good one, taking little kids
into pre-schoal.

RITCHIE: | was ateacher in Headstart one summer.
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MCCLURE: Wereyou? Wdl, you know it was agrand idea. And it's ill going on. And Upward
Bound, another one of those. | guess the Legal Servicesthing was in that program. It was a massive
busness, tweve titles or something. Well, give me alittletime.
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End of Interview #5
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THE GREAT SOCIETY
Interview #6
Tuesday, March 22, 1983

MCCLURE: | havent taked about the Dirksen Building much, but the point of this sory isthat its
design was made in 1943. [Allen] Ellender was chairman of the Legidative Appropriaions
Subcommittee and he never would adlow anicke to be spent in upgrading the plans. So when they built
it in the '50s they were using wartime plans, with al the congtraints of materia and conceptua
gpproaches. Whatever was in vogue was prolonged over into the late '50s, and they gave not one
thought to staff and the relationships of people to people, and visitors, and phones, and dl of that. The
phones were in channels under the floor, and that told you where you could have a desk, and where
you couldn't have one, because there was alump on the floor for the plug.

Wi, Senator [John] Stennis was a member of the Building Commission who had a good saff. They
took agood look at this place, before the room walls were instaled between the separate offices. They
ingsted--and he, therefore, did--that his office a least would have alittle room for each staff member,
with half awindow--the partition was set so that the wide window went haf to one sde and haf to the
other--and insde was room for a saff man's desk, and his secretary, and dl their files, which isthe way
it ought to
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be. Each staff member needs his own space, of course. But that was the only office that had that. Then
afterwards, of course, we put in dl these partitions and everybody started trying to do the same thing,
but Stennis office started out that way. It was built into the floor and went to the calling. We were dl
very envious of the staff of Senator Stenni's because they had it the way it ought to be, and none of us
ever did. No matter how many partitions, there was aways alot of noise. They couldn't run the
partitions to the ceiling because of the air conditioning. In fact, Stennis had the wal of the partition go
right up to the ceiling so the air conditioning split to each sde. It was dl very cleverly done, and could
have been done everywhere, but it wasn't.

Of course, there are only two things important up here-—-it's not the money, because that never was
important--parking and your office gpace. These are the keys to happiness. Morde in the Senate, and
the House, too, I'm sure, depends on those two things. In a sense the parking aspect is even more
critical, because these lots which have no numbered spaces--first come firgt served--require dl the
secretaries to comein a eight o'clock, even if they don't start work till nine, to get placesfor their cars.
I'm sure some of them use the Metro now, but even so, there are alot who come from Virginiaand
Maryland. If you can't get to your office on time you're not likely to keep your job, so parking is highly
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critical. Then dl day you're Stting in abuzz of noise and traffic, and other
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people, and phones ringing, that distract you from whatever you're doing, unless you have a
well-planned structure. Of course, when they started this ingtitution back in the eighteenth century they
didn't have any staff. Nobody had ever heard the word. It meant a stick that you walked with.

RITCHIE: | remember from interviewing Featherstone Reid that he gave greet vaue to what he called
"red edtate," it was abargaining chip, and a senator who controlled red estate had power.

MCCLURE: Yes. Oh, yes. Never giveit up either, never giveit up. The Labor Committee, for
example, quickly ran out of storage pace; everyone did. We had numerous lengthy hearings and
hundreds of printed volumes. What do you do with them? Well, in the Russdll Building they have atic
gpace, cages. They have the same in the "New" Senate Office Building [Dirksen]; the seventh floor is
redly not afloor. It's big walk-in cages. Well, wefilled one of those immediately. Then we got awhole
room in the sub-basement. It goes back in and you can get aladder and crawl into a sort of an
underground mezzanine and put stuff back in there. And God help the committee if Paul Pinson, the
printing derk who handles dl that stuff, ever leaves. | don't think they'll ever be able to find anything,
because he knows whereit dl is. No one just ever foresaw what was going to happen.
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RITCHIE: Wdl, the Dirksen Building was built in the days when the saff of a committee might be
fifteen people or 0.

MCCLURE: Oh, yes, sure. | asked the other day, and | think they have ninety-six now, and so does
the House Committee on Labor and Education. That's about maybe a third more than they redly need.
I'm not sure about that.

RITCHIE: Wdl, some of the subcommittees now have staffs about the sze that the full committee had
when you first came on. They have their own chief clerks now.

MCCLURE: That'sright. Wdl, awhole rationdization of this place is overdue. | don't mean by some
outside management firm. They might be helpful, but somebody who knows how the place operates,
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someone who's been in the Secretary's office for years, or the Sergeant-at -Arms, or the
Superintendent's office, somebody who knows how the place redly functions should be detailed for a
year & least to rethink the Structure, the planning, the saffing, the pay, and everything else within this
indtitution. It's just chaos at this point. Too much of everything. Too much staff, too much legidation, too
many amendments, too many meetings. The United States got dong even in the hectic years during and
after the war--when we did expand the government--and we didn't need a hundred staff people on a
committee. | don't think they do now. But | don't have enough facts to go on, and I'm sure everybody
can judtify hisjob--it's not too
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difficult--but in terms of their red contributions, an independent look could be profitable, | think. But
then, who's going to take the time even to think about that? They're so busy keeping up with today and
tomorrow.

RITCHIE: Thismight be agood point to go back and to take alook at the 1960s, because that seems
to be the period when the redl take-off occurred in terms of the number of staff members and the
activities going on here. The 89th Congress seemsto be the pivotd point.

MCCLURE: What years were those?

RITCHIE: That was 1965 and 1966. That's when the Great Society program was rolling down at full
force. | looked at alist of principal bills that went through the Labor Committee in 1965 and '66. It
included the Elementary and Secondary Education Act; the Economic Opportunity Act; the Mine
Safety Act; Heart Disease, Cancer, and Stroke Act; Higher Education Act; Manpower Act; National
Foundetion of the Arts and Humanities Act; Older Americans Act; the Cold War Gl Bill--and that's
just the main ones. The committee cdendar had awhole page of mgor legidation that it sponsored in
the 89th Congress.

MCCLURE: And that passed! Much of it.
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RITCHIE: Yes, it dl came out. How did the committee handle this incredible increase in work, and al
these mgor pieces of legidation that dl came dong a the same time?
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MCCLURE: Wél, you know the favorite device for reducing staff is attrition, asit's called. Now,
what is the opposite of attrition? Accretion, | guessit is. It didn't happen over night. It just grew out of
necessity, | think, in our case. After awhile there is some empire-building added to it, of course, but in
the beginning a senator would be assigned a subcommittee and abig blob of educationd bills or some
kind of bills would be referred to him and he had one person trying to handle it dl. HEd just cometo
the chairman and say, "I cant do it, Ligter, | can't do it. Please give me another staff man and a
secretary.” OK, that's reasonable, and that would happen. Six months later the volume again had
increased, the pressure was tremendous, and the staff was working fourteen, and so forth, hours a day.
So it wasn't aplan, it wasn't empire-building in the beginning, it was a response to the tremendous
activity that Johnson sponsored downtown and that came up here to be acted upon.

We didn't handle it in any schematic way, or in any planned way; it just was a response to demand.
While I'm surein the later years, when the heat from the administration had declined, and Johnson was
no longer there--and Nixon was not noted for visionary new
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programs--by then every senator had gotten the fed of having a subcommittee and running something,
and he had staff, who had been hired during the big time, to keep on, so alot of manufactured work,
not redly essentia stuff was brought into being in order to maintain saff, and in order to maintain a
subcommittee, and in order to maintain a chairmanship. Then we see the results. there ' sagreat |ot of
fat, people who just aren't as busy as they were in the *60s. In those years everybody worked al the
time. There was no question about it.

| should say, in preparation for your request last time, that we talk about the poverty programs, | spent
some time with Donald Baker, who is now the chief clerk and staff director of the House Committee on
Education and Labor, and who was the staff man on the poverty program on this sde. Well, Donisan
extremdly able, experienced man. He's alawyer who came here with Congressman James O'Hara of
Michigan, and when O'Hara was defeated he came over here with Senator Pat McNamara of
Michigan. Then to jump ahead, when the poverty program was established in the Office of Economic
Opportunity under Sergeant Shriver, he became the genera counsdl of the agency, and later on in '69
he came back to the House under the present chairman, Carl Perkins, as chief clerk and counsd. So he
| shad great experience on both sdes and downtown. So | wanted to find out from him his
recollections of the beginnings of the War on Poverty, and | have taped it, too.
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In substance, he reports that John Kennedy in about 1962 had asked some staff people to look into the
extent of poverty in the United States, the dimensions of it, how many people, where are they, and to
bring him areport. Which they did in early ‘64. They brought it to Johnson in *64. They worked oniit in
‘63, and when Kennedy was nated and Johnson became president the report then landed on
Johnson's desk. He was gredtly interested in it and established atask force, mainly of government
people athough not entirely, headed by Sergeant Shriver, who had been the head of the Peace Corps
under Kennedy. They raked peoplein from Justice, Labor, HEW, Agriculture, even Defense, severd
guys from the Defense Department, Robert McNamara people. They did athorough review not only of
this report and other documentation, but set out to develop a program to dedl with it, and in as short a
time as March 14, Johnson sent up a message. Now thiswas fast work. A message to the Congress
outlining this concept, new programs, so forth. The next month they had a bill written, and of course, it
came to the Labor Committees in the Senate and the House.

Senator Hill, the chairman, must have done some extremdy careful investigative work about the
implications of this program for him as a senator from Alabama. He decided to stay asfar away from it
as he could while gtill being chairman of the committee that was consdering it. Well, he came up with a
marvelous device. He created a subcommittee consisting of al the members of the committee
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but himsdlf. The ranking Democrat, who was Pat McNamara, became chairman of this super
subcommittee. McNamara had hired Don Baker to be the counsel to the subcommittee on Labor,
which is a sanding subcommittee. So when this new huge package arrived from the White House, he
told Don that he was going to have to handle it, too, and they just put aside the Labor subcommittee
businessfor awhile.

Wi, Pat never liked to hold public hearings. He thought they were awaste of time. He told Don
Baker, "Now, let's keep this short. We'rein a hurry. Let the House act and welll take care of it." So
they had four days of hearings on this enormous program, which involved as you recdl such things as
Headdtart, and Upward Bound, and Community Action, and the Volunteersin Service to America
(VISTA), and a dozen otherswhich | don't recal, involving hedth and education and income, food,
nutrition, and so forth. Well, the bill had been well-drafted and there wasn't much the committee needed
to do with it, redly. McNamarasad, "Well, why do we need al these administration witnesses? Get
Sergeant Shriver up here.” Then there was alot of pressure from downtown, and they admitted Willard
Wirtz, the Secretary of Labor, and that was it. McNamarasaid, "They've dl testified on the House
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gde" and he ingtructed Baker to just incorporate in the Senate hearings dl the testimony from the
House hearings. Don't have any duplication; save time.
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Then they went into executive sesson, and twelve days after the hearings--including the July 4th
weekend--twelve calendar days, not legidative days, the subcommittee had a meeting and McNamara
sad to Baker, "I want to keep this short." Held heard that Lyndon Johnson in some off-hand remark
had complained about the Senate "stdling” on his bill, and McNamara wasn't about to take that! So he
was going to act yesterday. "Don't want any amendments. The president doesn't want any amendments.
Don, you cut off al these amendments.” McNamara, seeking to demondtrate his concern for rapid
action, didn't say anything in the meeting. Don was left to cope with Javits and Williams and various
other people who had amendments, beat them down, or turn them aside, or do something.

The most outstanding ones were five or Six bills affecting migratory Iabor which Senator Harrison
Williams had perfected over anumber of yearsin his subcommittee on migratory labor, and which had
passed the Senate in severa Congresses but had died in the House. Such things as education and day
care for children, and feeding and housing, and hedlth, sanitation for migratory and other seasond or
part-time workers. Well, Williams, of course, tried to put thisin the poverty bill, which seemed avery
good place for it. Here was poor Don Baker ressting. He wanted them, too, but he was under orders.
Finaly Senator Javits, dways the great compromiser, came up with the smple suggestion that they
authorize the director of OEO to conduct programs in health, education, day care centers, nutrition
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centers for migrants and other seasona workers, putting it al in about twelve or fifteen words which
were in Sx long bills. Williams accepted that, and it worked just aswell; in fact it's the only way they
would ever have gotten into law, | suspect. The opponents to migratory workers were very powerful,
but they couldn't do athing if it was part of this poverty program.

Since Liger Hill had withdrawn from participating in anything to do with this bill, the generd counsd,
Mr. Forsythe, was not present. The subcommittee on migratory labor counsdl, Frederick Blackwell,
was in an antagonistic pogition, and only another staff man, of whom I've not spoken but should,
Edward Friedman was of any help to Don Baker in handling this monumenta product. Ed was at that
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time working with Senator Joseph Clark on a subcommittee on manpower, and he helped Don write
language that dealt with manpower, and retraining, and that sort of thing. So they had a two-hour
executive sesson and the only amendment was this abbreviated, chopped-up form of migratory labor
law. The Republicans couldn't do much to stop it. Goldwater and Tower wrote ferocious--well, Mike
Berngein, their counsel, wrote--a ferocious minority report denouncing the whole thing. One other
Republican from Idaho, Len Jordan, who was there just a short time, didn't put up much struggle either.
And [Wington] Prouty, who was Hill dive, and Javits supported it.
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So it was reported to the full committee and the same day it flipped through there in one minute flat, and
was on the floor, and passed the Senate, | think by August 14. The House didn't want a conference and
accepted the Senate amendment, and the bill became law in avery short time. It could be September

or October. Then there was a question of gppropriations, of course, so the agency didn't redly start to
function till about mid-October, though they had borrowed people from dl over the government on a
temporary basisto get started. But that was a remarkable process. | suppose normaly it takesten
yearsfor anew ideato seep through this indtitution. This went through in less than sx months, with
amost no organized opposition. That was the power and influence of Lyndon Johnson in that first year
after Kennedy's death. God, you could have done anything. We did! We did anything.

RITCHIE: | wanted to ask you about the "Johnson trestment.” | dways hear abouit that. | wondered
how influential he was in lobbying, but it sounds like in this case his influence was so powerful he didn't
have to do anything directly, heindirectly . . ..

MCCLURE: He dropped it in the papers.

RITCHIE: Influenced someone like McNamara.

MCCLURE: Yes.
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RITCHIE: How did Johnson and his administration come on to the Labor and Education Committee,
when they wanted legidation?
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MCCLURE: Wéll, they knew they were welcome. They weren't coming with anything that we hadn't
been working on for years. education and hedlth and unemployment and everything dse. The whole
socid package of the Johnson adminigtration--not al of it, but a great part of it--came to this committee
where we had been straining since Truman to get action. So there wasn't any problem. There was
question of which way, perhaps, or what language, or how much and so on, but the purposes were dl
identical. Everybody on our committee--well, dl the Democrats certainly, and some of the
Republicans--were committed to the Johnson program before it was introduced, before it was invented
asaprogram.

RITCHIE: The House had been a stumbling block for years to things that the Senate had been
proposing.

MCCLURE: Sure.

RITCHIE: Was the Johnson effort then directed more at the House?

MCCLURE: Didn't haveto be. Adam Powell was chairman by then, and he was the same, too. Held
been struggling for Harlem and the poor people of his digtrict and, therefore, of the country for years.
There was no need of arm+twisting and bullying or anything
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else. Certainly not in the case of poverty legidation. That was true generally of education and hedlth,
Johnson welcomed them, and we did, too. We wanted his support and his administration's support.

RITCHIE: How would you rate hislegidative liaison and the way they approached Congress, as
opposed to the Eisenhower and Kennedy and Nixon administrations?

MCCLURE: Wél, | think you have to phrase it differently. It wasn't how they gpproached, it was the
conditions of the country, the political picture. Johnson could do no wrong for thefirst year or two. He
wrapped himsdf in the Kennedy mantle so effectively that if you attacked him you were attacking a
dead man. It was dl in agood purpose, because Kennedy was never going to get anything done; it just
wasn't going to happen. He had great public charisma and popularity but he was not popular up here
and everything he got he had to strain for. The Old Bulls didn't think much of him, and they ill
dominated both sides. But Johnson was one of them. He'd locked elbows and scrubbed shoulders and
shot back shots of whiskey with them. He was one of them. The fact that he was crazy on al that socid
stuff was too bad, but he was their guy. A Southerner, too, you know, a Southwesterner, not one of
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these effete Easterners from Boston.

S0 he had, in the beginning before Vietnam, a perfectly beautiful, symbictic relationship with Congress
It didn't require
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any browbegating and arm twigting, a least in our committee. Now, it may have in others; I'm not
familiar with them, I'm sure there were some things that Congress broke with him on, or didn't go dong
with. But on our committee | don't think there was any of that. That was reflected in the kind of people
he gppointed and the people with whom we dedlt in the agencies, including the secretaries at the top. It
was dl very cozy.

What it was for those of us who had been around for awhile, whether members of Congress or staff,
the fruition, the culmination of years of effort, of fruitless hearings, of endless meetings, of dozens of
votes, dl of which had gone down the drain. Sometimes you would go home a night and say, "What
am | doing here?' A whole year's work tossed down the tube at the end. It was frugtrating as hell. And
here, suddenly, weld dl hoped that Kennedy would give us new directions and a new world and al
that--and he intended to, I'm sure--but it didn't happen until Johnson became president. Then, God, it
was wonderful. We were just dl dated, in joy and on high clouds dl the time, until the Vietnam war
began to rot the infrastructure and the whole Johnson thing collapsed.

RITCHIE: One person who seems to have stepped back and kept aloof from al thiswas Lister Hill,
whom you mentioned did not get involved in the poverty program, even though he represented one of
the poorest states in the Nation, and who chaired this committee and
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had helped libera reform in the 1950s. Y et he seemsto have kept it a arms distance in the 1960s.
What happened to Hill?

MCCLURE: Wéll, he foresaw what did hagppen, that these community action agenciesin every city in
the country and every town in the country would come into clash with the exigting inditutions, welfare,
relief, education, school systems, medica provisons, hospitals, and so forth, dl of whom thought they
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were doing a greet job for the poor, but they were not. They were being chalenged by the
organizations representing the poor, the people left out. People who never could find the clinic or didn't
know it existed, had a voice. He could see that this was going to just bring into frightful clash the very
structure that elected him--the political structure-with the common people.

The program never was agreat success in the South, except where they had tremendous battles, in
Atlanta and places where they won, in fact, and elected their own mayors. But it was a tremendous
struggle in the '60s, and Ligter foresaw this. It wasn't that he was anti-black; he wasn't. But he could
see that any federdly financed organization going in and rounding up the poor people of Alabamato
confront the established order was going to be agony for him, and any other Southern senator. And,
indeed, it was. But none of the other Southern senators was chairman of the Labor Committee! But he
never stayed out of any of the health and educeation legidation. My God,
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on the contrary, he pushed it as much as anyone se. Oh, he was dl for Wayne Morse hillsin
education, his own hedth measures, of course, and Y arborough's Gl Bill for peacetime veterans
benefits. No, | wouldn't say that he had withdrawn from any other area of activity.

RITCHIE: Wel, do you think he fdt increasingly uncomfortable with the direction things were going,
snceit was putting him in apaliticdly difficult postion?

MCCLURE: Yes, wdll, it was doing that, there was no question about it. He had amost been
defeated, as | pointed out earlier, in '62, and he told me when he came back that he was going to be a
different man, and he was, to a certain extent. | don't mean he really changed, but his public expression
certainly had to change, or did change, and | fedl he--wdll, he never said so and | couldn't prove it--but
| think he did not runin * 68 largely because he felt he might be defested, by a Republican, because they
were picking up Republican seatsin the '60s in Alabama. What had been the most libera delegation of
any date in the '50s, was turning "Black Republican,” (not in any color sense); they were right-wing
Republicans who were taking over the seats in the House.

| fed he just didn't want to be defeated, and probably felt he could be, and might even would be. He
was getting on in years, and it was a graceful time to leave. | don't think he felt too
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comfortable; the cities were in riot; the ‘ 60s were atough time for everybody and members of
Congress, too. Smoke rising up on Fourteenth Street, you remember, and so on. The world was
rushing on passed him. He had done his great work, and | don't think he thought he could do much
more. NIH was practicaly completed, the Library of Medicine was standing there, al these marvelous
monuments to hisvison in the fidd of human hedlth and medicine were on-going, research programs,
training programs, medica schools, nursing schools, etc., etc., etc. There wasn't much left to do, redly.
The machinery for discovering the cure for dl illswasin place. It was not up to senators any more,
except to give them more money, to do anything.

RITCHIE: Do you think it was that they were running out of new ideas or were they beginning to run
out of money, in the sense that the "guns and butter” issue took over in the 90th Congress?

MCCLURE: Wdll, of course, you are spreading the question far beyond the Labor Committee.

Y ou're getting into welfare payments and food stamps and dl that sort of thing. We didn't handle those
things. We should have, | suppose, but they were under Finance and Agriculture. Though we were
cdled Public Wefare, we didntt redlly have any wdfare at dl, that was a Finance thing, dong with
Socid Security, which subgtantively should be in the Labor Committee but has dways been, because
it's based on atax, in the Finance
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Committee. Wdll, that's the way this place is divided up. To the degree, and it was enormous, that the
Vietnam war sopped up vast public funds and dumped them in the Mekong Ddlta, obvioudy it cut
down the amount of money available even for ongoing programs, et done new ones.

| don't think it was a question--1 was speaking earlier of Hill--of his running out of ideas. I'm saying that
he had damn near done everything that needed to be done, except to vastly improve Medicare and
Medicad, neither of which he could do a thing about; they werein Russdll Long's [Finance] committee.
| think he felt hed made his contribution, that another term would just be another term, without any
promise of advance, and maybe some promise of retreat, when you see what's occurred. Nixon was
coming inand dl of that. He got out intime. | miss him. | missed him then, but | can see he didn't make
amigakein hisown termsin leaving.

RITCHIE: | asked about the Johnson treatment in lobbying, but the AFL-CIO aso seemed to play a
prominent role in Great Society legidation. Did they have alot to do with lobbying the Labor
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Committee?

MCCLURE: They certainly were the most powerful single outside influence on the Labor Committee
that existed. They were prominent not only in labor legidation, which is, of course, whet they are dl
about, but without their muscle, advances in hedlth and education
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would have been very much more difficult, because they recognized that working men's children need
education and working men get sick, and their wives need medica treatment, and so forth. Not only
from apublic relations point of view wasit essentid that they support these programs that were not
directly involved in labor reations, minimum wage or something, but it was good for their own
members, good internd relations, too. Oh, they were extremely powerful and extremely important, and
if they threw a"N0" on something it probably wouldn't happen. Of course, they didn't dways win. They
had endless struggles to repedl that section of Taft-Hartley that prohibits secondary boycotts. Never got
it through. In fact, they never got anything through favorable to themselves that amended Taft-Hartley.
That was the Rock of Ages on which they foundered, onceit wasin law. All they got was
Landrum-Griffin on top of it.

RITCHIE: That was one of the few pieces of labor legidation that Johnson was defeated on.
MCCLURE: Yes.
RITCHIE: What was it about that one that made it so impossible to crack?

MCCLURE: Wédll, it affected the building trades, largely. The carpenters would want to throw a
picket line around a Site and freeze out plumbers and riveters and al the other trades. Or they'd put a
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picket line around another plant that produced something that the first plant needed, that kind of thing.
But mainly it was dl on condruction stes. Theindustrid unions didn't give a damn, redly--the CIO
unions within the AFL-CIO--about this provison. They weren't involved in secondary boycotts. The
contractors are numerous and generaly well-to-do, and very well connected with the business
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community, and the banks and financing, and you redly had a confrontation by a segment of the labor
movement, againg the whole organized business community. In that Stuation they couldn't very well
recruit enough members to support them. Big unions didn't redly care. Even the Teamsters weren't
particularly concerned. It was a building trades issue. Oh, it was perennia. We had a hearing every
Congress. Sometimes wed report it, maybe we wouldn't. Nothing every happened to it.

Bethat asit may, anything affecting the labor movement, whether directly or through their interestsin
other subjects, brought word from them--they had a squad, they had twenty-five people on the Hill,
they had alegidative director who managed the troops, they fanned out; some of them were actudly
indefatigable, some were lazy, but they were there. And they let you know. They touched al bases.
They redly didn't need to come around to us except to tell us, "Grest, keep doing what you're doing,”
or make some comment about "Well, don't do it that way because.. . .”, "We prefer it thisway, but it
doesn't matter too much." We were intertwined with them so
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much. We lunched together. We knew what they wanted, and we knew our bosses wanted it, so we
didn't have any problem with conflicts of interest or being bribed by a ham sandwich or something.

Just to show you the kind of impact they could bring to bear, when | returned to the staff directorship
after Senator Williams became chairman in 1970, there used to be alittle club called the "Club 116" in
an dley back here, which no longer exigts. It's where the Hart Building now gits. Schotts Alley. A lot of
lobbyists belonged to it and played poker and what-not, waiting for something to happen. One day,
shortly after | came back, Senator Williams said, "We're having lunch with Biemiller at the 116 Club at
12:30.” | sad, "All right, I'll walk over with you." Now, Andy Biemiller was aformer congressman from
Milwaukee who had been defeated in the '40s and had joined the legidative saff of the then AFL,
before the merger with the CIO. Astime went on it was amusing, as George Meany got heavier and
jowlier, and bigger-bellied, so did Andy Biemiller. They were physcd twins a the end, and | think
twinsin every other way, too. So Biemiller had alist and he just handed it to Senator Williams and sad,
"Now thisiswhat we want this year." The senator said, "Stewart, you've got your marching orders.”
That was the end of it, just like that.
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RITCHIE: When they indicated the issues they were interested in, how did they go about supporting
them? Did they offer support, background materid . . . .

MCCLURE: Oh, dl thetime. Anything, plus buttonholing, and lapel-holding, and backdapping, and
indications of support in upcoming elections and dl the other things that lobbies do. They were often
more effective on matters not directly effecting themselves because they were alied with other lobbies
that were working toward hedlth legidation or education. Wheress, in the case of alabor struggle per
sethey didn't have any dliesredly, oh, afew public interests groups issued statements, but you didn't
see the nurses or the NEA up here struggling to help get some amendment to Taft-Hartley. It just
doesn't work that way. But they were the muscle, the labor lobby, labor movement, behind al sociad
legidation passed up here in the last twenty years or more, probably longer, but certainly since the war.
After they merged in ‘55 they, of course, both weakened and strengthened themselves. The dynamism
of the CIO was greatly muted, but the muscle of the AFL was added to the mix.

| think George Meany, if we separate out his gruff manner and his harsh views on certain things, and his
rather long reluctance to recognize the Civil Rights Movement, was probably the right leader for the
[abor movement after the war. He did have a heart, and he
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did have socid concern, he redly did. He certainly understood politics as well as anybody in town. I'll
never forget--1 think | mentioned this earlier--in 1968 | think it was, the Senate set up a committee
under Mike Monroney of Oklahoma to reorganize the Senate committees that were getting out-of-hand
and overlapping. They ground away in their backrooms for months. | guess they had some hearings, but
mainly it was a staff operation. They prepared papers.

Word leaked out that one of the proposals they were going to make--they had legidative
authority--was to split the Labor Committee in two to create an Education and Health Committee and
just leave the Labor Committee standing there naked by itsdf. Well, I've just told you that the
interrdaionship, this symbiatic relationship between education and health on one sde and labor on the
other was brought to focusin our committee, more even than in the House where hedth isin the
Commerce Committee. We were the central point at which these three different forces met, and to pull
them apart would weaken both and might absolutely wreck labor's power up here completely, because
it would be impossible to get anybody in his right mind to serve on the Labor Committee if dl he was
going to be involved in was the labor-management war. He couldn't win. No matter which way he went
the other sde would murder him. They would have had to dump freshmen on it like they used to do on
the Didtrict Committee, who'd swest till they could be promoted off of it. It would have been utter
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disaster.
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| saw that and so did Bill Reidy and we went to work. Since Lister Hill was retiring, he didn't give a
damn, but he didn't stop us. We set to work to stop the Monroney proposa from ever leaving the
committee or even getting in their report. We recruited Mary Lasker, of whom I've spoken, this
millionaire woman in New Y ork who had backed Lister Hill's hedth measures and epecidly research
in medicine. She got on the horn, and she knew a | of these senators because she had given money to
most of them, and expressed her concern. We rounded up a number of troops, but the clincher was
that | could never get ahold of Biemiller. Why wasn't he around? Here was a thing that was going to
wreck their legidative program forever and he was making no signs of paying any atentionto it. It
cdled him and | called some of his people. "Ah, that's not going to get anywhere. Don't worry about
that." | sad, "What do you mean? I'm talking with the staff of that outfit and they're going to put it in
their recommendations and it will be grabbed by alarge number of senatorsif it ever gets out of
committee"" Well, they never did anything.

So one day there was a hill being signed by President Johnson. It was a bill from our committee, | don't
remember what it was, something that the AFL-CIO was interested in. Johnson used to invite dl the
lobbyists and interest-group spokesmen, and members of the committee and staff to the signing. You
got apen, "The presdent wants you to have thisasamemento of . . . " We dl had scores of them at
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the end. But whatever this was, we met in the Fish Room firgt, sanding around, milling around till we
could go in and go through the line and shake the hand of the president and Mrs. Johnson and get our
little pen and a speech from him. It was anice thing to do. They 4ill do it in aminor way; they have a
few senators and congressmen around the president as he's Signing it; you see it in the paper. But this
was a big show, basad | think on that memorandum | sent to Johnson at the very beginning, urging him
to bring the congressond gaff into his operation, that we needed it and he needed us. He did alot of
things like that. He had awhole evening lawvn party for staff; wdll, | hadn't meant that, but the ideawas
that--and he knew after having been up here--that staff had an enormous say in things and should be
cultivated and kept informed, by the White House not just by the departments.

Senate Historical Ofice Oral History Project
www. senat e. gov/ hi story



Wiél, anyway, here we were, and | noticed George Meany standing talking to somebody. | went up
and when the other person left | said, "Mr. Meany are you aware of the proposa in the Monroney
Reorganization Committee to split the Labor Committee?' And he said, "WHAP" | sad, "To split the
Labor Committee into Hedth and Education in one committee and Labor in another.” | thought he was
going to blow his stack. HEd never heard of it. "ANDY!" Biemiller was standing across the room.
"COME OVER HERE!" What's this about the Monroney Committee proposa?’ Biemiller said, "Wall,
what one?' "Wdl, Stewart wastdlingme. . . tdl him." It was
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terrible because I'd redlly wrecked my relationship with Biemiller, but | had to do it. Then, having gotten
through it very fast and wishing | was somewhere ese, Meany said, "Andy, get up there and stop that."
Which he did, and it did. Because he understood instantly what that would mean. He was avery
shrewd old guy.

Of course, Biemiller hated me from then on. We were never gresat friends, but we had a good working
relationship, but after that it was just hopeless. He never came around; | didn't exist. Well, | |€eft the
committee, too, shortly thereafter, when Lister Hill retired. | caled him up onceto get alineon
something | was working on and | might as well have been taking to ablank wal. "Yeah . . . right . . .
uh huh, goodbye." Because redly I'd caught him out in the most critical posture for the legidative rep of
abig organization to be caught in, but | didn't know how ese | was going to stop thisthing. The
chairman of the committee didn't give adamn. How were we going to stop it? Wl you had to use the
only muscle that was available, and they wouldn't respond. It was a bad show.

RITCHIE: Do you attribute it to labor's intervention that they were able to stop the Monroney
Committee at that point?

MCCLURE: Oh, sure. Immediately. I'd been to Morse and Javits and they were active, too, but when
they could march in with George Meany and afew muscle men from the labor organizations. . . .
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Widl, Monroney waan' redly sold on this. He had nothing evil in mind, he was just tidying up things. He
quickly saw the point, too, and shelved it. It was a staff proposd in the first place. Nobody had any
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intention, | don't believe, to do what it would do, or redized the effect it would have, but onceit was
pointed out to them, then they could see that they were proposing a very dangerous idea, unlessthey
were working for the Chamber of Commerce, which | don't think they were.

RITCHIE: You mentioned that you sent a memorandum to Johnson when he became president, about
the congressional staff. What prompted you to do that?

MCCLURE: Wél, one time when he was mgority leader he caled committee staff directors together
and gave us coffee; Bobby Baker rounded us up and Johnson would rub our shoulders, "Now, get
back there and get your chairman going.” It was absurd, because we had very little to say about what
our chairmen were going to do, to promote things. | was impressed at he technique, though. | didn't
think that it redly served a purpose except thet it pleased the taff people to be recognized. So Charlie
Brewton, who went down as a deputy director of the Office of Emergency Planning under Kennedy,
stayed on and worked in Emergency Planning conducting the president's fund-raising organization,
thousand-dollar tickets for specia trestment at the conventions and al that sort of thing. That was
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Charli€'s emergency, to raise money for the President’s Fund. It was quite legd, of course, it was
politica money. There were no deductions. So he was pretty close to the White House. Furthermore,
that unfortunate chap who was Lyndon's closest aide, Walter Jenkins, was afriend of ours on the Hill.

Charlie and | were talking one night about what could be suggested to Lyndon to help him. He had just
become president, with dl of this crashing around his head, and we got talking about this, the waiting
troops on the Hill who want to help him, but they've got to be asked. Charlie said, "Why don't you draft
up something and well take it over to Walter?' So | did. In fact, Charliejoined in, and in his usud
flamboyant language made it quite an impressive document. | just wanted to send in the idea, but he had
troops marching and the colors massing. Y ou could just see the whole Senate staff out there: Huzzah!
Huzzah! Water liked it and took it right in to the president. | just thought it would be nice to have the
daff people down to tak with the White House staff on legidative matters and the president might drop
in and pat them on the back. That's about dl | intended. But, God, he went into a full-scae lawvn party.
He had a reception one night and the whole White House was turned over to the congressond steff,
huge reception line, champagne and the works.
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He had alot of things going that were designed to influence the gaff, no question about it. Well, he did
the same for members, of course, but this was something new. Now whether it came out of my memo
or not, | have noidea, but | did suggest something like that. And it was a naturd for him, because one
way he operated was through staff. That's not well known, | suppose, but he had to. Maybe not
directly, maybe Bobby Baker did the actud taking, but he knew dl of the staff and who was whom,
and who worked for whom, and what they were up to. Hell, you can't work up here without knowing
the staff has to be taken into consideration. How do you get an idea to a senator? Frequently the only
way isthrough his gaff.

RITCHIE: In addition to Johnson | was interested in the Senate leadership in the 1960s, Mike
Mandfied, Vice Presdent Humphrey, Edward Kennedy as Democratic Whip, Everett Dirksen as
Republican leader. How effective was the leadership at that time?

MCCLURE: Are you taking about the Johnson period?

RITCHIE: The Johnson period, mid-60s.

MCCLURE: I don't think they had to be effective. The leader was in the White House. The leadership
of the Democratic party wasin the White House. That includes both houses. Mansfield was an idedl

successor, sSince nobody could fill Johnson's shoes. There wasn't anybody around like that. Never will
be again, probably.
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Mandfield was a quiet, scholarly, gentle, soft-spoken man, highly respected by everybody. I've seen
him get angry once or twice, but it was very rare and usudly on some minor issue involving Montana
where he wanted to get a headline by shrieking--a Veterans hospita about to be closed, or something
like that. But in terms of the operation of the Senate you didn't even know he was around. To the
degree there had to be traffic movement, which there does, Kennedy was perfectly able to do that. It's
a gtaff matter anyway, which bill comes up when, how do you manage the day-to-day operations of the
floor. | don't recdl Mandfidd'sintervening in anything a any time. Nor did he have to, much.

Then he became, | think, quite disillusioned with the Vietnamese war, early on, as did, oddly enough,
Richard Russdll, long before any public intimation of that gppeared. Most senators were very disturbed
by it. None of them were as clever as George Aiken who said, "Why don't we just declare avictory
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and get out." | wish we had. Y ou know, the Senate redlly never did take a position, &t least not very
early, on Vietnam. They were awfully unhgppy with Johnson. | remember hearing Russdll in the lobby
looking at an AP printer, and turning away and saying to somebody, "For God's sake, weve got to get
out of that placel” Thiswas early, | don't remember what year it was, ‘66 or something.
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But Kennedy didn't have much to do either, and | guess he didn't please people enough to keep him,
because he logt the job the next round. Humphrey didn't do anything much. Y ou didn't have to. With
Johnson in the White House, having mgoritiesin both houses, the leadership on either Sde didn't have
to do alot, didn't have to run things.

When Nixon camein, of course, Mansfield was il leader and [Carl] Albert was sill spesker, and the
present spesker [Thomas P. O'Nelll] was mgority leader, you had awhole different ball game. You
were in opposition and you try to keep your troopsin line and you try to look like you have an
dternative. | don't think we did too well on that, and haven't done too much since, in posing aternatives
that were any better. It's hard to say, | wasn't up here for much of Nixon'stime. | wasn't up on the Hill,
s0 | don't know exactly how things were done, but | know from the very beginning Senate committees
were quite critical of Nixon's gppointees, they gave him ahard time on alot of them. But they usudly
gavein and let him have his people, as they dways do. And again, Mandgfidd didn't change his style and
there wasn't any leadership.

Mandidd's syle wasto let the chairmen of the committees run their own shows, come out with
whatever they wanted to come out with, whenever they wanted to. And held juggle around the
schedule to take care of them. But he never caled up to say, "Weve got to have your
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bill on Tuesday," or something like that. Johnson would. No, very low-key, quiet guy. Of course, the
chairmen dl loved this. They were dl kings again in their own domains. Dukes of their dukedoms.

Well never see another Lyndon Johnson, at least in my time; maybe yours. Sui generis, that guy. He
seized the moment, by God. He probably never expected to become president. If Kennedy had lived
and been redlected, Johnson would have served two terms and departed the scene too old to run. So
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here was this fabul ous opportunity, and he made the most of it. God bless him.

Wi, you read alist of bills earlier on that we acted on in that 89th Congress--by the way, thisis not on
point, but earlier when we were talking about the Elementary and Secondary Education Act, | made the
clam that Charlie Lee and | had dreamed up this Title I. Well, if we did, it wasin the afterglow of what
had happened in the poverty legidation, as Don Baker reminded me just this morning, and | want to
amend what | said earlier and not take quite as much looming credit. But the first concern of the
poverty people in the task force, long before a bill came up here, was the church-state question. If
you're going to pour money into communities and have community action groups who were going to be
spending federal money, it was bound to be that alot of them would be Catholic and other church
schools and hospitals and so forth.,
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In the process of refining legidation to take account of that--which iswhat Charlie and | were thinking
about, too, later, the next year--it was determined that the money would go where the poor children
were, no matter what building they were in or under whose auspices the program was being conducted,
that the money was going to the poor, children aswell as adults. And that's really what the key to Title |
of ESEA is, it goes to the poor kids who happen to be in a certain digtrict, but it doesn't go to the
school district because it was a geographical ares; it goes to adistrict because it has a high percentage
of poor children going to school there. So | want to add that, that this ideawas not totaly new. Part of
it was, but not dl of it.

Wi, there aren't any new ideas redly around here. Y ou know, somebody's thought of these things and
they're tucked away in an amendment somewhere in 1912. In fact, a staff man could make himsdf a
very important position up here by just digging into the past ideas that were great but never got
anywhere, looking for the moment to reintroduce them. Take Senator /Harrisor/ Williams, for example.
Senator Humphrey had been on the committee in the early 150s, before | went aboard. He conducted
lengthy hearings on the problems of migratory |abor, but |eft the committee to go, | believe to Foreign
Reations, and that just ended it. Nothing was ever done, | don't think any bills ever developed out of
them.
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Then one day in ‘59, Senator Williams, who had just been eected to the Senate and named to the
committee, and was very eager to be doing something, though he was the most junior member, came
over with this greet idea he wanted to have me help him sdll to Senator Hill. He sad, "I think we ought
to have a subcommittee on internationd hedth.” | said, "Well, | think we should, too, Senator, but if you
propose thet to Senator Hill I'm afraid he wouldn't have a very high regard for you for the rest of your
life around here. Heis Mr. Hedth." "Ah," he said, "tha'sright. Yeah, well, | hadn't thought of that,” he
sad. "l wasthinking of outsde the country.” | said, "Wdll, he thinks outside the country, too; in fact he's
got ahill, involving internationa health, cooking.” “0Oh," he sad. "Well, damn it, | want to do something,
Stewart, what can you think of that would be good for me, from New Jersey, close to the labor
movement?*

| thought amoment and | said, "Y ou've got alot of migratory workersin New Jersey. Thiswould be
good for you only in one sense, what I'm going to suggest.” He said, "Y ou mean | should take over the
migratory labor fidd?" | sad, "Sure, that's what I'm going to suggest. But you've got to reflect that all
the growers aren't going to like what you are going to find, or any of the legidation that you will
develop." He sad, "Oh, | know that, but | know the conditions those people live under. They're
horrible, they're vile. Something should be done, and I'm going to ask Senator Hill to put me
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onto doing that. That's agreat idea.” Wdl, we dug up Humphrey's hearings and off we went.

He became ahero in New Jersey among dl the people of good-will, the good-works people, the
religious people. The only people who hated him were the farm growers, the owners who hired
migratory labor, who were going to be required to put in toilets and something beside tar paper shacks.
But that was pure serendipity. | had been reading something in the back history of the committee and
noted this study that Humphrey had made and then abandoned. Oh, Williams went along way with
that. I don't know whether migratory workers are any better off than they were, but at least the federa
government paid alot more attention to them after his efforts.

RITCHIE: It became anaiond issue shortly after that when CBS did "The Harvest of Shame"
documentary.

MCCLURE: Sure, terrific program.

RITCHIE: Made areputation for Williams.
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MCCLURE: Yes it did. He did wel with it. He went down into the South into these God-awful
places where these people returned after they stopped working up here, when they worked in the fruit
fiddsin Floridaand dl over the South. There are two migrant streams, one up the East coadt, to follow
the crops as the season
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advances, and another goes up the middle West. There's athird one on the West coast, but it's much
sndler.

He did awonderful job, and he had agrand guy doing hiswork for him, Fred Blackwell, who was one
of the first additiond staff members we added, | think | told you. When /Strom/ Thurmond, who had
drafted him to be counsd to the Veterans subcommittee, I€eft, Y arborough took over the Veterans
subcommittee, but there wasn't redly alot to do. So, when the proposal made by Williams reached
Senator Hill, aout migratory labor, the chairman asked me in. He said, "What are we going to do
about staff? | don't want alot of staff around here” | said, "Well, Fred Blackwell probably would be
sympathetic to this whole subject; he comes from avery poor mill family in South Carolina. They're not
migrants, they're not in the bottom of the heap ather, but he knows dl about the poverty problems of
the South. Furthermore, he isn't doing enough to keep him busy in the Veterans subcommittee.” So we
assigned Fred to that. Well, of course, in due time we had six or eight people on it. And Y arborough
had three or four on Veterans; but that was the process as the '60s went on.

RITCHIE: With dl this change with the creation of new subcommittees and the addition of new staff
members, how did this affect your work as the chief clerk of the committee?
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MCCLURE: Wdl, it multiplied it about as many times as the gaff . Don't forget that among my duties
was taking the minutes of all executive sessions, committee and subcommittee. Thiswas before the
open hearings and open meetings we now have, and before they hired stenotypiststo typeit al up. The
committee clerk's job in the law is to keep the minutes. | was scrupulous about it, never missed onein
my life, took them in long-hand on long yellow sheets, and within the day had them typed--so | could
remember what | didn't write down. They were very full, because | wanted not just the sparse thing
saying " Senator So-and-So offered an amendment which was adopted,” as the old minutes read. That
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didn't mean anything. It didn't redly describe what happened, and the arguments for and againg. You
needed more, not boringly, but the essence of everything: who did what, who said what, and how it
came out.

Wi, as you got fifteen subcommittees--fortunately | had control of time and space so that nobody
could have two executive sessons at the same time, that was out. We had to find rooms, we till do, of
course, everybody has to borrow somebody's hearings room. We could have three or four hearings
going at once, that was no problem because the subcommittee staffs handled those. In keeping track of
what each subcommittee was doing and ditting in the executive sesson taking minutes | was pretty well
aware, and if the chairman said, "What's going on over there?' | knew because | had been there and
could read him the minutes, if he wanted them, which
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he sometimes did. It was an intelligence operation for the chairman as well as for historica record. And
the staffs used it when it came time for the floor; they wanted to see how things went in executive
session, and they had arecord vote, the names, and the voting dips atached, so that the staff could be
thoroughly briefed on what had happened. They served a number of purposes. And they're fun to read
now, as amatter of fact, because | put in jokes and anything | could liven it up with. So that was a big
piece.

Handling the payroll, which was supervised by the Disbursing Office, required knowing al of our
people, what they were earning, where they were sitting, and how long they had been here, and whom
they depended on for their job. Then the annud struggle for resolution money and justification got
bigger and bigger and bigger as time went on and more justification had to be dreamed up to be
presented to the Rules Committee. What afarce that dl wasl But we went through the routine every
year; | guessthey il do.

Plus the human equation of having fifteen so-called saff directors of subcommittees, some of which hed
only two or three people. But there were fifteen men or women with whom | had to be in touch at al
times: drop in on their offices, kegp an eye on them, find out what's going on, and they coming to me
with alot of traffic dl thetime. | don't mean | was gaff director in the sense | told them what to do.
That was not my role. | was chief clerk,
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technicdly and in fact. But if you're going to try to manage one of these huge things up here with Sixteen
senators on the committee, plus alot of others who get involved, and their saff, and your staff, and your
chairman's staff, and your members staffs, you know, there may be five hundred people you've got to
be aware of at dl times, and maybe two hundred of them you seein aweek, in a hard week when
you've got to run around and do things outside the office, and go touch bases. | loved every minute of it,
don't misunderstand me, but it was redlly a hot seat by the time we had a hundred and fourteen people.

RITCHIE: | was wondering in the sense that obvioudy the work increased a a greeter rate than the
remuneration . . . .

MCCLURE: Oh! Indeed it did!

RITCHIE: And yet you stuck it out with this committee for dl thistime.
MCCLURE: Sure, | loved it.

RITCHIE: You were probably in a pogtion to have gone into lobbying.

MCCLURE: | was offered acouple and | didn't even think of it. | knew there was no better placein
the government to work than the Senate, and as | looked around the country | knew | could make
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more money, but | couldn't see any place where I'd have as much fun, where | went to the theetre
every day for free, sometimes two and three different plays going on a once. Hearings, executive
sessions, conferences, debates on the floor--wonderful. And topping it dl, the feding that you're
participating in historical events of some consegquence, sometimes. God knows, not dl the time, but at
times you redly were involved in big things, and that's fun, of course. Oh, | wouldn't have quit here. If |
had achairman | could live with I'd till be here. No, | wouldn't, | couldn't have lived with the
Republicans, that's not true. | would have left. But | mean in terms of functioning, | wouldn't be able to
gtand it even if they wanted me around. | got out about the right time. Nixon was in power and there
wasn't going to be anything going on that would interest that committee much; mainly fighting off Nixon
and his minions was the principa job. I'm just very happy | wasn't up here when Carter was president,
and I'm doubly happy, triply, that I'm not here now. Should Walter Mondae, or some Democrat
become president and we get a Democratic Senate again, and I'm only seventy-five years of age, |
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might consider coming around, a Nestorian figure advising from the Sddlines. That's by no means
certain.
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End of Interview #6
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ON THE PUBLIC WORKSCOMMITTEE
Interview #7
Thursday, April 14, 1983

MCCLURE: | think today we should cover the officid higtory of the last five years of my term here,
which includes two years with the Public Works Committee and three years again with the Labor
Committee. The place to start is with the eection of 1968, during which Wayne Morse was defeated,
thus opening the line of successon to chairmanship of the Labor Committee to Ralph Y arborough,

sance Ligter Hill had retired as of the end of '68. As| mentioned in an earlier interview, my colleague,
Jack Forsythe, had determined by going to Oregon and looking at the polls, while pretending to be
helping "dear Wayne' get eected, that he was doomed, and had made a pass through Texas on his way
home and clinched hisjob as genera counsd. What he did to me at that time | don't know, but |

suspect he sad that the new chairman should have his own man.

Thiswhole stuation fdl into limbo from November 8, or whenever it was, till way into January, maybe
the last week of January. No connection. | called Y arborough in Texas many times, never got areturn
cdl. I couldn't find out from his own people here what he intended to do because they didn't know. He,
as you will see, was one of the most disorganized members of this body who ever came aong. His own
gaff didn't know what was going on. So--how to put
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it--about Christmastime | decided that something had happened to me, | wasn't being dedlt with,
papers were going to have to be handled. Committee businessis dways very heavy in the first month,
adminigratively speaking, and | was getting no response. So | went down the hal to my dear old friend
Richard Royce, who was then staff director of the Public Works Committee, and with whom | had
worked off and on for many years; we were persond friends aso, outside the Senate.

The chairman of that committee was Jennings Randolph, who had been a member of the Labor
Committee for ten years and with whom | had done alot of work, on al sorts of things, and whom |
consdered afriend. | put it to Richard that | was being forced out down the hall and if he had a spot on
his staff as aprofessona staff member | would love to take it. He then went to Senator Randolph and
checked it out. It appeared there was a good likelihood that there would be something there, and |
wouldn't have agap in my retirement account, and that sort of thing. But | stayed on with the Labor
Committee.

Senator Y arborough returned to town and wouldn't let me see him. | went over to his office a dozen
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times, | cdled hisAA, Gene Godley, a dozen times. Meanwhile, on another track, | had been mounting
alobby on my behdf, anong dl the lobbyists who had worked with me and who knew who | was and
fdt comfortable with me. | tried
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asdde move to present to Raph Y arborough a strong case on my behdf, and | had some various labor
lobbyists and so on, | don't remember them now, and of many members of the committee, especidly,
oddly enough, Edward Kennedy, with whom | hadn't redlly been terribly close, though | certainly liked
him. He was very srong. So were a number of others, including Republicans like Javits. Wall,

Y arborough was absolutely unmoveable. He dways had been. He never listened to anything or
anybody. He had his own voices that he followed, which made him an impossible conversationdi, just
inasocid sense: he never heard what you were saying because he wasn't lisening. He was blurting and
babbling. So dl this effort that | cranked up was redly not going to do any good. The last one | had
planned was avisit by Mary Lasker, who was coming with Maurice Rosenblatt, both my old friends,
who were going to redly put it to him.

That very day, which | think was somewhere in the latter part of January, | had a stack of committee
and subcommittee assignment papers, personne changes, appointments to staff, a draft budget to take
to the Rules Committee, dl this Stuff that you have to get together in the beginning, and he hasto Sgn
them al--and hopefully will read them before sgning. And | findly got into his office. | fought my way
right through secretaries, saying, "l have to see the senator. He's not going to look very good if we don't
get these things done, now." Finadly, Gene Godley, his AA, burgt in--oh, |
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even called his son, Dick Y arborough, a badly crippled guy who had been his father's AA. He said,
"I'm not going to do anything for you; it's awaste of time," which wastrue.

Anyway, Godley managed to get me into thisincredible office. It was asmdl office, it wasn't the usud
senator's office, it was about haf the sze of this room. The desk was a mountain of papers and books
with dipsin them, and in the corners were Texas newspapers piled up by the thousands, old
newspapers which | suppose he intended to read someday, or had read and wanted to clip. It was
unbelievable. Y ou could hardly move init. The phone rang and he had to scrgpe down among these
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papers and find the thing. What an incredible interview! | 'd say, "We've got some business, Senator.”
"Yeah, yeah," he would mumble. Then the phone rang. He said, "Oh, thisis an important cdl to ajudge
in Texas, youll have to wait outsde." | think the whole thing from thetime | got in the door till I left, and
| left with him, was about ten minutes--five of which he was on the phone to Texas. | was waiting
outside.

Then the bellsrang for avote in the Senate and he had to go over. So | said, "Waell, I'm coming with
you and well sgn these things on the trolley if we need to, Senator, but you've got to do it." Then |
sad, "Now, please tell me what my own gatusis. Am | your staff director, or an | not?' He got very
tense and began talking very fast: "Wéll-I-think-a-new-chairman-ought-to-have-his-
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own-man-and-I've-a-man-in-mind-and-you-just-do-whatever-you-want.” | said, "What do you mean,
‘whatever | want? | want to be staff director, what are you suggesting?' He said, "Waell, get somebody
eseto hireyou, that'sdl." In other words, he didn't ever say "you'refired," or "you're through" or
anything, it was just left floating. | understood very well what this meant--but | till had to have these
damned things Signed! So | rode over with him and went into the chamber (in those days you could)
and got to his desk, and during the vote forced him to sign these papers, dl except the budget which he
didn't need to sgn, and | left that with him. What an ungodly way to end a career with acommittee! It
was just S0 corny, S0 stupid, so disorganized. | thought, "My God, this man is going to fill the shoes left
by Senator Ligter Hill? Never, never, never."

RITCHIE: Had you thought that Y arborough was this disorganized when he was a member of the
committee?

MCCLURE: Wéll, | had never been in his office--I mean his persond office--till that last day. | would
have known for sureif | had. But in committee meetings, in conducting hearings--he was chairman of
the Veterans subcommittee and later the Labor subcommittee--he seemed to know what he was doing
pretty much. He knew what he wanted. But he was aterrible babbler. He was a history buff in the first
place; he clamed to know everything about the
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history of the United States and the world and everything else. That would be triggered by anything,
some comment of awitness or another senator. He would say, "Well, don't forget that in 1812.. . . . “
which indicated a mind that fluttered about. He wasn't redly focusing on what was ahead or what was
in front of him. To that extent, | guess he did listen. He heard cues from other people from time to time.
But in executive sessions he would bull his way through.

He had one bill that he was trying to pass, the Peacetime Gl Bill. Fred Blackwell was acting as his staff
man, one of the best lawyers we ever had up here, avery fine guy, and he kept Y arborough pretty
draght. He fed him the right materid at the right time. If anybody got thet bill passed againgt the
American Legion and the VFW and the DAV, and everybody ese, Y arborough did it. He just drove
everybody crazy with his monomania, and it worked. It became law. Of course, the gatistics from
Vietnam were beginning to come in heavier and heavier and heavier, and it was obvious that we had a
magor war going on and no legidation to ded with the postwar veterans thereof. His earlier bill had
been designed for veterans of the Korean war and those currently being drafted for whatever purpose.
Anyway, he did succeed in that, and I'm very glad he did.

His other monomania--well, you can't have two monomanias, can you?--but anyway his other mania
was bilingua education. Of course,
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they have alot of Mexicansin Texas, hundreds of thousands of them who can't learn English, or won't
learn English, or don't learn English, and they were, even then in the *60s, beginning to have politica
weight in the southern part of his gate. Y arborough had been dected with strong Hispanic support, and
thiswas one of their goas, so he carried it for them. It became law--probably a very bad mistake when
you think about it, but it seemed like agreat idea at the time. There wasn't any red intellectud
understanding of what it would mean if we had forty million Spanish-speaking citizens, who didn't spesk
English--what kind of a country would we have? Like Canada, perhaps. But that wasn't redly given
much thought at the time. It was whether it would cost too much, or how it would be administered, and
that sort of questions. Well, it became law, and the Department of Education administersit.

Wi, anyway, he accomplished those two things as a rdatively-well not junior--but mid-range member
of the committee. Be that as it may, when he became chairman of the Subcommittee on Labor, which
he inherited from Senator McNamara, who died, Y arborough had gone to Senator Hill and said, "'l
need my own man, gotta have my own man." Well, of course he did. So, through the labor unions, I'm
not sure who or which, he secured the services of Robert 0. Harris, who was then with the National
Labor Relations Board. He was made counsel to the subcommittee on Labor. He was a brash,
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loud-mouth New Y orker, very able, thick skin, tough New Y ork type. He was then Y arborough's
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choice to replace me. How al this came about | have no idea, and | don't care, but the beginning of this
exchange of Harris for McClure was one of the funniest scenes I've ever been through.

| came back from Y arborough's office--or from the floor-probably about three or four o'clock--and
promptly caled Maurice who had a meeting with Y arborough and Mrs. Lasker at five. | said, "Cance
it, don't waste your bregth, stop it." That ended that. Then | called Dick Royce and said, "When can
you take me on?' He said, "Wdl, whenever you're off your committee.” | went back to my office and
sat at my desk and told Marjorie, my secretary, what had gone on, which scared her to death because
she had logt her protector. The door from the hearing room opened, in comes Bob Harris with agreen
dicker in his hand. And he said, "Here's your parking sticker. It's over in that lot by the Immigration
Building [a Senate annex]. I'm taking over your space in the garage tomorrow morning.” | said,
"Thanks, Robert, | sure gppreciate your courtesy.” | said, "Is there anything else you need to know?'
"Oh, no, that'sdl." | said, "What about the financing, the books, the voucher system, how we ded with
... "Forgetit," and off he went. God Almighty! He just wasn't interested in learning from me what he
needed to know. I'm sure he found out in due course, but it seemed to me alittle odd that he wouldn't
want a bridge into the new job.
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So | picked up my papers and marched down to the Public Works Committee, where | was assigned
as aprofessond staff member a a consderable cut in pay, of course, because | had to fit into their
structure. But it was ajob, and a good job, and alovely chairman, and afine staff. | had never been a
professond staff member technically, though | had done alot of it when | wasfirst saff director of
Labor. | had handled alot of hills, but | hadn't done any of that for along time. | was given two mgjor
domains--well, redly three, but two were very close. One was the EDA, Economic Development Act,
and related to that the Appaachian Commission, and the severd regional commissions set up under
EDA, which were supposed to paralel it and do for the various parts of the country where they were
established much of what the Appa achian Commission was doing. The other domain was disaster
relief. Fortunately, | didn't know anything about either of them, so | came in without any preudices or
any preconceptions, and learned from the ground up.
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The man who was the grestest assistance to me was redly awonderful guy named Barry Meyer, who
was then the generd counsel of that committee. He took me in tow and briefed me on the Situation and
got dl the documents | needed, the basic laws and dl that sort of thing; told me whom to take what to
and where to go. It was wonderful, saved me months of struggling by mysdf. He was my guide and
mentor for two or three months there until 1 got my own footing.
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Then, of course, the problem of space: where do you put a new man? Ah, God, well, the first place
where | was put was up on the sixth floor in an office so crowded that | shared a desk with one of the
secretaries--she on one side and | on the other. Her name was Cecily Corcoran, Tommy Corcoran's
daughter, a sweetheart of agirl. Thiswas the Subcommittee on Pollution--Senator [Edmund] Muskie
was chairman and the staff man was Leon Billings of Montana, a huge, loud, foul-mouthed, lovely guy.
Hisfather had been aWobblie. He was aradicd. He never hid hisfedings. Oh, the girlsjust would go
blue; hislanguage was unbelievable. If there was any way of avoiding a swear word he would use it
twice. Every four letter word and severa even longer ones, dl day long, on the phone, to everybody
but senators. He was just a pistol. Later, when Muskie became Secretary of State, Leon went down
with him ashisAA. | thought, "My God, what must be going on on the seventh floor!" Hah! (Thisisa
diverson, but | went to see Leon last fall when he was directing the Senate Democratic Campaign
Committee. | went to offer him my services, and | asked him, "Leon, what happened when you were
down at the State Department? How did you deal with all those striped-pants and cookie-pushers and
al the other typesthat are supposed to be there?' "Well," he said, "one of them would come up with
some friggin' supid idea, and I'd just tdll him to shoveit.”)

Wil, anyway, | spent severd monthsin thistiny office, the noisest place, with Leon bellowing at the
New York Times and so on,
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and then they found me aless-cluttered spot back in the main committee room. In this job, the chairman
of the Economic Development subcommittee was Joe Montoya of New Mexico, and the chairman of
the Disagter Relief Subcommittee was Birch Bayh of Indiana. Montoya was very difficult to work with;
you never could figure out what he wanted--I don't know that he knew himsdlf--but he listened
carefully. HEd say, "Wdll, now what does Jennings want?' And then held do it; he was avery loyd
follower of the chairman and kept his skirts clean. In that job | did quite abit of traveling. Each of these
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regiona commissions was supposed to have alittle oversight by Congress, once ayear or so, and wed
hold a hearing in the principa city in the region. Senator Montoya would go and the senators from the
gate would be invited, and two or three staff people, and then we'd invite the local regiona people and
the state people, and so forth, and make arecord of what was going on. One of them wasin
southwestern Missouri in the Ozark Regiond Commission. Senator [ Thomas] Eagleton came, and |
think [Stuart] Symington put out a statement.

Another one was in what's cdled the "Four Corners,” which is the areaiinvolving northwest New
Mexico, northeast Arizona, southwest Colorado, and southeast Utah. We had two hearings in that
region. Onein Albuquerque, Senator Montoya's hometown. He was quite deeply involved in redl
edae, even while being in the Senate, and ingsted that we stay at a particular hotel in the center of the
city, which
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he said, and we were told, was the first Hilton in the country; that was where the chain had originated.
It turned out that Senator Montoya owned a big share of the stock. So here was some Senate business
he was throwing to the hotel. Well, the rooms were crumby and old, and the food was abominable, but
we stuck it out in deference to our chairman. Then we went to Utah, to Provo, lovely town, with a huge
ged mill, one of the few in the mountain Sates.

In that particular venture, Senator [Robert] Dole, who was a Republican member of the committee,
gtayed in the motel where the staff was. We didn't have a Hilton in Provo and were able to get away
with alower check, too--because, you know, per them never covered your real expenses. Y ou paid
half and the Senate paid the other haf. At least that was the way it used to be. Trips were very costly
for staff. Those trips were sometimes quite fun. We went up to Santa Fe from Albuquerque, which was
aniceold thing to see. So we did alot of traveling, more than | had done on the Labor Committeein a

long time.

Wil, we extended the EDA for ayear during my time there, and the Appa achian Regiond
Commission authority. My own judgment of these economic development regions was that they were
an absolute fraud that did nothing. | don't know how you develop an area with government money if
there is no private money doing it anyway. Y ou just can't invent an economy in a place that doesnt

have anything.
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Four Cornersis adesert. There's some water and an electric power station and so forth, but there's just
nothing to develop. Y ou can't grow anything on the sand.

| findly discovered after observing these various places and reading dl the literature that they put out
that the reason they existed was that Jennings Randolph, early on as a member of the Public Works
Committee, had decided to leave as one of his grand landmarks an Appaachian Regiond Commission,
and had recruited the support of senators from al the states where the Appal achian region reaches,
which isfrom Alabama up to southern New Y ork. In fact, southern New Y ork was added to it while |
was there at the instance of Robert Kennedy, then a senator from New Y ork, because they found a
few hillsin southwestern New Y ork that resembled Appaachia, and it got into the Act. But it came
only to sixteen or eighteen senators, well, maybe afew more: North Carolina, South Caroling, Georgia,
Alabama, Tennessee, Kentucky, West Virginia, Virginia, Pennsylvania, New Y ork--well, say twenty.
Y ou don't pass laws with twenty senators. Somebody cooked up the idea to create these regional
commissions which would be patterned after the Appdachian Commission, until they got enough
senators to get amgority to pass the Appaachian bill. Ah, what fun. It waslogrolling at its best. They
had quite an eaborate adminisrative structure, and a nationd man and a state man, and staffs, and
publications. They'd have hearings themsdalves and generate alot of noise. | don't think any of
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them did anything. | think Reagan istrying to kill them, and | hope he does, because they're just totally
wadgted. When Nixon came in he turned them into political balparks and put his campaign pasin
charge of them as various regiona commissons.

RITCHIE: Wasthere any oversght on any of these oversight trips?

MCCLURE: Wdl, we had hearings. What do you do? Y ou can't go out and look at numbers. Sure,
we looked at the land, but there isn't much you can do. Y ou get the loca peopleto tell you what their
problems are and what they're doing about them, and so forth and so on.

The maddest experience | had involved aformer member of the Public Works Committee, Fred Harris
of Oklahoma, who was running desperately for redection. He got Richard Royce to send me with him,
though he was no longer amember of the committee, to a hearing in some back lands of Oklahoma,
just to be there, so that Fred Harris could say, "And | have here the aff director of the Economic
Opportunity Subcommittee," or whatever he cdled it. Oh, boy, he was another sort of a'Y arborough
type. Big, noisy, splashy kind of guy. Styled himself a Populist, you remember, and he was married to a
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lovely Indian woman. | remember | was supposed to meet him at Dulles Airport at sx o'clock; | forgot
about rush hour traffic and left here about four, and found myself, after going dong the
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shoulder of 495 [Capita Beltway] to the Dulles road, going 85 miles an hour to the Dulles road. | made
it. We flew to Tulsawhere they had in those days an extremely attractive new airport building, very
good looking, one of the few where you redly like to be.

| watched Harris perform the next morning a eight o'clock. He was on the phone to his office dictating
apress release about the hearing he was going to have in thislittle town, so his office here could get it
out to the papers in Oklahoma in time to gppear the next morning. Oh, he was organized in that sense,
at least in terms of press coverage. Then we got in abig Cadillac and shot across the countryside to
some awful little place. It was right beside the Kerr Canal. Senator Bob Kerr had had built ariver to
Tulsg; it's a concrete trench about a hundred yards wide, straight through the mesquite, the desert.
Ocean-going liners and tankers can go to Tulsa, Oklahoma, as aresult! Because when Kerr had been
chairman of Public Works, that's what he had done with the money, | don't know how many hundreds
of millions. There were no boats in the cand, | never saw anything happening there. But there it was.
Wi, that's along aside. We can terminate the EDA--and | hopeit is.

The Appaachian Commission seemsto have had afar greater success, and the main thing it did was
build highways east-west, because the mountains run north-south and the valeys run north-south, and
lots of people in West Virginiaand other such states never knew what
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was over the mountain. So the Appaachian Regiond Commission, using federd highway money, of
course, but with their own planning, put quite afew mgor roads across the mountains, and that was an
enormous contribution to the growth of the whole economy and then to the society of dl theselittle
isolated places. The people could go f rom one to the next. But otherwise | don't think it's accomplished
agreat dedl. It's produced afew health centers. Well, it's afederd subsidy to an undeveloped and
probably undevelopable part of the world, except for cod mining, chemicas, glass-making, and afew
things like that.

The other subcommittee dealt with disaster relief. Birch Bayh, for some years as a member of the
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subcommittee, had been pushing for a nationd disaster relief adminigtration, so that when atornado hit,
or a hurricane swept ashore, or atidal wave hit Hawaii, or an earthquake occurred someplace, the
federal machinery was prepared to go ingtantly into action to contain the damage, and to restore the
property, and to asss the victims. But when | started working with this there was no such indtitution.
What happened was that a disaster would occur and the members of Congress from the affected area
would plead with the Public Works committees on each Side to pass a specid bill. One of the first was
the Galveston Flood in 1900, | believe, which just Ieft the whole area pardyzed. Water swept way
inland and wiped out the port. I've forgotten the details. But it was a vicious flood, caused by a
hurricane. So

page 231

that's the way it had been going for years. Particularly on the House side, members of the House Public
Works Committee built up quite a nice little book full of favors granted to other members, to whom
they could turn in their hour of need. It was avery inefficient but politicaly understandable set-up. And
that's what Birch Bayh kept running into each time. Held get it through the Senate fairly well, or
normally not even that, because there was alot of resistance here, too, but it was that traditiona way of
dedling with it.

WEél, then came--and | was just starting work on this—-a glorious hurricane, Camille, in the spring of
169. From Alabamato Texas the entire Gulf coast was just destroyed. Immense winds and immense
tidal waves that swept inland for miles, upturned the whole seabed, destroyed shrimp and oyster beds,
and flattened vast areas. Well, we decided that this was the time to strike and have nationd hearings by
the Public Works Committee in Mississippi, which was at the heart of it, where the eye had passed
through. So we engaged the services of apublic relations expert, a newspaper man, Hal Tufty, to
handle the press. Muskie, who was then revving up his presidentiad candidacy, was very eager to be
seen on TV there. There were stories coming from Mississppi about the discriminatory manner in
which the government of Missssppi had dedlt with the black victims of the gorm. There were
thousands, of course. They were the last to get help, or never got any, and were shunted about.
Anyway, thiswas
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dill in the ‘60s, so we had a pretty strong Civil Rights sentiment in the country. All in dl it had the
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meakings of a bomb.

We went down and took over amotel, which was half destroyed. The lobby smelled strongly of
seaweed, but their rooms were dl right, and so was the large dining room which we turned into a
hearing room. Couldn't find anything ese in the whole area; they were al knocked down. We had
televison and radio from al over the country. And we had a helicopter, which | guess the Nationd
Guard provided, to take everybody to see the damage from the air, the press especidly, and
cameramen, and senators, and so forth. Oh, we ran area show. The governor, whose name escapes
my mind, afamous southern governor appeared and charges were laid against him and he defended
himsdf,

RITCHIE: Wastha John Bdl Williams?

MCCLURE: Yes, it was John Bl Williams. Well, be that asit may, we had a grand show down
there. Tha gave us some momentum behind Bayh's legidation. We had locked in, in the process, if you
will, the chairman of the House Rules Committee, from Mississippi, whose name will cometo meina
minute.

RITCHIE: Wastha William Colmer?

MCCLURE: Colmer, of course. We aso had concluded and written a report to the committee that
the federa government's response was
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utterly inadequate. People had to go from one town to another to find health assistance or food or
income support or help in repairing damage. There were a dozen different offices and they weredl in
different places. Agriculture--alot of government agencies were involved, but none of them
coordinated. This was an accurate account and it was a very strong case for anationd program. But
the crowning stroke of luck was atornado that hit Lubbock, Texas about June. Lubbock was the home
town of the then chairman of the House Appropriations Committee.

RITCHIE: George Mahon.
MCCLURE: Mahon. Next to the chairman of the Rules Committee probably the most powerful man

in the House, outside the speaker. So | told Dick Royce, "I gotta go. Send me to Lubbock.”
Everybody concurred that thiswas agood idea and | went out and checked with his hometown office,
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of course, and then found exactly the same thing there. Offices dl over town, private agencies
disconnected, too, the Salvation Army, the Red Cross, everybody doing fine work but unconnected.
Y ou could have truckloads of second-hand clothing and no place to hand them out. Again we had a
case in point with pictures and documentation. So this gave us great hope. By then we had word from
the House Public Works Committee that they were getting an awful lot of pressure from Colmer and
Mahon and others to start doing something about a nationa program.
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We were further along than they were by along way. There had been many hearings before | got there.
Anyway, we wrote adamn good bill, which is now law. | think it's ensconced in the Emergency
Management Administration, in HUD. And now, if therésaflood or any other kind of naturd disaster,
acentrd office opensimmediately in the principd city, with abranch from Small Business, Agriculture,
Commerce, HEW, and so on. People come in and just go around as on a shopping tour, and are taken
care of progressively by each bureau. It worked. Y ou don't hear any more complaints, people
screaming because they're not being helped. They're being helped, and it'sto Birch Bayh's eternd
honor that this came about, because held been plugging for it for along, long time.

RITCHIE: Takeahill likethe Disaster Relief Act of 1970, how much of something like that isthe
senator and how much of it isthe staff? Do you work together?

MCCLURE: Oh, yes.
RITCHIE: Does he cometo you and say, "l want youtodo X, Y, and Z?'

MCCLURE: No, | worked with hisAA, avery fine guy named Clark Norton, now with the Library
of Congress. He had lived with this al
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histime in the Senate. While | was doing the technica staff work, he was the idea man, and had dready
covered this ground a dozen times.

RITCHIE: Wdl, what exactly were your respongibilities doing the technica staff work?
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MCCLURE: Wél, you draft legidation. Y ou draft reports. Y ou draft statements for your chairman.

Y ou draft floor stlatements. Y ou have to work up the conference papers, when it reaches that stage,
which isaspecia kind of form. | don't mean you're left without the right to expressidess, but | mean
the real ideas weren't mine. They were coming out of Bayh's own experience and Clark Norton's
experience, and other people around him. It wasn't anything new, it was dl there, but it never had been
put together in away that would make it move.

RITCHIE: The staff does al the groundwork, but when it gets down to it, it's the senator who has to
ask the questions at the hearings and who has to get up on the floor and give the speeches, and do the
negotiating in conference. What kind of educating process goes on between the staff and the senator to
make sure the senator knows what he's talking about?

MCCLURE: Wéll, if he'sagood senator and wants to perform well, you give him a briefing paper in
which you will st out the
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issues and the types of questions that will probably be asked, and proposed answers. By then, if you're
reaching the floor, there's the committee report, that spellsit dl out, and how it changes the exigting law.
Y ou know, there is a standard boiler-plate that goes in the report. But they're hard to do and you have
to ded with the legidative counse because you're changing an existing law and you have to be careful
you're not doing something you don't want to do, or undoing something that's been done. Wdll, |
suppose the educationd part of it, if you will, comes dso by the senator listening to the witnesses, which
he does--we hope--and he usualy does. He has the printed submitted statements of the witnesses.
Then groups will come to see him, interested |obbies and government people, in his office. Y ou, the
gaff man, would probably be there and learn, too, a the same time what their problems are.

It'sacurious thing that you should ask me this question about this particular bill, because a scene took
place on the Senate floor which | wish never to have repeated--well, two things. Firgt in the full
committee meeting. Chairman Randolph called an executive meeting of the full committee to receive the
report from Senator Bayh about this bill and to obtain the support of the committee to report it. Senator
Bayh was caled upon by the chairman. By then we'd had some amendments offered from inside the
committee, and outside. These had to be discussed and accepted or rejected, too, before they reported
the bill. About ten minutes after held begun his
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presentation, Senator Bayh said, "Mr. Chairman, I'm going to have to be excused. My condtitutional
amendment is coming up in executive sesson in the Judiciary Committee this afternoon and | must be
there. I'll just ask Stewart McClure to carry on." Wdll, it's one thing to explain legidation, and even to
explain anendments, but it's another thing to find yourself cdling for avote, which | was doing! | would
say to Senator Randolph, "Mr. Chairman, can we have a vote on this amendment?’ | mean, | had to,
nobody ese was doing it! Well, I'd been around long enough to know how to do it, and to sound like a
senator if | had to, but it wasterrible. That was aterrible thing for Bayh to do at the last minute. Held
worked his ass off for years. | guess he had sufficient confidence in methat | could do it, but | thought it
was a disgugting fallure of a senator to perform his proper duty.

But the worst was yet to come. | don't know, it was asif having gotten the thing written and approved
by the subcommittee, he thought that that was d | that had to be done. We were just beginning, of
course. We till had to go through the Senate and the conference with a very tough House committee.
Wi, among the amendments that had been offered to the committee, which | had read to them, were
five amendments from Senator Y arborough, who had some eager staff man. One amendment, in effect,
made the provisons retroactive to 1967. Well, the committee rejected most of them; they were redlly
wild. | think we took one just to be nice, but it dedlt
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with a subgtantia problem. But this one was just too much. So, knowing Y arborough, | thought, "he's
going to offer this on the floor and we've got to be ready for him." There were other senators
amendments; | don't remember what the committee did with them. Some of them were good
amendments; one could aways improve a hill, there's no question about that. So our. great day comes
and the hill isup in the Senate. | write Bayh his opening statement and | round up Senator Randolph
and Senator Dole and dl the others | can find to make little supporting statements. All that part goes
very smoothly.

Then the time for amendments to be offered came and Senator Y arborough offered his amendments.
The amendment reaching back to 1967 sparked Senator Allott, who probably didn't like Y arborough
anyway (they both served on the Labor Committee together). He chalenged it and said he was going to
filibuster the whole propostion if this amendment was ever accepted. Well, | looked around for

Senator Bayh. He had been in the earlier part of the debate. | was Sitting a his desk--it was the
magority leader's desk, you know they turn it over to the manager of the bill. Senator Bayh had
disappeared. He's over in acorner Stting with his hand over his mouth chatting with some Republican
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senator. I've got to stay where | am, | have dl the paper, and if somebody comes up and askswhat'sin
Section 2 | have to be able to show him, so I'm paralyzed. And here are these two senators chewing
hishill to death and he isn't even ligtening!
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Wéll, it redlly got completely out of hand. Other senators spoke. There isn't anybody to call for avote.
The manager of the bill has disgppeared, and the presiding officer islooking around for somebody to
recognize. Meanwhile, Allott isydling and Yarborough isressting. So | sad, "Wadll, I'm going to have
to do thismysdlf." So | went up to Senator Allott and | said, "Sir, if | can get Senator Y arborough to
amend his amendment to bring it back within the last three or four years, would you object to it?' He
said, "Of course not. Go ahead, seeif you can.”" | went back to the desk and drafted an amendment to
the Y arborough amendment, a subgtitute for it. Took it over to him. He was till hollering, and he took
time for abreeth, and | said, "Sir, | think | have something worked out with Senator Allott that will take
the bulk of what you want to do of aretroactive character." Heread it through and said, "Y egh, that's
fine. That'sfine"" So he then said something like, "Mr. Presdent, | offer an amendment as a subdtitute
for mine" Still no Bayh. | findly got up and went over and said, " Senator, you've got to come back to
your desk and cdll for avote on the amendment. The whole Senateswaiting." "Oh, yes" he said, “ Ok.”
Came back.

| thought that was the crumbiest performance. Maybe it happens at other times for other people, but |
had never seen that, having aways worked with men who were completely on top of things: Ligter Hill,
or Wayne Morse, or Jack Javits, or Joseph Clark, any of them. They know what they're doing, they
know where they're supposed to be,
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they're there dl the time, and they perform. But here was the manager of the bill diddling around in the
back of the chamber. He was running for president, too, and maybe he had some dea he was working
out, | don't know, but it certainly left me fedling like I'd been betrayed. Y ou don't do that to a saff man,
who has only so much authority. | overstepped it greetly by going around maneuvering. Youve
probably heard other such cases, but | never had that happen before.

RITCHIE: That'sinteresting because it does seem to clash with the public image that Bayh had of
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being avery effective senator for many years.

MCCLURE: Wéel, he may have been very effective, but he was not present in these two instances, so
his effect was diminished. But it didn't hurt the bill; it al went through, swoosh. They had atough
conference and came out with agood bill. He was good in conference. He stayed. Because | let it be
known to his man, "I'm not going to go to that conference if | have to ded aone with the House. He
learned of my dismay. Never referred to it, of course, but he was there during the conference. | think he
findly redized, "My God, I'm going to be very famousif this bill becomes law, it'sagreet law. | better
do something about it." It was a Strange thing. Well, that takes us through most of the Public Works
Committee, unless you want to ask some other questions.
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RITCHIE: Having spent most of your career up to that point with the Labor Committee, how would
you compare the Public Works Committee to the Labor Committee? Did it function basicdly the same?
Did you find it a different aamosphere?

MCCLURE: Wédll, of course it was different. There were different people. But after dl committees
operate the same al over the Hill. Y ou've got to do certain things by law and custom. Y ou have
hearings, you have meetings, you have staff meetings, you do research, you write papers, and so forth,
wherever you are. The principd difference from the Labor Committee was that the chairman of the
Public Works Committee had a much firmer control of his own committee than Lister Hill had, because
of the vast multiplication of subcommittees and the staff which the subcommittee chairmen were
empowered to employ, though they had to have it gpproved by the chairman--their budget was ill
controlled by the chairman. We controlled dl the money, in other words, and in effect dlocated it to the
subcommittees for salaries and supplies.

In the Public Works Committee, Richard Royce--and therefore Senator Randol ph--hired everybody,
except the minority, naturaly. So he was more a staff director than |, in that sense. Furthermore, he was
much more deeply into the substance of every bill than | had been as the staff director in the Labor
Committee. He sat in on the staff meetings, and he had ideas, and he had amendments, and he
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wrestled with the subject matter, and he presented the bills frequently--that's probably why Senator
Randolph had acceded to Bayh's request, because Dick Royce frequently was the man who presented
the bill to the full committee, not the subcommittee chairman or staff. That was a congderable
difference, though he did not present the Disaster Relief Bill to the Committee!

RITCHIE: How did it fed for you, having been a staff director for al those years, to now be working
undernesth a staff director?

MCCLURE: Oh, that didn't make any difference. | mean, Dick was a grand man and 4till is, and we
were pas and friends for years. His orders were my desire. It didn't make any difference, none at dl.
The staff, dl of them, were very nice people. | had no problem about that. | did think, and thisis
ultimately where | made the great mistake, that thiswas a rather confining zone for me, deding with
these two mgor subjects, both of which were then done in my two years there. We extended the EDA
and weld created the Disaster Relief Act. Well, what was | going to do from then on that would be of
any interest to me? Since they had very good people in the Pollution subcommittee and others, there
didn't seem to be-unless there was a new legidative program invented or proposed-there wasn't going
to be anything much for me to do there, which led me to seek to return to the Labor Committee.
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RITCHIE: Before we go back to the Labor Committee, | wanted to ask you whether you could
characterize Jennings Randol ph as a chairman, by comparison say to Ligter Hill as acharman?

MCCLURE: Wdll, it's absurd to make comparisons. They each had their own persondity and style.
Randolph is avery open, warm, friendly man, who wants to be loved, and who is. It's not just that he
wants the ego rubbed; he isloved by everybody, and goes out of hisway to be courteous and dmost
effusive with everybody, staff and witnesses and members and so on. It's just much more a-how shall |
say it--popular gpproach than Lister Hill, who was after al an aristocrat. He never insulted anybody
and he was extremely courteous, | don't mean that, but he was not open and hail-fellow-well-met,
except for brief ingances, but it wasn't his style. HEd do it once in awhile. But Senator Randolph was
just adarling human being and certainly no fool. He knew most of what's going on. He could run again
next year and be elected, I'm sure, and be just as good six years from now as heistoday. I'm sorry he
didn't decideto run.

RITCHIE: He hasthisimage of being avery genid sort, but then you indicate that he was avery
powerful chairman.
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MCCLURE: Yes, but it was dl done with a soft glove. Nobody ever was pushed around. If he had to
be negative to someone the other didn't even know what was happening to him: “I'm afraid, Bill, that the
way things are today | don't know that I'm going to be able
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to go dong with you. Now don't think 1 won't support you in everything else youredoing but . . .. You
know, that sort of thing. The man who's being said "no" to doesn't even redize it in effect until it'sdl
over. Randolph is extremely conscious of his rights as a senator, however. | once was with him when
we gpproached those eevators in the Dirksen Building which are marked " Senators Only." | stopped
before | went into the little foyer there and said, " Senator, I'll meet you downdairs.” He said, "Oh, well,
there's no one around, come on." If there had been another senator there, he wouldn't have done that.
Punctilious to the tips of his fingers about senatorid prerogatives and rights.

Of course he gets angry, everyone does, but the more angry heis the cooler and palite heis. You just
think, "Oh, how am | ever going to ded with this man?' Because if you've done something wrong, as |
did sometimes, and he was angry aboutt it--ooof. He was exercising dl his forces to control his
otherwise naturd desire to bap you in the head and shout at you. Never did, but you could see that the
hackles had risen, there was a dight coloring in the forehead, and you'd better perform quickly and
properly if you're going to get around it. He was a very drict man. And after you'd been with him a
while you knew that and you just avoided raising such situations.
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Thiswas not in the Public Works Committee, but this was the first time | ran into the famous Randolph
temper, which most people don't know he has because it's invisible unless you know what's going on.
In this case, there was a hearing before Senator John Kennedy's subcommittee on Labor on minimum
wage. One of the witnesses was a former admira who represented the hotel association, | believe.
Senator Randol ph was running for regection. Held been in for two years finishing off aterm, Matt
Nedy's term, and was running again. Thiswas '60. He was at the Labor subcommittee hearing and a
phone cal came, which | got for him. He said, "I'm going to haveto go, I'll tdl you where I'll be. Thisis
the number. Cal me when the admiral comes up to testify.” "Yes, gr," | said.

Wi, we had another hearing going on that same afternoon, that happened to be in the Public Works

Senate Historical Ofice Oral History Project
www. senat e. gov/ hi story



Committee hearing room, and | |eft the Labor hearing and went down to see how that was going, and
got back after the admira had appeared. | had thought he was quite a ways down the lit, but Kennedy
had jumped over some people who weren't there or something, and put him on. So | caled the number
that Randolph had given me and told him what happened. He said very sternly, "Stewart, | wanted very
much to hear him!" | said, "Wadll, | fumbled it, Senator, | was out of the room and he came up before |
knew it." He sad, "Wel, you find him in the building and bring him to my office” Imagine! But | did.
The admira was getting into hislimousine. | didn't even know what he looked like, but | took
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somebody who did and we ran down and grabbed him. Took him up to Randolph's office, where of
course, he had a much better hearing than he would have had in a public meeting. It turned out that the
hotel association was giving Randolph a consderable contribution for his reglection. No wonder | was
in deep trouble! Well, | wrote anote of gpology, no explanation, just said "I flubbed it, I'm terribly
sorry. | hope the meeting with the admird was satisfactory.” Well, he then told me later that it was fine
and to forget about it. But, boy, he was most unhappy, and justifiably so.

RITCHIE: Youll beinterested to know that Senator Randolph is just beginning along ord history
project with some interviewers from West Virginia

MCCLURE: Oh, my God, that will be wonderful reading, wonderful. He's been here since 1933 with
some years out. He's aremarkable man.

End of Interview #7
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HARRISON WILLIAMSAND THE LABOR COMMITTEE
Interview #8
Tuesday, May 3, 1983

RITCHIE: What was it that drew you from the Public Works Committee back to the Labor
Committee?

MCCLURE: Posetic judtice, redly. | had a perfectly lovely job with the Public Works Committee. |
was friends with dl the saff. The chairman, Randolph, was afavorite man of mine. | got dong with
everybody and | did very interesting work, but | had been a staff director and I'd been ousted in a
manner that was degrading, | thought. While it was quite gppropriate that the new chairman is entitled
to have his own man, the manner in which held done it was so supid and crude and inhumane, | redlly
thought | had been unjustly expelled from my job, and | wanted it back.

The other thing about it, professonaly spesking, was that as a professond staff member one had a
rather limited field of activity. One was assgned a bill or an area of concern, and one performed within
those limits. Well, 1'd been used to dedling with the entire spectrum of legidation and subcommittees
that the Labor Committee handled, and the subcommitteesit created to handleit. It was avery broad
spectrum with everything from labor and education and hedth on through to juvenile delinquency and
the artsand
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humanities and dcoholism and anything one can think of. We had fifteen subcommittees, which wasa
much bigger arena, 0 | was tempted to go back and bein that arenarather than this more
circumscribed spot on the Public Works Committee. But | 1eft the Public Works Committee loving
them dl, and Randol ph understood quite well why | was seeking to do what | was doing, and
supported me, too.

In the campaign of 1970, Senator Williams, who had had a history of acoholism in the Senate, which
was well known to everyone, and there had been some sad scenesin New Jersey--I believe at some
NAACP convention he fel down off the platform drunk as agoat, you know, it was redly very
bad--and the party bossesin New Jersey said they were going to dump him because he would be
defeated by any Republican. Wdll, for whatever reasons, Senator Williams performed a very difficult
task. He stopped drinking, he joined the AAs [Alcoholics Anonymous], he concentrated on physica
exercise, and asfar as| know he's never had adrink since. If you see him Spping something it's ginger
deasarule. He defeated this demon, and | have enormous respect for him. In the process he went on
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televison in New Jersey and told the people of New Jersey that he had had an dcoholic problem but it
had been licked and never again would the filthy stuff pass hislips.

Then the party bosses believed him, and it was true, and the unions, who were the biggest forcein the
date, said, "Fine, we love
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Pete Williams, but we couldn't take him the way he was® WEell al go for him." But there was lagging, of
course, among the troops who hadn't studied the whole question, and his reputation was very poor in
that respect. So, | don't know who it was but somebody went to Senator Randol ph, who was then the
ranking Democratic member of the Labor Committee. He had a choice of chairing either committee,
and he sent forth an announcement which was used in the Williams campaign very heavily, endorsing
Williams and saying that if Williams were eected he would be the chairman of the Labor Committee
because Senator Randol ph intended to stay as chairman of Public Works, thereby opening the way and
taking himsdf out of the seniority ladder on the Labor Committee. That was very helpful to Pete, of
course, to Senator Williams, because then they were not only redecting a senator, they were eecting a
chairman of avery potent committee that had enormous impact on the state of New Jersey. It'sa
people committee, and New Jersey's an urban Stete, redly. The committee, other than the Banking and
Housing Committee, probably has more impact on persons living in New Jersey than any other Senate
committee. So they had every good reason to support Williams, and he won.

| sent him a contribution and | was in touch with his people, and | knew them anyway. He returned to
Washington briefly after the election and | paid my respects and told him | was eager to come back and
work with him. | planted the seeds, so to speak. Well, he
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disappeared, went into some health spa or something over Christmas. So | generated a certain amount
of lobbying, interna and externa, but | could never get to see him. It was alittle like seeking

Y arborough as to when he was going to fire me as it was to see Williams to persuade him to hire me!
There was just one little black spot in the whole thing. | ran into my old friend Frederick Blackwell,
who worked on the Labor Committee and had been Senator Williams staff man on migratory labor
and his drinking companion or hand-holding companion when Williams was sopping up stuff in al the
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barsin town. Fred and | had aways been very close. He said, "Stewart, you're making a big mistake. It
won't work. It isn't like it used to be. It never will be. Senator Hill's gone. Y arborough's gone. This
committee is not what it used to be and never will be again. Y ou won't be able to stand it. Don't do it."
Wil in my excess of hubris and certitude that | could conquer dl these minor obstacles and difficulties
| brushed that aside, but | remembered it. In due course | had reason to. But he gave me the warning
and | didnt ligen toit. | didn't follow his suggestions.

Findly, I cornered Senator Williams in a hdlway someplace. It was getting to be the first of January or
near there, and | said, " Senator, were going to have a new Senate in about afew days and then well
have to have an organizationa meeting. | would like to know if you're going to hire me as your staff
director. If not, | must tell Senator Randolph and the staff there so they can put me
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back to work in that committee, or find somebody to take my placeif | move here. " | gave him dl the
reasons why he had to make adecison. So he said, "All right, bring me the papers." Wel, Randolph
was chairman, technicaly, until the Senate reorganized. So | had thisweird set-up in which Randolph
ordered me taken off the Public Works Committee and put on the Labor Committee as acting chairman
of the Labor Committee. So Williams never redly signed me on. Technicdly, it had to be done that
way. | carried the papers around to Brenkworth, and it was dl done.

Then the new world opened upon me and it was not at dl like it had ever been before. In the first place,
| couldn't find my chairman: the first week in January, the second week in January, the third week in
January. He had anew AA named Ben Plombo, a professor from Princeton, able, capable young
man, and a couple of other new people. On the Labor Committee | found some persons who had been
brought in by Y arborough, very good men, most of them, from the Labor Department: Bob Nagle, Nik
Edes, and another chap whose name escapes my mind athough he was an extremey able guy. They
were on the Labor subcommittee which Y arborough had been chairing, and Williams liked them dl and
intended to keep them, too. So | met these chaps whom | had not known, and we found we got aong
very well. Nagle was chief counsd and the other guy was counsdl of the subcommittee on Labor, and
I've forgotten what Nik's job was.
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But aso there was a huge hang-over of Y arborough people, including Mr. Robert Harris, who'd been
the staff director. Since Y arborough had been defeeted in the primary in June, his boys had |oaded the
committee with friends who did nothing, | mean they just drew salaries. There were ten or twelve guys
who had nothing to do, but they were pulling down Senate money as Y arborough appointees. | don't
think he even knew they were there. Y ou know, Harris pushed the papers around and they did it. Well,
those boys were dl going to go and they knew it. | didn't even have to tell them. We just couldn't have
them around. They were doing nothing; they had no connection with Williams. There was aroom & the
end of the suite, separated by the minority offices, and it had two desks and a few telephones. | told
these guys to use that room to find jobs, which they dl did in due course. All from Texas-what a gang!

Then Mr. Harris, | cdled on himand | sad, "I don't have a green parking sticker to give you, because
I've been parking over under the fountain [underground Senate parking garage] in a numbered dot, but
| would like my parking place in the [Dirksen Office Building] garage back again." He said, "No
problem. I'm going to be staff director of the DC [Didtrict of Columbia] Committee under Senator
[Thomas] Eagleton, and I've got adot about three steps from yours.™” That's agreat story of the parking

lot and parking spaces!

page 253

Therewas a girl who'd been apain in the neck to mefor years, agirl named Lucille Gould, from North
Cardling, | believe. Sheldd been hired in a criticd moment way back in the beginning, when we needed
an extra secretary. One of the old-line staff people who'd been there long before | came, named Chick
Heerlein, a nice smple-minded chap who'd been aminor clerk to the committee since the beginning of
the century, | guess-there were quite afew old characters around when | first came aboard with Lister
Hill--wdll, this fellow had stayed on. Calendar clerk, that was his job. So when we needed a clerk he
sad, "Oh, | know just the girl, she works for a congressman from North Carolina and she's looking for
ajob.” So over she came.

She was damn good. She was avery efficient, competent, capable secretary. She could not be faulted
by anybody. But she was a bitch. She tortured dl the other girls. She tortured me! But every guy she
worked for--and she worked for every staff man on the Subcommittee on Labor that we had--couldn't
do without her. She knew al the union guys, she knew dl the lobbyists, she knew where the files were,
she knew who said what in what meeting and what time. Absolutdly superb professiond staff person,
but avirago, hoyden. Girls would come in to me weeping: "Mr. McClure, | can't work in that office any
longer if that bitch is going to be therel™ So I'd try to fire her and her guy each time--Ralph Dungan had
her, John Sweeney, John Bruff, Don Baker; | can't remember them dl--everyone
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of them, they knew she was ahdl of aproblem for everybody, but she was so good for their purposes
that they would never alow meto get rid of her.

Bob Harris had been the latest Labor Subcommittee counsel when | was till there the first time, and he
had latched on to Lucille. He brought her into his office with him as secretary to the staff director, and
expelled my old secretary Marjorie Whitaker, who'd been there longer than anybody practicaly. She
was dumped into nowhere land. They didn't fire her but they just didn't give her anything to do. Shed
come down to the Public Works Committee and weep, and I'd take her to lunch and pat her hand:
"Maybe things will get better, Marjorie." Wdll, they did for her. Thefirdt thing | did was to summon
Lucille Gould--after 1'd traded parking places with her superior officer. | said, "Lucille, you are going on
extended leave." Shesad, "What'sthat?' | said, "It's leave requiring you not to come to the office,
alowing you time to find another job a which time your leave will cease. Goodbye." That was that.
Then Marjorie came streaming back inin al her glory, fixed the office the way it had been, moved the
furniture back the way it had been, got rid of al the Lucille Gould doodads. It was a moment of
triumph. Oh, dear, what fun.

Will, still my chairman was not available. We had alot of new, to me, members. | didn't know
Eagleton, | didn't know [Alan]
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Crangton. There was one other who'd come into the committee while I was on Public Works, Harold
Hughes of lowa. Well, they dl had to have subcommittees, of course. The regular structure pretty much
remained. Y arborough was no longer there so the new chairman of the Subcommittee on Labor was
Williams. Then he merged Migratory Labor with it so he wouldn't violate the new rule that no senator
can hold more than one subcommittee chairmanship on a given committee.

Senator Eagleton came and said, "'l would like to have the Subcommittee on Aging.” That wasanice,
easy research-kind of subcommittee, well they had some legidative power. | said, "Wdl, I'm terribly
sorry, Senator, but Senator Cranston's man has told me that was what he would like." And
Eagleton--1'd never had a senator come to my desk before he did--said " Stewart, you may not reglize
it, but when | was dected in 1968 in Missouri, the governor appointed me to the Senate the day after
the dection, so | have seniority over Senator Cranston.” Oh, God. "1 didn't know that, sir." He said,
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"Well that's the way it is"" So now | had to go to Cranston, who was not in town either--he wasin
Cdifornia--go to his man, Jonathan Steinberg, and explain this stuation. But | shouldn't have had to be
doing thisat dl. | was not the chairman of this committee. Here | was dedling with United States
senators over subcommittee chairmanships, which were the life blood of any senator. It was absolutely
awful.
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There were others of that kind where | just got into terrible binds. | had to make decisons | had no
power to make, and the people who received the word operated on it asif | did, and then I'd have to
later get Senator Williams to ratify it. It was awful. Papers piling up, the horrendous appearance before
the Rules Committee to get our money was looming, and there was gill no chairman. It was the most
ungodly month | ever spent. As anyone working around here knows, when your boss is unavailable--I
couldn't even find him on the phone--and you've got to do things, the law requires things to be done,
the facts require them, other senators require them. Oh, God, it was awful.

But of course, in due time he gppeared on the scene, bristling and ready to go, and everything was
goparently normd. Then he sad, "Wéll, we better have an organizationa meeting. Cdl dl the
Democratic senators over to your office and assign subcommittee chairmanships and memberships and
work dl thisout." Bob Nagle and | did the paperwork of who wanted what and who could have what,
and fitted it in to this, that, and the other. The meeting took place and it was al very cordid. Everybody
was happy to have Senator Williams as chairman, | think they redly were. He was a charming guy and
everybody liked him. He was sobered up and looked like he was ready to take charge and be the
chairman.
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There was just this one loose end. Senator Cranston wasn't there. He had been eased out of the
Subcommittee on Aging and there redlly wasn't another subcommittee. There would have to be one
created. | told Jonathan Steinberg that and he was to get a hold of Cranston and come up with a
suggestion. Well, Steinberg is dlone without a senator in this staff and Democratic caucus. Senator
Williams said, "Mr. Steinberg, you represent Senator Cranston | believe. What would you suggest we
do to provide him with a subcommittee?' Steinberg, instead of saying, "I'm sorry, | can't peek for him,
he's not here, could this be put off?" (which would have been a very sensible thing to do) legped in and
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sad, "Yes, we want a subcommittee on the environment!" | looked over and here's Senator Randol ph
with the steam beginning to come out of his ears. Jesus, you know the Public Works Committee
handles the Clean Air Act, Clean Water Act. All of the environmenta legidation in the Senate isin the
Public Works Committee. | thought he would never get his speech out of his mouth. He said,
"Bu-bu-but Mr. Chairman, rrrrrgh, | think it should be pointed out,” and then he got ahold of himsdlf,
"that the Senate Public Works Committee has been congidering legidation involving clean air and clean
water and solid waste for many years, and has written anumber of important laws. . . . of

He went on in this self-controlled politeness, and poor old Steinberg was just shriveling. He hadn't given
the firgt thought to, nor had he told me or anybody €l se this preposterous suggestion he

page 258

was going to make. Wdll, at that point Senator Williams said, "'l think we'd better wait till Senator
Crangton returns to town. Thank you, Mr. Steinberg well deal with this matter at alater meeting.” But it
was S0 funny: a case of ataff man who was just so full of his own importance, speaking for his senator,
and told to come up with an idea. He just splattered himself dl over the place. 1t took him months to get
anybody to give him any credence after that. Well, he went on to have avery fine career asthe staff
director of the Veterans Committee, which they set up later with Cranston as chairman, and an
extremely able guy, but God he redlly got splattered that first time.

Then | had another hard job. Thisinvolved Senator Williams present wife. Her name was Jeanette
Smith, when shefirg came into view. Sheld been employed in the House by Cornelius Gallagher, a
congressman from New Jersey who subsequently went to jall. | don't know if she had anything to do
with it, but indeed he did go to jail and she needed another job. Senator Williams had been in the
House and a colleague of Galagher's-and over there they went around dating each other's secretaries
and so forth. | should add that Senator Williams was married and had four children, but his wife refused
to come to Washington. Never would come and live in this city. It wasterrible for him. Hereés a bright,
handsome, charming, gdlant young man without awife. What does he do? He goes out with
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other girls, of course. So Jeanette was one of his flock in the House. | think many of the House
members in those days had active sex lives.
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In due course, when Senator Williams became chairman of the Migratory Labor Subcommittee, back
in the ‘60s, one of the new employees that he asked to be put on was Jeanette Smith, who was then
married to anavad officer, | believe, living out in Chevy Chase. She was made a clerk of this
subcommittee. | never could find out what she did there, except every time | came in the office she was
on the phone, talking to some Italian politician in New Jersey. She redlly was his political agent. She
had nothing to do with migratory labor, never came to the hearings, never knew anything about it. She
was Senator Williams political agent, keeping al the pockets sewed up and tempers cooled. There was
aways a stream of strange looking Itaian gentlemen coming through al the time, part of the machinery
of the New Jersey Democratic party. But she had an extremely strong hold over Senator Williams. In
fact, she divorced her husbhand with aview to marrying Senator Williamsin due course. He had to get
divorced, too, and | guess he did, had to, because in--1 don't know when it was--they became married.

Mrs. Williams remained on the subcommittee saff, where she assumed thetitle of chief clerk. Chief
clerk of asubcommittee! | now understand they have such things, but in those daysit didn't
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exist. Well, thiswas what he wanted so that's what hgppened. Astime went on it was clear to me, and
others too, probably before | saw it, that whatever decisions were being made, both in politicsin New
Jersey or in the operation of not only Senator Williams persona office but to every degree possible the
Senate Committee on Labor and Public Wdfare were being made by Mrs. Williams, then till Mrs.
Smith. There had to be a some point a clash, because either | was the staff director or she wes. |
galed her off along time, againg terrible demands that somebody be fired because sheld heard her say
something contrary to policy, or she was late in the office. Wdll, it soon turned out that Jeanette Smith
had spiesin my gaff who were reporting to her on adaily basis on the arriva times and departures and
length of lunch periods and office comportment of dl my own saff, subcommittees and full.

Jeanette persuaded Ben Paombo, the committee chairman's adminigtrative assistant, to have weekly
daff meetings to discuss the full panoply of legidative interests and committee interests of Senator
Williams. A guy would come from his subcommittee on Banking, which was securities, and somebody
from the Rules Committee where he was a member, and three or four of us from the Labor Committee,
and then his own staff. Weld st around and hash the schedule for next week and how this bill was
moving and that. And she would St there, not quite presiding but an imposing presence behind Ben
Pdlombo, who was presiding. These were horrible meetings. There was nothing
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redly to discuss that couldn't be done over the phone in two seconds. It was just her way of exhibiting
her power over dl of us, and indgsting on areport on such-and-such being written and submitted to the
chairman, something that could be told on the end of a phone or by bumping into him in a corridor. But
thiswas dl her scheme of arranging the whole thing so that the chairman was running it al, but it was
she who was running him.

Oh, boy, it was very tough on everybody. Nobody wanted this. Y ou take orders from your chairman,
of course, and you do what you're supposed to do, but here was this intervening black queen--we
findly began cdling her "the spider,” if she ever laid her paws on you you could expect to be sucked
dry and the husk thrown out the next Monday morning. | had to protect my own staff because she was
determined to have somebody fired once aweek. Later, when shewasin full charge and | had left,
that's what she did. Once aweek somebody would be told on a Friday night, usualy some girl who had
just barely gotten there, that she was not proving out and her desk would be cleared out by Monday
and somebody ese would take her place. Every weekend the guillotine came down. Well, | didnt let
that happen, but it was

tried dl the time. Sometimes the senator himsalf would say, "'I'm hearing funny reports about thet girl
who's handling this-or-that.” | said, "What are you hearing, senator?' "Well, that she's never on her
job." "That's not true, she's on her job dl thetime." | would
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say that thiswas just alot of crap. | knew where he was getting it, and he knew | knew, but thiswas a
dlly dance we had to go through.

Meanwhile, we did proceed with legidation and we had a good session and reported bills that became
law, and it went on on the surface as awdl-run committee. Redly it wasn't. The subcommittees just
went hog-wild, did anything they wanted up, spent any money they wanted to, especidly Senator
[Edward] Kennedy's Health Subcommittee. | mean, | just had to finaly . . . . | couldn't get the chairman
to tak to Kennedy to bring some kind of discipline. They were going out and hiring cars and trains and
planes and spending enormous sums of money al over the country without consulting me or getting any
approvd of the expenditures. It al had to come back through vouchers, and that's where we stopped
them, of course. Weld just say, "Well, this voucher isn't going to be paid. It will have to come out of
your pocket." They were aloose-running band. Then, of course, Kennedy wasn't paying any attention
to these details ether. It was dl a the saff level. They were making him look good, getting him in the
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papersand on TV and dl that, very well, but just asif the federa treasury had been opened to them to
go hog wild. And no amount of verba discipline on my part would stop them.
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I’d go to Williams and say, "L ook, we can't go to Brenkworth and the Rules Committee with a bunch
of voucherslikethis. These aredl illegd. You can't do what these people are trying to charge us for.”
He'd say, "Oh, dear, well." "Y ou've got to tel Senator Kennedy to tell them to stop it. | can't tell
Senator Kennedy to do anything." "Y egh, you'reright, you're right Stewart." And then nothing would
happen. That was what was awful. Within the committee, below the surface, behind the facade, and in
rooms other than the public rooms, this thing was just shambling adong, just crumbling dong. If Senator
Hill ran atight ship--and he did--Senator Williams was running akind of after-the-game melee of
celebrants. This was chaotic.

| didn't see how | was going to tick it out. In thefirst place, | was sure that Jeanette was knifing me at
every turn. I'd become close friends with Ben Palombo, the administrative assstant, which at least gave
me one strong am in that office, but he upped and quit one day and decided he was going to help Lloyd
Bentsen become presdent. That was the end of that. Then | didn't have anybody over there whom |
could trust, or who would dare to talk to me. Y ou see, that was another part of the game. If you were
seen with somebody, Jeanette would get the word and then put dubious connotations to work. Oh,
boy, well, she worked at it al the time and did nothing else, so you couldn't take time from your job to
fight dl this off dl thetime. It wasjust sad as hell.
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The thing began coming to ahead in 1973. | came back in ‘71 and | had stood the first sesson fairly
successfully and the second one was halfway through. | was walking over to the floor with Senator
Williams one day, and he said, " Stewart, what's this about this financid clerk you've got there? |
undergtand she's not performing quite as well as she should.” | said, "Wadll, I'm afraid | haveto disagree
with you, gr, she's kept the best books that anybody ever kept since I've been around here.” He said,
"Well, | hear sheleaves early." | said, "Oh, you do? Wéll, she does. When her books are done and I've
looked at them, | tell her to go home. Theré's no point in Stting there looking at the wal for an hour.”
He sad, "Wdl, she could share in answering the tlephone.” Now, how the hell does he know about
this? | sad, "Well, we have four other girlsin that office whose job it isto answer the telephone. They
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don't handle these complicated vouchers and financia books, which if you'd ever seen them Senator
you would know nobody can understand except Bob Brenkworth and afew of us who have spent our
lives gudying them. This girl doesafinejob."

Afterward, | thought, oh boy, what isdl this? Well, the girl had afunny name: Stewart (like | spell my
first name) Home. | thought, | better find out how she got here, because | came back from Public
Works and she was there. | had not hired her or had anything to do with her. Well, it turned out that
she was married and lived down in Alexandria or some place. Her husband had disappeared and
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she was working in a bank, and she had come to the attention of the chief clerk of the Rules
Committee, Gordon Harrison. Gordon was a hyper-active guy. He had had a heart attack or two and
was popping nitro pills a every hour, and full of energy. HEd gone for this Stewart Home, but he didn't
have any job on the Rules Committee for her, to save her from this bank. He and Harrison Williams
were old-time buddies, irrespective of the fact that one was a senator and one was not they'd been
carousing around Washington for years together. Gordon asked Harrison if he could persuade

Y arborough to find this girl ajob on the Labor Committee. | suppose al these Harris and Harrisons
get funny but Bob Harris then was Labor Committee clerk and he naturally wanted to be cooperative
with Senator Harrison Williams and to his good friend Gordon Harrison, who gave us the money [Rules
Committee authorization], so this was worked out. Thiswas before | was there, | mean between times.

So | thought, well, why is she being persecuted now? Why does Jeanette want to get her? Gordon
Harrison and Harrison Williams are il very good friends. Asfar as| know, this girl and Gordon are
very good friends. What is mativating Jeanette Smith? Then she took it upon hersdlf to cal me and say,
"You know that girl Stewart Homme. Y ou've got to get rid of her, Stewart. She's utterly impossible. All
the other girls are complaining. She doesn't collaborate with them. She doesn't answer the phone. She
takes hours for lunch. She comesin late, and goes out early.” | said, " Jeanette,
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she'sthe best financid clerk weve ever had here. What else have you got againgt her? What isthe
point?' She sad, "Wadll, youll find out.”
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| was in the habit of tdling Marjorie everything like this. She was my eyes and ears and aways had
been a very faithful secretary, public servant, spy, whatever you wish, whatever one expects one's
secretary to do in terms of keeping one dert and informed. Marjorie was no fool and she always was
careful to be friendswith dl the powers. She had a great welcoming smile. The senators would come
through my office to go to the hearing room, and sheldd say, gleamingly, "Would you care for a cup of
coffee, Senator?' And they'd gleam back. She was beloved by al the men that camein and out, and of
course, in time sheld made friends with Jeanette Smith-after dl, the chairman'sfriend. So | told
Marjorie this latest development, and | said, "Can you find out what the hell thisisdl about.” Meaning,
please find out from Jeanette why she wants to do in this girl over me, I'm the staff director. In duetime,
Marjorie reported back that Jeanette had been told by somebody that Harrison Williams had been
seen embracing Stewart Homme in some corridor, and that was it. Whether that was true or not, of
course, no one knows, but that was anyway the pretext that Mrs. Smith was operating on.

Widl, | sad, thisisit, I'm going to cease being staff director in fact if | don't put an end to this. So, again
Williams
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caught mein the hal and said, "I'm getting terrible reports about this Stewart Home. What are you
going to do about it?" | said, "Well, | didn't think | should do anything until you'd talked with Gordon
Harrison." That sopped that for alittle while. | mean, held hired the girl because Gordon had asked him
to. Herewas | getting the rap. Well, Jeanette had covered the bases, too. | ran into Gordon at a party a
day or two later. He was drunk, and he said, "Y ou stinking bastard,” and lit into me as an enemy. What
was | doing to his friend Stewart Home? Oh, God, it was just hopeless. What could you do?
Somebody had gotten to Gordon and switched it around that | was persecuting her. Maybe Stewart
Home had told him that, | don't know. It was just getting to be hopdess. Y ou couldn't do anything, and
| was spending much more time on that kind of junk than on my job. Anyway, | refused to fire the girl
for along time.

Finaly, I got an order from Williams himsdlf and | had to act, because I'd just in effect said that I'm not
going to do something that Jeanette Smith tells me to do. Y ou want it done, you tell me. | mean, | had
to get to that stage with him. It was awful, I'd never talked to a senator like that. Never had to ded with
aman who couldn't be aman. Well, | got an order, and | told her, and she knew what it was al aboutt,
and | knew what it was dl about, and Gordon Harrison, everybody knew what it was al about. But |
was the goat and everybody -- Homme and Gordon Harrison--fingered me asthe
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source of dl this stuff, and that came back to Williams. His pa Gordon was furious a me, and therefore
Harrison Williams was. It was the most damnable intrigue I've ever gotten into, and for no reason. |
mean, there was nothing at issue, there was no public problem involved, there was nothing. Just a
power struggle, redly. Wdll, | said, the hell with this, thisis hopeless.

About thet time, | don't know what had been going on in the Williams office.. . . . wait aminute, Ben
Paombo was Hill there, but in one of hislast acts he came over and said, "Y ou have three choices, you
either have to quit, or become a consultant, or move out of this office and St somewhere else. Were
putting somebody esein your job." Hewas dying when he said it, and | knew it. | said, "Ok Ben, let
me think about it." This was about June, | think, of ‘73. | knew that this new law had been passed that if
you retired from the Senate by the end of * 73, you had an eleven percent permanent increase in your
pension. | wanted to round out my years anyway. | said, "Wdll, I'm not going to quit, and I'm not going
to become a consultant. I'll be promoted laterdly.” So | ended up in the Plaza [ Senate annex] on the
sxth floor, with adesk and a phone and absolutely nothing to do. Another guy took my job. He didn't
want it, was terrified of it, and got out of it as soon as he could.

It was a bad six months. Oh, | made work for myself. | kept mysdlf busy, but on the 31st of December
| retired. It was an awful
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thing to have happen after anice career, to just dwindle away like that. | was very down for along
time. It was just an awful thing to end up that way. And there was no way | could fight it, you see.
There was nobody who was going to back me. And the worst thing of dl, in the process | discovered
that Marjorie, having figured out | was a doomed man, had switched alegiances and become a spy for
Jeanette, and was reporting everything | told her. This had been going on consderably earlier than this
Homme &ffair, so everything | had told Marjorie since the beginning of the year probably had gone right
to Jeanette. Oh, my God, you're doomed when you're in that position. Theré sno way out. | couldn't
proveit, but | knew it. Awful, just awful.

RITCHIE: How do you figure someone like Harrison Williams?

MCCLURE: Weskest, most indecisive, charming man. | do not resent what happened to the degree
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of didiking Harrison Williams. On the contrary, | like him very much. He' sa sweet man. | don't think
he ever willfully hurt anyone, though he alowed many to be hurt in his name--too many, too many, too
many--which is aterrible fault, and it's caused by weskness and willessness, and submisson to some
other power, namely in this case his mistress and later hiswife. | don't know the secrets of his heart, but
| do know that his behavior isthat of awesk, indecisve man. He should never have been chairman of
anything. He was afine senator with just one vote
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and no responsibility over anybody ese. Wdll, | think | told you in an earlier sesson how Andy
Biemiller told him what the Labor agendawas and how Williams said, "Wdl, Stewart, you heard the
word," or whatever. Good God!

RITCHIE: Wha impact did Williams have on the committee as chairman? Y ou mentioned about the
Kennedy subcommittee, were there other problems of the committee functioning with aweak
chairman?

MCCLURE: It didn't gppear while | was there, but | think it did later, that the chairmen of the
subcommittees, redlizing there was no firm hand, smply went off on their own. At one point--1 had to
stop it--they were even trying to print subcommittee reports on legidation, before they'd been reported
from the full committee; the subcommittee would write areport. Well, that was stopped. But that sort of
suff. They could get away with anything. The gaffs of the subcommittee just fdt they were full
committees and entitled to do anything they wanted, spend anything they wanted. While it wouldn't
appear in ameeting--no one would criticize the chairman's performance- -everybody knew the damn
thing was not being run by anybody. It was just whoever had the guts to proceed in some direction
went ahead and did it, and never was called to account.

| have no ideawhat any other senator on the committee thought of dl this, | never asked them and they
never said and probably never will. But | could sense at times, & the raised eyebrow or the
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look to the Sde a another senator, "Are we going to get anywhere here?' or "What isthis?* Williams
was avery able guy if properly briefed. He sounded good on the floor, in the committee, too. You
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wrote notes to him and told him what was going to happen, and what should be said and done, here,
there, and the other thing. He did it, beautifully. He was a public performer of quite some expertise and
qudity. He spoke well; he remembered what he was supposed to say. He was no dummy by any
means. It was just in these Situations where a chairman hasto say "No" or "Go" or something, he never
did.

RITCHIE: Did you get asense that Senator Williams was taken up by wedth and satus?

MCCLURE: No, not particularly, no. No, | don't think so. He was a playboy. He loved to drink and
chase girls. His favorite subject of conversation was sports. | don't hgppen to care anything about
gports, and it was rather difficult when | would get in adiscusson in his office he would get raving about
some basketbd | player and | never heard of him. | managed to just Stay quiet. But he was nuts about
gports: football games, basebal games, everything, followed them dl avidly--much more than he
followed public affars. For him, life was fun, sport, drinking, carousing, girls. And being ayoung, in
effect unmarried senator, he had his opportunity to party al over the place dl the time. Wdll, Jeanette
cut him back, of course, and circumscribed his activities to her
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interests. No, | don't think he had any ambitions for power or wedth or the high life or anything like
that. He may have wanted more money, | suppose everybody does, but senators were beginning to be
fairly well paid by the end of the *60s.

Poor guy, | redly fed for him. He seemsto keep up aterific front. Everybody who runsinto him finds
him solid, and "were il fighting,” and "we're going to the Supreme Court.” His spirit isvery
strong--well, he's right of course. In thisinstance he has good reason to be strong. He was railroaded
and the Senate wouldn't believe it, and the courts don't believe it, but time and history will prove he was
trapped. Sure he went dlong, he's aweak guy, and it must have been quite gppeding, some of the
offers made him. But he didn't do anything. He never got anickd. He didn't take any bribe, there
wasnt any there. The fact is, theré's no crime been committed, honestly, nothing. Thisis sad to me,
even though | have an awfully difficult time praising him as a senator--1 don't--but asaman | think he's
afine guy and adarling friend, and | just don't like this sort of thing to be done to anybody. | think it's
very dangerous when they start doing it to members of Congress. Well, | think we've pretty much
wrapped up, unless you have some other questions.
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RITCHIE: | have afew generd questions. Looking back over your whole career in the Senate, from
1949 to the end of 1973, how would you say that the indtitution of the Senate changed during the
period you were here?

MCCLURE: Theinditution. What do you mean by that?
RITCHIE: Wdll, the Senate asawhole. Wasit the same in 1973?
MCCLURE: No, of course not.

RITCHIE: What were the most noticeable differences?

MCCLURE: Wdl, | think firgt of dl it changes every year. Not only the personnd changes, people
are eected or defeated or resign or die and so on, theré's anew crop of senators. And staff changes
are compatible with that. There's been agenera decline in the age of senators, when they're eected,
that is. They comein younger and younger and younger. The old system of being a county officid and a
date legidator and a House member and then a senator, maybe a governor on the way, was the training
of mogt senators in the past, and they were seasoned politicians and seasoned legidators, and quite old,
in their fifties and early sxties when they became senators. | think in the past that was true. Nowadays,
and increasingly since television came dong, and anew form of campaigning, senators can be eected
by their looks or by the exposure they have to the public on televison, and by virtue of their renown in
some other fidd than
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legidating or serving the public, such as movie actors and astronauts, and so forth, who know nothing
about the Senate and public policy. Of course, thereis a great leavening in that sense, many different
kinds of backgrounds gppear in the Senate. They're not dl lawyers, they're not dl practicing politicians.
A lot of them never held office before. They're redlly green, new boys, and take quite atime to find out
where they are. So what isthislegidative body: it's the men in it, the people who work for it, and the
people who are dected to it. So the change in the persondlity, the personne of the Senate, determines
the change in the Senate, it scemsto me.

Now there have been some ingtitutional changes, of course. Attempts to cut down on the number of
committess, to cut down the tremendous burdens on each member--I think Javits once told me he was
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on sixteen subcommittees, three of which were dways meeting a the same time. They cut down on
that. So there's been that kind of change. The Committee on Ethics has been established. They've
pretty much held to the badic fifteen or Sxteen sanding committees, and changed the jurisdictiond limits
of many committees and readjusted fields of interest and concern. So many of them now are very
broad: the environment involves everything and ten committees can legitimately say they havearolein
it, asthey do in the House.
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What es2? | gather, though | haven't been subject to it, that the rules on the floor have been grestly
changed so far as Saff people are concerned. In our time you could wander on the floor no matter what
was going on, it down, listen to the debate, and nobody criticized you. Now, | believe, you haveto
have ahill from your committee up or your senator has to be on the floor, there hasto be some red
reason for you to be there. This was Senator [Robert] Byrd's innovation, and | supposeit's quite
proper because | gather with the growth in staff that a great many young guys who had nothing else to
do would just crowd the back of the chamber and talk with each other and drive senators crazy. | think
he had to do it. In our time nobody opened his trap. If you were on the floor you may have whispered
to your companion, but that was al. And you sat down in those deep lesther sofas and were as
inconspicuous as possible. That'sthe way | learned how the place ran was to spend the first Sx months
of my work here Stting on the couch ligening to the debate, learning dl the rules. | suppose they can go
over now and st in the gdlery and get the same education, not quite the same but it's probably pretty

equd.

Will, of course, the whole security invasion so to spesk, the attempt to protect the membership from
bombs and assassins and so forth is al new and has given the police a much bigger role, and dtered
peopl€e's perceptions about what being a senator is. Areyou
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atarget of some murderer? And the sheer increase in saff, 1've forgotten what the numbers are. Six
thousand isit now?

RITCHIE: Closer to seven thousand.
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MCCLURE: Incredible. You can't create a metropolis out of what has been a small barnyard without
having thousands of events take place that wouldn't happen otherwise. So many people ssumbling over
each other, lining up for lunch, filling the rooms, committee rooms, and everything ese. | waked by the
Labor Committee one day ayear ago in the afternoon; they were having a saff meeting. There were
twenty-five guys and girls gitting around atable. A gaff meeting! 1t was a mob. Thereis an enormous
amount of make-work by the staff now, in order to judtify its existence, think up new amendments and
new laws and keep their senators busy, busy, busy, so they can judtify their own jobs. Y ou just can't
help it, but that's certainly a big change.

There was an intimacy when | first came here; it was avery quiet place. Y ou knew everybody. You
could call anybody up and he knew who you were, even if you didn't know him persondly. Y ou could
do business quickly with afew people around the Hill who had some power. It's gotten out of hand in
many ways, | think. Now another building, and longer subway, and more guards, more people to fill the
rooms--which, of course, as you know, are spread al over the Hill in these buildings here. | don't think
the qudity of legidation has

page 277

improved any. In fact, the legidative process has become almost hopeless in some cases, with the
budget structure and the struggle to get any gppropriations. It's become an unwiddy inditution. It was
aways designed to not do anything, to prevent rash action, but boy, | think it's just become amost
unmoveable in some respects.

RITCHIE: We have another long series of reform proposdls, this time former Senators Abe Ribicoff
and James Pearson have been appointed to a specia pane to study the Senate and propose reforms,
and that's going to be coming up before the Rules Committee. Over your years here was there anything
about the legidative process that you found particularly frustrating? And if you had the opportunity to
indtitute reforms was there anything that you would have recommended that they change?

MCCLURE: | redly can't think of anything particularly. Again it came down to people. Mogt of our
frustrations with the Labor Committee occurred in the House Committee, which was run by Graham
Barden for many years. As| pointed out earlier, we would pass marvelous legidation that would diein
the House. Y ou would go home at the end of the year having killed yourself and nothing would become
law. But when that changed, when Mr. Barden went on to wherever he went, and Adam Powell
became chairman, and then Carl Perkins, the committees worked together and things passed and
became law. So it wasn't ingtitutiona obstacles so much as persons and their views.
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No, | wouldn't change seniority, | would not prevent filibusters. All the things that outsde liberals
frequently think are horrible have their reasons and there's nothing better, there's no subgtitute that's any
good. Electing chairmen of committeesis a disaster--everything is politicized then. At least seniority isa
neutrd law, which everybody observes and you proceed with that in mind. And filibusters, aswe dl
know, are used by everybody from liberasto radicas to conservatives. I'm glad that they exidt. It'sa
nuisance, it's offensve many times, and it's certainly annoying if you're trying to buck it, but weve been
involved in liberd filibugters, too. So those typicd criticisms you hear leveled, | don't agree with. | think
basicdly the inditution runs asit should, and it depends to an enormous degree on who are the
senators. | think I'll have to stop there, | can't think of any rule changes of any importance.

RITCHIE: One other question: dl those years you spent as a member of the staff and aso as a Saff
director, observing other staff members, what redly are the best qualities for a person to work asa
member of the Senate taff? What were the type that you looked for, and what really worksin a place
like this?

MCCLURE: On the committee g&ff, where were dealing with particular issues, you've got to have a
man who knowswhat it's al about, an expert, someone who's demonstrated his ability and worked

page 279

a his professon or trade long enough to quaify as a person who can be aprofessond staff member,
and who can answer questions when asked by members about the subject at hand and the laws
applying thereto, and the meaning of amendments that are being proposed, and changes, and so forth.
Without that they can be the nicest guy in the world and friends with everybody, but they've got to
know what they're talking aboui.

Beyond that, the second most important thing is to understand your leader, your chairman, your
senator, what his needs are, what hisinterests are, what he can go with, what he cannot. There's
nothing more stupid than to propose something to some senator which is going to be anathemato him,
or murder him in his state. Nobody lasts very long who does that. But that's not easy to know. Y ou
have to study your chairman, your senator, know his state, know his history. That's the second mgjor
qudification.
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The third is one that applies, | suppose, in any job involving people. Y ou've got to get dong, respect
the other persons needs and interedts, try to figure out how to collaborate with them in the common
interest. The least dedirable is the backbiting, backstabbing, ambitious climber who triesto do in his

fellows and succeeds in rising to the top of the hegp by that method. There are
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aways some around and they are the poison in the systlem. Sometimes they're very hard to get rid of,
because they learn how to survivein the jungle.

There are plenty of other qualities, of course. It's good to be good with words up here. It's good to
know how to write well, or a least intelligently, to explain your ideas and your position, and to do it in
the name of a senator, if you're writing a speech, which everybody ends up doing somehow, sometime,
and writing reports that mean something, thet tel what the bill is about. That'sa kill, dl the
communicative skills are good to have, but writing is especidly good, especidly useful.

What dse? A willingnessto work dl night at some time in the year without putting up a fuss, because
sometime in the year you won't do any work--at least that used to be the way it was. We had
tremendous pushes where we just went day and night, and then it would stop. Well, you have to be
able to do that and have awife who will put up with it, once in awhile anyway. And it used to be that
certainly you weren't interested in money. Now | think it's quite different: they're probably overpaid.
But for along time thiswas no place to work if you wanted to make money.

Then, if you have a sense of theatre and enjoy the incredible number of scenesthat are available to you
a any day, thisis an absolutely fabulous place to enjoy yoursdf, in your own committee or
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in other committees, or on the floor. It | sagresat scene, agreat show, and | loved every minute of it--in
fact, even the parts | didn't love. In the long run, it was awonderful place to work.
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End of Interview #8
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